

Università degli studi di Cagliari

### DOTTORATO DI RICERCA IN MATEMATICA E CALCOLO SCIENTIFICO

Ciclo XXVI

### Global normal forms and global properties in function spaces for second order Shubin type operators

Settore scientifico disciplinare di afferenza: Analisi matematica - MAT/05

Presentata da Coordinatore Dottorato Relatore Giorgia Tranquilli Prof. Giuseppe Rodriguez Prof. Todor V. Gramchev

Esame finale anno accademico 2012 - 2013

## Abstract

We investigate the reduction to global normal forms of second order Shubin (or  $\Gamma$ ) type differential operators P(x,D) in functional spaces on  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . We describe the isomorphism properties of normal form transformations, introduced by L. Hörmander for the study of affine symplectic transformations acting on pseudodifferential operators, in spaces like the Schwartz class, the weighted Shubin-Sobolev spaces and the Gelfand-Shilov spaces. We prove that the operator P(x,D) and the normal form  $P_{NF}(x,D)$  have the same regularity/solvability and spectral properties. We also study the stability of global properties of the normal forms under perturbations by zero order Shubin type pseudodifferential operators and, more generally, by operators acting on  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and admitting discrete representations. Finally, we study Cauchy problems on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  globally in time for second order hyperbolic equations  $\partial_t^2 + P(x,D) + R(x,D)$ , where P(x,D) is a second or der self-adjoint globally elliptic Shubin pseudodifferential operator and R(x,D) is a first order pseudodifferential operator.

# Declaration

I declare that to the best of my knowledge the contents of this thesis are original and my work except where indicated otherwise.

# Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my supervisor Prof. Todor Gramchev for introducing me to mathematical research and for his continuous encouragement.

I would like to thank, also, Prof. C. Garetto for accepting me as a visiting student at Loughborough University, for her help and encouragement in conducting research and for helping me to improve my English.

I am also grateful to Profs. S. Coriasco, S. Pilipović, L. Rodino, and M. Ruzhansky for useful discussions and comments.

I owe a very special thanks to all my friends, in particular Francesca, Marcella, Marco, Mauro e Valentina for having been there when I needed it and for understanding me without any explanation.

I would like to thank my family, my parents and my sister, for their lifelong support and encouragement.

# Introduction

The main goal of the Ph.D. thesis is to address the issue of reduction to global normal forms of operators of the type

$$-\Delta + \langle \mathscr{A}(x), D_x \rangle + \mathscr{B}(x), \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^n,$$

where  $\mathscr{A}(x) = \{\mathscr{A}_{j,\ell}(x)\}_{j,\ell=1}^{n}$  (respectively,  $\mathscr{B}(x) = \{\mathscr{B}_{j,\ell}(x)\}_{j,\ell=1}^{n}$ ) is a matrix with entries  $\mathscr{A}_{j,\ell}(x)$  (respectively,  $\mathscr{B}_{j,\ell}(x)$ ) being real or complex polynomials of degree k (respectively, 2k). In particular, if k = 1, we recapture the second order Shubin type differential operators of the type

$$P(x,D) = -\Delta + < Ax, D_x > + < Bx, x > + < M, D_x > + < N, x > + r, x \in \mathbb{R}^n,$$

where A, B are real or complex matrices,  $M, N \in \mathbb{C}^n, r \in \mathbb{C}, \langle \xi, \eta \rangle = \sum_{j=1}^n \xi_j \eta_j$ , via conjugation with a normal form transformation (NFT) E

$$E^{-1} \circ P(x, D) \circ E = P_{NF}(x, D),$$

In the case of symmetric Shubin type operators we classify the NFT given by unitary maps  $E: L^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \mapsto L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , defined as composition of multiplication with  $e^{i(\langle Qx,x\rangle + \langle \alpha,x\rangle)}$  (where  $Q \in M_n(\mathbb{R})$ ,  $Q^t = Q$ ,  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}^n$ ), translations  $T_\beta u(x) = u(x + \beta)$ , the action of the orthogonal group  $SO(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and global Fourier integral operators with quadratic phase function  $\phi(x, \eta)$  generating linear symplectic transformation in  $\mathbb{R}^{2n}$ 

$$Jv(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} e^{i\phi(x,\xi) - iy\xi} v(y) dy \, \overline{d}\xi.$$

Such types of global maps have been introduced by Hörmander in the context of the theory of the pseudodifferential operators on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  (cf. [37], Chapter 18, pp. 157-159), see also [23]. In order to demonstrate that the original operator P(x,D) and the normal form operator  $P_{NF}(x,D)$  have the same regularity/solvability and spectral properties, we have to investigate isomorphism properties of such type of NFT between function spaces on  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , like the Schwartz class  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , the weighted Shubin-Sobolev spaces  $Q^s(\mathbb{R}^n)$ ,  $s \in \mathbb{R}^n$ , the Gelfand-Shilov spaces  $S_v^{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ ,  $\mu, \nu > 0$ ,  $\mu + \nu \geq 1$ . We are also interested in the study of the stability of the properties of the normal forms under perturbations

$$P(x,D) + b(x,D)$$

with zero order  $\text{Shubin}(\Gamma)$  pseudodifferential operators and we investigate the corresponding reduction

$$E^{-1} \circ b(x, D) \circ E = b_{NF}(x, D).$$

We mention as another source of motivation an approach, based on using different type of global normal forms of evolution PDEs on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  for deriving global estimates in weighted spaces on  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , proposed by M. Ruzhansky and M. Sugimoto [54]. We introduce discrete representations for the action of Shubin type pseudo.differential operators based on eigenfunction expansions associated to self-adjoint Shubin differential operators. We mention that in a recent book Ruzhansky and Turunen [55] have proposed a series of fundamental new results on pseudodifferential operators on compact Lie groups and homogeneous spaces based on discrete representations, see also [17], [56] and the references therein.

We also investigate and classify completely self-adjoint anisotropic  $\Gamma$  el-

liptic operators, which are given for n = 1 by

$$D_x^2 + (\sum_{j=0}^k a_j x^{k-j}) D_x + \sum_{\ell=0}^{2k} b_\ell x^{2k-j}, \quad k \ge 2, x \in \mathbb{R},$$

with NFT containing term of the type  $e^{iax^{k+1}}$ ,  $a \in \mathbb{R}$  if  $a_0 \in \mathbb{R}$ . However, in contrast to the case of the Shubin type operators, we are not able to consider perturbation with p.d.o. since one has to study FIO with phase functions having at least cubic growth in x ( $e^{ix^{k+1}}$ ,  $k \ge 2$ ).

Clearly we are also inspired, at least indirectly, by ideas coming from the celebrated Poincaré normal form theory, the Hamiltonian dynamics, the integrability problems, semi-classical analysis. In fact, if we write the symbol of the perturbation of the modified multidimensional harmonic oscillator

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} \omega_j(\xi_j^2 + x_j^2) + p(x,\xi)$$

and consider the function above locally near the origin (0,0), we find in the literature an impressive list of fundamental results, we cite [11], [48], [2], [47] and the references therein. However, we are interested more in global properties in the context of the theory of Shubin type p.d.o. on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  which lead to different notion of normal form.

Next, we consider perturbations of some non self-adjoint  $\Gamma$ -elliptic operators modeled on 1D complex harmonic oscillators  $D_x^2 + \omega x^2$ ,  $\omega \in \mathbb{C}$ ,  $\Re \omega > 0$ ,  $\Im \omega \neq 0$ . Classes of such operators have been studied in the framework of the theory of the spectral properties of non self-adjoint operator, for more details (see [14],[15], [43]). Here we need to use NFT containing non unitary maps of the type  $e^{i(\langle Qx,x\rangle+i\langle\alpha,x\rangle)}$  where  $\Im Q \neq 0$  or  $\Im \alpha \neq 0$ . Such maps are not defined on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and if  $\Im Q = 0$  and  $\Im \alpha \neq 0$ , the maps preserve the Gelfand-Shilov spaces  $S^{\mu}_{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  for  $1/2 \leq \mu < 1$  while for  $\Im Q \neq 0$  they do not act even on  $S^{1/2}_{1/2}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  but on some scales of Banach spaces in  $S^{1/2}_{1/2}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . We mention that such maps belong to Bargmann-Fock type spaces of entire functions, which play an important role in the realm of the time-frequency analysis and Toeplitz operators, cf. see the recent work of Gröchenig and Toft [31] and Toft [63], and the references therein. The main novelty of Chapter 3 is the detailed study of reduction to normal forms of multidimensional complex anisotropic  $\Gamma$  differential operators under suitable symmetry and separation of variables type conditions. Finally, we investigate perturbations with Shubin operators having symbols in  $S_{1/2}^{1/2}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . We mention that pseudodifferential operators with  $S_{1/2}^{1/2}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  type symbols have been studied in different context cf. [63] and [64]. As a consequence of our investigations we are able to present new results on spectral properties of P(x, D).

We also investigate operators with real non negative principal symbol and non empty (Shubin type) characteristic set

$$\Sigma_P = \{(x,\xi) \in \mathbb{R}^{2n} \setminus 0; \ p_2(x,\xi) := \|\xi\|^2 + \langle Ax,\xi \rangle + \langle Bx,x \rangle = 0\} \neq \emptyset, \ \|\xi\|^2 = \langle \xi,\xi \rangle.$$

We have two cases: first, the matrix A is symmetric. In that case we are able to reduce P via unitary NFT to

$$P_{NF} = -\Delta u + i < M, D_x > +(\rho + i\sigma)x_1 + i\tau x_2, \quad M \in \mathbb{R}^n, \rho, \sigma, \tau \in R.$$

In the case  $\tau = 0$ , we obtain Airy type normal form and we are able to describe completely the hypoellipticity in  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . We observe that the symbol of the Airy normal form is not hypoelliptic symbol if  $n \ge 2$ . It turns out that for  $n \ge 2$  the usual functional frame of Shubin spaces  $Q^s(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is not good for the study of  $P_{NF}$ . We outline the notion of new type of spaces suitable for the Airy type normal form operators and we derive new anisotropic type subelliptic estimates in such spaces. In the case  $\tau \rho \neq 0$  we are not able to study the global regularity or solvability on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  as we encounter serious difficulties for deriving hypoellipticity-solvability results on  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , since the Fourier transform of the normal form becomes a polynomial perturbation of  $\partial_{\overline{z_1}}$  in  $\mathbb{C} \times \mathbb{R}^{n-2}$ ,  $z_1 = x_1 + ix_2$ .

The second case is when A admits nonzero skew–symmetric part. In that case, we are able, under suitable sharp conditions, to reduce to normal forms given by multidimensional twisted Laplacian type operators

$$-\Delta + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left( \tau_j (x_{2j} D_{x_{2j-1}} - x_{2j-1} D_{x_{2j}}) + \frac{\tau_j^2}{4} (x_{2j-1}^2 + x_{2j}^2) \right) + r, \quad \tau_j \in \mathbb{R}, r \in \mathbb{R}.$$

and to show new results on regularity and solvability, generalizing previous results of Dasgupta, Wong [13], Gramchev, Pilipovic and Rodino [23].

Finally, we investigate the Cauchy problem for the second order hyperbolic operator  $D_t^2 + P(x, D_x) + R(x, D)$  globally on  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , where P is a self-adjoint globally elliptic or twisted Laplacian type Shubin operator and R is a first order pseudodifferential operator. We derive new results on global in time well posedness of the Cauchy problem in functional frame containing the Schwartz class, the weighted Shubin spaces and the Gelfand–Shilov spaces.

The thesis is organized as follows: Chapter 1 is dedicated to some preliminaries on  $\Gamma$  p.d.o. It follows the exposition in the book of Nicola and Rodino [50].

Chapter 2 is concerned with second order self-adjoint differential operators. We recall that Sjöstrand [59] studied in details second order differential operators of Shubin type (see also [38] and [4] and the references therein). We start by proposing some refinements, namely, we derive a necessary and sufficient condition for the reduction of P(x,D) to harmonic oscillators by conjugations defined by multiplication with quadratic oscillation type maps and orthogonal transformations. More precisely, we show that there are two different patterns of behaviour, namely, the classification depends on whether the matrix  $A = \{a_{jk}\}_{j,k=1}^{n}$  is symmetric, or stated in an equivalent way, whether the linear differential form

$$\langle Ax, dx \rangle = \sum_{j,k} a_{jk} x_j dx_k$$
 is closed.

Set  $A = A_{symm} + A_{skew}$ ,  $A_{symm} = A_{symm}^T$ ,  $A_{skew} = -A_{skew}^T$ . If  $A_{skew} = 0$  we show that all globally elliptic operator are reduced to

$$H_{\boldsymbol{\omega}} = -\Delta + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \omega_j^2 x_j^2 + r$$
, for some  $\omega_j > 0, \ j = 1, \dots, n, \ r \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

using the NFT of the type

$$Uv(x) = e^{-i\frac{1}{4}(\langle Qx, x \rangle + \langle \alpha, x \rangle)}v(S_0x).$$

and U is an automorphism of each of the following spaces  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ ,  $Q^s(\mathbb{R}^n)$ ,  $s \in \mathbb{R}, S^{\mu}_{\nu}(\mathbb{R}^n), \mu \geq \nu$ . Moreover, U preserves the Shubin type operators, namely  $b(x, D) \in OP\Gamma^m$  iff  $U^* \circ b(x, D) \circ U \in OP\Gamma^m$ .

We also propose, motivated by the paper of Greendfield and Wallach on global hypoellipticity of commuting differential operators on compact Riemannian manifold cf [30], new discrete representation of the action of b(x,D)provided b(x,D) commutes with P and the eigenvalues of P are simple, which is equivalent to the non resonance condition

 $\omega_1, \ldots, \omega_n$  are linearly independent over  $\mathbb{Q}$ .

First, we derive easily the complete description of the centralizer P(x,D) in the algebra of the  $\Gamma$  pseudodifferential operators. However, replacing the commutativity with less restrictive and more natural condition in the the pseudodifferential operator theory

$$[P(x,D),b(x,D)] = R(x,D) \in OP\Gamma^{-\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n),$$

 $OP\Gamma^{-\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  being the space of regularizing  $\Gamma$  operators, small divisors type problems arise and we have to impose Diophantine conditions on  $\boldsymbol{\omega} = (\boldsymbol{\omega}_1, \dots, \boldsymbol{\omega}_n)$ ,

namely, there exist  $C > 0, \ \tau \ge 0$ , such that

$$|\langle oldsymbol{\omega}, oldsymbol{lpha}
angle| \geq rac{C}{|oldsymbol{lpha}|^{ au}}, \quad oldsymbol{lpha} \in \mathbb{Z}^n ackslash 0,$$

in order to demonstrate the decomposition

$$b(x,D) = b_{comm,P}(x,D) + b_{\infty}(x,D), \text{ where } [P, b_{comm,P}] = 0, \ b_{\infty}(x,D) \in OP\Gamma^{-\infty}.$$

In the third chapter, we address the reduction to normal form for complex second order Shubin type operators. We prove, using complex WKB methods and the theory of complex ordinary differential equations, that one can find a NFT U with quadratic exponential growth reducing P to the complex harmonic oscillator

$$U^{-1} \circ P \circ U \circ e = D_x^2 + \omega x^2 + r, \quad \omega \in \mathbb{C}, \Im \omega \neq 0.$$

We describe completely the spectral properties of P. In particular, we reduce our operator to three cases

$$L_{+} = D_x^2 + i\varepsilon x D_x + (1+i\delta)x^2 + ipD_x + qx + \tau, \qquad (1)$$

$$L_{-} = D_x^2 + i\varepsilon x D_x + (-1 + i\delta)x^2 + ipD_x + qx + \tau, \qquad (2)$$

$$L_0 = D_x^2 + i\varepsilon x D_x + i\delta x^2 + ipD_x + qx + \tau, \qquad (3)$$

where  $\varepsilon, \delta \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $q, \tau \in \mathbb{C}$ . Next, we investigate in details normal forms of multidimensional anisotropic operators. Finally, perturbations with  $S_{1/2}^{1/2}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  Shubin type operators are discussed. As it concerns the one-dimensional anisotropic Shubin operators, we mention a paper of Nicola and Rodino [51] where the authors study global hypoellipticity in  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R})$ . We stress the fact that our proofs are based on the reduced to the normal form operators

$$L_{2k,\rho} = D_x^2 + x^{2k} + \sum_{j=0}^{2k-3} \rho_j x^{2k-3-j}.$$
 (4)

where  $\boldsymbol{\rho} \in \mathbb{R}^{2k-2}$ .

In Chapter 4, we study the normal form of classes of Shubin type degenerate operators with non negative principal symbol. We stress that our classes of degenerate operators is different from those studied in [34], [49]. Two novelties appear: first, for the Airy type normal from operators we derive global hypoellipticity in  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and anisotropic subelliptic type estimates in new spaces. Our proofs borrow ideas from the approach of F. Treves [65] for showing local subelliptic estimates for first order p.d.o. of principal type. Second novelty occurs in the global hypoellipticity result for twisted Laplacian type operators: discrete phenomena appear for the zero order term, in contrast with the hypoellipticity results in [49], where the estimates depend

only on the sub-principal symbol.

We have again two cases: when  $A_{skew} = 0$  and  $dim(\Sigma_P) \ge 1$  we find the Airy type operator and the  $\overline{\partial}$  operator

$$P_{NF} = -\Delta + i \langle M, D_x \rangle + \rho x_1 + i \sigma x_1 + i \tau x_2.$$

In  $\tau = 0$  we obtain the multidimensional Airy type operator, while if  $\tau \rho \neq 0$ then we have that the Fourier transform of  $P_{NF}$  is written as polynomial perturbation of  $\overline{\partial}$  type operator. We prove complete classification of the Airy type normal form case.

In the second case  $A_{skew} \neq 0$  we reduce to normal forms generalizations of twisted Laplacian type operators and derive a complete description of the spectral properties and the global hypoellipticity and solvability in  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and the Gelfand–Shilov spaces  $S^{\mu}_{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^n), \ \mu \geq 1/2$ .

In the last chapter we study the well-posedness for a second order of

Cauchy problem

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t^2 u + P(x, D)u + R(x, D)u = 0, \quad t \ge 0, \ x \in \mathbb{R}^n, \\ u(0, x) = u_0 \in S'(\mathbb{R}^n), \quad u_t(0, x) = u_1 \in S'(\mathbb{R}^n). \end{cases}$$

We prove the well posedness in  $C^{\infty}([0,\infty[:\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)), C^{\infty}([0,\infty[:Q^s(\mathbb{R}^n)), C^{\infty}([0,\infty[:Q^s(\mathbb{R}^n)), C^{\infty}([0,\infty[:Q^s(\mathbb{R}^n)), C^{\infty}([0,\infty[:Q^s(\mathbb{R}^n)))))))$ . One of the fundamental ingredients of the proofs is the systematic use of discrete Fourier analysis defined by the eigenfunction expansions for self-adjoint globally elliptic differential operators in functional spaces, following the approach used by Gramchev, Pilipovic and Rodino [23].

# Contents

A	i	íii				
D		$\mathbf{v}$				
A	Acknowledgements					
In	trod	uction	xv	'ii		
1	Bas	ic noti	ons	<b>5</b>		
	1.1	Distri	bution and Function spaces	5		
		1.1.1	The spaces $\mathscr{S}$ and $\mathscr{S}'$	5		
		1.1.2	The spaces $\mathscr{D}$ and $\mathscr{D}'$	9		
		1.1.3	Sobolev spaces $H^s$	10		
		1.1.4	Gelfand-Shilov spaces $S_{\nu}^{\mu}$	12		
	1.2	Symbo	ols and pseudodifferential operators	16		
		1.2.1	Symbol classes	16		
		1.2.2	Pseudodifferential operators	19		
	1.3	Γ- diff	erential operators	26		
		1.3.1	$\Gamma$ - pseudodifferential operators	26		
	1.4	Spectr	al Theory	36		
		1.4.1	Unbounded Operators in Hilbert spaces	36		

		1.4.2 Spectrum of hypoelliptic symmetric operator	39				
		1.4.3 Weyl Asymptotics	40				
2	Normal forms and conjugations for second order self-adjoint						
	globally elliptic operators						
	2.1	Preliminaries on symmetric Shubin type second order operators	46				
	2.2	Reduction to a global normal form	47				
		2.2.1 Proof of the NF result	51				
	2.3	Normal form transformations in Gelfand-Shilov spaces	53				
	2.4	NFT representation of pseudodifferential operators	59				
	2.5	Discrete representation of pseudodifferential operators	63				
	2.6	Discrete representation of centralizers of operators via eigen-					
		function expansions	66				
	2.7	Representation of Shubin Operators	68				
	2.8	Anisotropic form of the 1D harmonic oscillator	70				
3	NF for classes of second order non self-adjoint Shubin oper-						
	ators 7						
	3.1	NF of perturbations of 1D complex harmonic oscillators	80				
		3.1.1 Proof of the complex harmonic oscillator NF	85				
	3.2	Normal forms of $1D$ anisotropic non self-adjoint operators $\therefore$	90				
		3.2.1 Proof of the assertions on the spectral properties	93				
	3.3	NF and spectral properties of multidimensional Shubin operators	96				
	3.4	Perturbation with $S_{1/2}^{1/2}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ smoothing operator $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	100				
4	Normal forms and global hypoellipticity for degenerate Shu-						
	bin operator 103						
	4.1	Generalized Airy and Fourier $\bar{\partial}$ type normal form $\ldots \ldots 1$	106				
	4.2	Weighted spaces	10				

	4.3	Multidimensional Airy operator	1	
		4.3.1 The one dimensional case: Airy operator	4	
	4.4	On the global $\overline{\partial}$ type normal form	7	
	4.5	Splitting to globally elliptic and Airy or $\bar\partial$ type normal forms . 119	9	
	4.6	Multidimensional twisted Laplacian type normal form 12	3	
	4.7	Normal form transformation	9	
5	Арр	Applications to global Cauchy problems 133		
	5.1	Previous results	5	
	5.2	Equivalent norms	7	
	5.3	Well-posedness in $Q^s$	0	
	5.4	Well-posedness in $S^{\mu}_{\mu}$	6	
	5.5	The twisted Laplacian case	8	

# Chapter 1

# **Basic** notions

In the first section of this chapter we recall some definitions and properties of function and distribution spaces on  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , which we shall use in this thesis (see the book of Rodino [52]for details). In the second one we give an introduction to the theory of pseudodifferential operators and its symbolic calculus (see the book of Rodino e Nicola 2010 [50]). The last section is devoted to some notions of the spectral theory.

### 1.1 Distribution and Function spaces

### 1.1.1 The spaces $\mathscr{S}$ and $\mathscr{S}'$

In this section, we introduce the Schwartz space  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and its dual spaces the class of temperate(tempered) distribution  $\mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

**Definition 1.** The Schwartz class  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  is defined as the space of all smooth functions in  $\mathbb{R}^d$  such that

$$\sup_{x\in\mathbb{R}^d}|x^{\boldsymbol{\beta}}\partial^{\boldsymbol{\alpha}}f(x)|<\infty,\quad for \ all \ \boldsymbol{\alpha},\boldsymbol{\beta}\in\mathbb{N}^d.$$

Before recalling some properties of the Schwartz space, we need to define the space  $\mathscr{P}$ , the space of  $C^{\infty}$  functions with polynomial growths at the infinity.

**Definition 2.** We define  $\mathscr{P}^0$ , as the set of all continuous functions  $\varphi$  such that

$$|\varphi(x)| \le C(1+|x|^2)^N$$
,

for some constants C and N. While we write  $\varphi \in \mathscr{P}$  if  $\varphi$  is a  $C^{\infty}$  function such that  $\partial^{\alpha} \varphi \in \mathscr{P}^{0}$ , for all  $\alpha \in \mathbb{Z}_{+}^{d}$ .

As explained by the following Lemma, (we refer the reader to Lemma 1.4 in [57] for more details),  $\mathscr{S}$  is closed under the operations of differentiation and multiplication by  $C^{\infty}$  functions with polynomial growths at the infinity.

Lemma 1. One has

i) For any  $\alpha \in \mathbb{Z}^d_+$  and  $\varphi \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . Then  $\partial^{\alpha} \varphi \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  with  $|\partial^{\alpha} \varphi|_k \leq |\varphi|_{k+|\alpha|},$ 

for all  $k \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ .

ii) For any  $\Psi \in \mathscr{P}$  there exist two sequence  $C_k$  and  $N_k$  such that If  $\varphi \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  then  $\varphi \Psi \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  with

$$|\varphi\psi|_k \leq C_k |\varphi|_{k+2N_k},$$

for all  $k \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ . In particular, if  $\psi|(x) = x^{\alpha}$  one has  $|x^{\alpha} \varphi|_k \leq 2^k (\alpha!) |\varphi|_{k+|\alpha|}$ .

With  $|u|_k$  we denote the inductive norm of the Schwartz class.

We point out that one motivation for the introduction of  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  lies in the fact that when dealing integrals of such function, all the difficult operations

will be valid thanks to the decay of Schwartz functions at infinity. For this reason we give the properties of this function class, (for more details see Theorem 1.6 in [57]).

**Proposition 1.** Let  $1 \le p < \infty$  and  $\varphi \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . One has  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^d) \subset \bigcap_p L^p(\mathbb{R}^d)$ with  $Norm_{L^p}(\varphi) \le (2\pi)^n |\varphi|_{2n}$ . Moreover

i) For any  $1 \le p < \infty$ ,  $u \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d)$  and  $\varphi \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . Then  $u\overline{\varphi} \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$ with

$$|(u,\varphi)| \leq (2\pi)^n Norm_{L^p}(u) |\varphi|_{2d}.$$

ii) For any measurable u such that  $u\overline{\varphi} \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$  for all  $\varphi \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ 

$$(u, \varphi) = 0$$
 for all  $\varphi \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^d) \Rightarrow u = 0$  a.e.

iii) If  $\varphi \to U(\varphi)$  is a semilinear form on  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  satisfying  $|U(\varphi)| \leq C ||\varphi||_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)}$ then there exists a unique  $u \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  such that  $U(\varphi) = (u, \varphi)$  for  $\varphi \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , and  $||u||_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)} \leq C$ .

It is well known that the Fourier transform

$$\mathscr{F}\varphi(\xi) = \hat{\varphi}(\xi) = \int e^{-i\langle x,\xi\rangle} f(x) \, dx, \quad dx = (2\pi)^{(-d/2)} dx$$

defines an isomorphism of  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  and an isometry of  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . The inverse Fourier transform is

$$\mathscr{F}^{-1}\varphi(x) = \int e^{i\langle x,\xi\rangle} \hat{f}(\xi) d\xi.$$

The following Theorem, (see Theorem 1.8 in [57] for more details), establishes some properties of the Fourier transform in the Schwartz class.

**Theorem 1.** For any  $\varphi \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , one has  $\hat{\varphi} \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . Moreover, the Fourier transform  $\hat{\varphi}$  of  $\varphi \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , satisfies

- i)  $\widehat{D^{\alpha}\varphi}(\xi) = \xi^{\alpha}\hat{\varphi}(\xi)$  and  $\widehat{x^{\alpha}\varphi}(\xi) = (-1)^{|\alpha|}D^{\alpha}\hat{\varphi}(\xi)$ , for any  $\alpha \in \mathbb{Z}_{+}^{d}$ .
- *ii)* (Parseval formula)  $(\hat{\varphi}, \hat{\psi}) = (2\pi)^n (\varphi, \psi)$ , for all  $\varphi \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ .

Now we are able to define the space of *temperate distributions*.

**Definition 3.** We say that u is a temperate distribution, and we write  $u \in \mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{R}^d)$  if u is a semilinear form  $\varphi \to (u, \varphi)$  on  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , with two constants  $C \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $N \in \mathbb{Z}_+$  such that

$$|(u, \varphi)| \leq C |\varphi|_N$$
 for  $\varphi \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ .

It is well known that every Lebesgue space  $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d)$  is a subspace of  $\mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . Thus, we may construct the extension of the Fourier transform to  $\mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{R}^d)$ .

**Theorem 2.** Let  $u \in \mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . Then the formulas

$$(\hat{u}, \boldsymbol{\varphi}) = (u, \hat{\boldsymbol{\varphi}}), \quad \text{for } \boldsymbol{\varphi} \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^d),$$

defines distributions  $\hat{u} \in \mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . Moreover if  $u \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  it implies  $\hat{u} \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ via Parseval formula:

$$(\hat{u}, \hat{v}) = (2\pi)^n (u, v), \text{ for } u, v \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d).$$

We may also extend to the temperate distributions space the operator of differentiation. Thus, if  $u \in \mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , the following formula

$$(D^{\alpha}u, \varphi) = (u, D^{\alpha}\varphi), \text{ for } \varphi \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^d)$$

defines a distribution  $D^{\alpha}u \in \mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , for any  $\alpha \in \mathbb{Z}_+^d$ .

**Remark 1.** We note that this operation extends the usual differentiation of functions. We remark the important fact that differentiation is always possible in the space of distributions. We can now always differentiate a function, even when it is not classically differentiable. Unfortunately, it has been proved that it is impossible to define in general the product of two distributions with the usual properties of products of functions. For example the operation of multiplication will be restrict to the following two situations:

- i) when u and  $\psi$  are functions;
- ii) when  $\psi \in \mathscr{P}$  and  $u \in \mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , the formula

$$(\psi u, \varphi) = (u, \overline{\psi} \varphi), \text{ for } \varphi \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^d)$$

defines a distribution  $\psi u \in \mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{R}^d)$ .

#### 1.1.2 The spaces $\mathscr{D}$ and $\mathscr{D}'$

As explained by the previous section to have a good theory of Fourier transformation, we need the control of growth at infinity of temperate distributions. However, if one gives up the Fourier transformations to keep only the operations of differentiation and multiplication by smooth functions, one can consider much wider classes of distributions. Before introducing the definition of this distribution class, we need to define the functional space of  $\mathscr{D}(\Omega)$ .

**Definition 4.** Let  $\Omega \subseteq \mathbb{R}^d$  be an open set of  $\mathbb{R}^d$ .  $C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$  denotes the linear subset consisting of those functions in  $C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  which have compact support in  $\Omega$ .

Now we are able to define the space  $\mathscr{D}'(\Omega)$ .

**Definition 5.** Let  $\Omega \subseteq \mathbb{R}^d$  be an open set of  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . One can define a distribution in  $\Omega$  as follows:  $u \in \mathscr{D}'(\Omega)$  if u is a linear form on  $C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$  continuous in the sense that for each compact set  $K \subset \Omega$ , there exist two constants  $C_k, N_k$  such that

 $|(u, \varphi)| \leq C_k |\varphi|_{N_K}$  for  $\varphi \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$  and  $supp \ \varphi \subset K$ ,

where the notation  $supp\varphi$  means the support of  $\varphi$ , and it is define as the intersection of all closed subsets in whose complement  $\varphi$  vanishes. The product  $\psi \varphi \in \mathscr{D}'(\Omega)$  is defined by the formula  $(\psi u, \varphi) = (u, \overline{\psi} \varphi)$  for any  $u \in \mathscr{D}'(\Omega)$  and  $\psi \in C^{\infty}(\Omega)$ .

**Remark 2.** The obvious inclusion  $\mathscr{D}(\mathbb{R}^d) \subset \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , is strict. For example the Gaussian  $e^{-|x|^2 \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^d)}$ ; but it is not in  $\mathscr{D}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ .

Finally, we recall the *Paley-Wiener-Schwartz* theorem, which shows that distributions with compact support can be recognized by their Fourier transform, (see for more details Theorem 1.13 in [57] or see [52])

#### 1.1.3 Sobolev spaces $H^s$

One property of the Fourier transform states that for a temperate distribution  $u, u \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  is equivalent to  $\hat{u} \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . Moreover, there is a correspondence between differentiation of u and multiplication of  $\hat{u}$  by a polynomial, there is also a correspondence between the smoothness of u and the growth of  $\hat{u}$  at infinity. This fact is used to define the *Sobolev spaces* which are more convenient than the classical  $C^k(\mathbb{R}^d)$ .

**Definition 6.** Let  $s \in \mathbb{R}$ , and  $u \in \mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . We will write  $u \in H^s(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , if  $\langle \xi \rangle^s \hat{u}(\xi) \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . In other words,  $u \in H^s(\mathbb{R}^d)$  if

$$\|u\|^2_{H^s(\mathbb{R}^d)} = \int \langle \xi 
angle^s |\hat{u}(\xi)|^2 \ \overline{d} \xi < \infty,$$

where  $\langle \xi \rangle = \sqrt{1 + |\xi|^2}$ .

We note that we have the following inclusions:  $H^s(\mathbb{R}^d) \subset H^t(\mathbb{R}^d)$  if  $s \ge t$ and  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^d) \subset H^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d) \subset H^{-\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d) \subset \mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , where  $H^{\infty} = \bigcap_s H^s$  and  $H^{-\infty} = \bigcup_s H^s$ . These inclusions are strict, for example it is not true that  $\mathscr{S} = H^{\infty}$ . In fact if one take  $u(x) = (1 + |x|^2)^{-d}$ ,  $u \in H^{\infty}$  but  $u \notin \mathscr{S}$ . As explained by the following Proposition (we refer the reader to Proposition 1.14 in [57]), the Sobolev spaces measure the same smoothness as the  $C^k(\mathbb{R}^d)$ up to a fixed shift of exponents.

**Proposition 2.** For all  $s \in \mathbb{R}$  one has

$$u \in H^{s+1}(\mathbb{R}^d) \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad u, D_{x_1}u, \dots, D_{x_d}u \in H^s(\mathbb{R}^d),$$

with the equality  $\|u\|_{H^{s+1}(\mathbb{R}^d)}^2 = \|u\|_{H^s(\mathbb{R}^d)}^2 + \sum_j \|D_{x_j}u\|_{H^s(\mathbb{R}^d)}^2$ . Moreover, for any  $k \in \mathbb{Z}_+ \cup \{\infty\},$ 

- *i*)  $u \in H^k(\mathbb{R}^d) \Leftrightarrow D^{\alpha}u \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , for all  $|\alpha| \le k$ .
- ii) If  $s > \frac{d}{2} + k$  and  $u \in H^k(\mathbb{R}^d) \Rightarrow D^{\alpha}u$  are bounded continuous functions for  $|\alpha| \le k$ .

Using the Riesz's representation theorem, the  $H^s$  distributions can also be characterized as the continuous semi-linear forms of  $H^{-s}$ . More precisely we have the following Proposition, (for more details see Proposition 1.15 [57]).

**Proposition 3.** If  $u \in H^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{d})$  and  $\varphi \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^{d})$ , then

$$|(u, \boldsymbol{\varphi})| \leq ||u||_{H^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{d})} ||\boldsymbol{\varphi}||_{H^{-s}(\mathbb{R}^{d})}$$

Conversely, if  $u \in \mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{R}^d)$  satisfies  $|(u, \varphi)| \leq C ||\varphi||_{H^{-s}(\mathbb{R}^d)}$  for some constant C and all  $\varphi \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , then  $u \in H^s(\mathbb{R}^d)$  with  $||u||_{H^s(\mathbb{R}^d)} \leq C$ .

When we study the linear partial differential equation with variable coefficients, using  $H^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{d})$  distributions, we will have to consider products of distributions with the coefficients of the equation. To measure the smoothness of these products, we first compute the Fourier transforms, as explained by the following Lemma, (we refer the reader to Lemma 1.17 in [57] for more details).

Lemma 2. One has

$$\hat{uv}(\xi) = \int \hat{u}(\xi - \eta)\hat{v}(\eta) \, \overline{d}\eta = \int \hat{u}(\zeta)\hat{v}(\xi - \zeta) \, \overline{d}\zeta,$$

for any  $u, v \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , as well as for any  $u \in H^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  and  $v \in H^{-\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . Moreover the Leibniz formula

$$D^{\alpha}(uv) = \sum_{\beta} {\alpha \choose \beta} (D^{\beta}u) (D^{\alpha-\beta}v),$$

holds for any  $u, v \in H^{|\alpha|+r}(\mathbb{R}^d), r > n/2$ 

From the Lemma 2 and the Peetre's inequality we get the following continuity properties, as stated by the following Corollary, (for more detail see Corollary 1.19 in [57])

**Corollary 1.** Let  $s \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $\varphi \in H^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . Then

$$u \in H^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{d}) \Rightarrow \varphi u \in H^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{d}) \text{ with } \|\varphi u\|_{H^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{d})} \leq 2^{|s|-(d/2)} \|\varphi\|_{H^{|s|+d}(\mathbb{R}^{d})} \|u\|_{H^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{d})}.$$

Moreover, if

$$a(x,D) = \sum_{|\alpha| \le m} a_{\alpha}(x) D^{\alpha}$$

is a linear partial differential operator of order m with coefficients  $a_{\alpha}(x) \in H^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  then a(x,D) maps continuously  $H^s(\mathbb{R}^d)$  into  $H^{s-m}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , for any  $s \in \mathbb{R}$ .

### 1.1.4 Gelfand-Shilov spaces $S_{v}^{\mu}$

If one would like to know more precisely how fast the decay of  $f \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is at the infinity, then it is convenient to use the spaces  $S_v^{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , subspaces of  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . We will define them in terms of simultaneous estimates of exponential type for f(x) and  $\hat{f}(\xi)$ . We note the symmetrical role of the variables x and  $\xi$ .

**Definition 7.** Let  $\mu > 0$  and  $\nu > 0$ . The function f(x) is in  $S^{\mu}_{\nu}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  if  $f(x) \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  and there exists a constant  $\varepsilon > 0$  such that

$$|f(x)| \lesssim e^{-\varepsilon |x|^{1/\nu}},\tag{1.1}$$

$$|\hat{f}(\boldsymbol{\xi})| \lesssim e^{-\varepsilon|\boldsymbol{\xi}|^{1/\mu}}.$$
(1.2)

We note that we have the inclusions  $S^{\mu}_{\nu}(\mathbb{R}^d) \subset S^{\mu'}_{\nu'}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  for  $\mu \leq \mu', \nu \leq \nu'$ . It is also well known that application of the Fourier transform interchanges the indices  $\mu$  and  $\nu$  in the above definition. In fact we have the following Proposition (see Theorem 6.1.2 in [50])

**Proposition 4.** For  $f \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , we have  $f \in S^{\mu}_{\nu}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  if and only if  $\hat{f} \in S^{\nu}_{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ .

**Remark 3.** In particular the symmetric spaces  $S^{\mu}_{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ ,  $\mu > 0$ , are invariant under the action of the Fourier transform. It will be clear that Definition 7 does not change meaning, if referred to  $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , or  $f \in \mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , provided (1.1), (1.2) make sense.

Now we are interested in passing from the estimates (1.1), (1.2) to estimates involving only f(x). The first step is to convert exponential bounds in the factorial bounds. For this reason we recall the following Proposition (see for more details Proposition 6.1.5 in [50])

**Proposition 5.** The following conditions are equivalent:

i) the condition (1.1) holds, i.e., there exists a constant  $\varepsilon > 0$  such that

$$|f(x)| \lesssim e^{-\varepsilon |x|^{1/\nu}}.$$
(1.3)

ii) there exists a constant C > 0 such that

$$|x^{\alpha}f(x)| \lesssim C^{|\alpha|}(\alpha!)^{\nu}, \quad \alpha \in \mathbb{N}^d.$$
(1.4)

The following Theorem, (we refer the reader to Theorem 6.1.6 in [50] for more details), give us an equivalent definition of  $S^{\mu}_{\nu}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ .

**Theorem 3.** Assume  $\mu > 0, \nu > 0, \mu + \nu \ge 1$ . For  $f \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  the following conditions are equivalent:

- *i*)  $f \in S^{\mu}_{\nu}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ .
- ii) There exists a constant C > 0 such that

$$|x^{\alpha}f(x)| \lesssim C^{|\alpha|}(\alpha!)^{\nu}, \quad \alpha \in \mathbb{N}^d;$$
(1.5)

$$|\xi^{\beta}\hat{f}(\xi)| \lesssim C^{|\beta|}(\beta!)^{\mu}, \quad \beta \in \mathbb{N}^d.$$
(1.6)

iii) There exists a constant C > 0 such that

$$\|x^{\alpha}f(x)\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d})} \lesssim C^{|\alpha|}(\alpha!)^{\nu}, \quad \alpha \in \mathbb{N}^{d};$$
(1.7)

$$\|\boldsymbol{\xi}^{\boldsymbol{\beta}} \hat{f}(\boldsymbol{\xi})\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d})} \lesssim C^{|\boldsymbol{\beta}|}(\boldsymbol{\beta}!)^{\boldsymbol{\mu}}, \quad \boldsymbol{\beta} \in \mathbb{N}^{d}.$$
(1.8)

iv) There exists a constant C > 0 such that

$$\|x^{\alpha}f(x)\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d})} \lesssim C^{|\alpha|}(\alpha!)^{\nu}, \quad \alpha \in \mathbb{N}^{d};$$
(1.9)

$$\|\partial^{\beta} f(x)\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d})} \lesssim C^{|\beta|}(\beta !)^{\mu}, \quad \beta \in \mathbb{N}^{d}.$$
(1.10)

v) There exists a constant C > 0 such that

$$\|x^{\alpha}\partial^{\beta}f(x)\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d})} \lesssim C^{|\alpha|+|\beta|}(\alpha!)^{\nu}(\beta!)^{\mu}, \quad \alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}^{d}.$$
(1.11)

vi) There exists a constant C > 0 such that

$$|x^{\alpha}\partial^{\beta}f(x)| \lesssim C^{|\alpha|+|\beta|}(\alpha!)^{\nu}(\beta!)^{\mu}, \quad \alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}^{d}.$$
(1.12)

We note that the assumption  $\mu + \nu \ge 1$  in Theorem 3 is not restrictive. In fact in the Theorem 4 we will prove that for  $\mu + \nu < 1$  the spaces  $S^{\mu}_{\nu}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  contain only the zero function. For this aim we give the following Propositions (see Proposition 6.1.1, Proposition 6.1.8 and Proposition 6.1.9 in [50])

**Proposition 6.** Let  $\mu > 0, \nu > 0$  and  $f \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . Then the estimates (vi) in Theorem 3 are valid if and only if there exist positive constants C and  $\varepsilon$  such that

$$|\partial^{\beta} f(x)| \lesssim C^{|\beta|} (\beta!)^{\mu} e^{-\varepsilon |x|^{(1/\nu)}}, \quad \beta \in \mathbb{N}^d.$$
(1.13)

Hence, when  $\mu + \nu \geq 1$  the estimates give an equivalent definition of  $S^{\mu}_{\nu}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ .

**Proposition 7.** Assume  $0 < \mu < 1, \nu > 0$  and  $f \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . Let (1.13) be satisfied for suitable constants C > 0 and  $\varepsilon > 0$ . Then f extends to an entire function f(x+iy) in  $\mathbb{C}^d$ , with

$$|f(x+iy)| \lesssim e^{-\varepsilon |x|^{(1/\nu)} + \delta |y|^{1/(1-\mu)}},$$
(1.14)

where  $\delta$  is a suitable positive constant. In the case  $\mu = 1, \nu > 0$ , f extends to an analytic function f(x+iy) in the strip  $\{x+iy \in \mathbb{C}^d : |y| < T\}$  with

$$|f(x+iy)| \lesssim e^{-\varepsilon |y|(1/\nu)}, \quad |y| < T,$$
 (1.15)

for suitable T > 0.

Therefore, if  $\mu + \nu \ge 1$  and  $\mu < 1$  then every  $f \in S^{\mu}_{\nu}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  extends to the complex domain as an entire function satisfying (1.14), while if  $\mu + \nu \ge 1$  and  $\mu = 1$  then every  $f \in S^{\mu}_{\nu}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  extends to the complex domain as an holomorphic function in a strip satisfying (1.15).

The following Theorem, (see Theorem 6.1.10 in [50] for more details), answers the question of the triviality of the classes  $S^{\mu}_{\nu}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , when  $\mu + \nu < 1$ . This result can be expressed by the statement that a function f(x) and its Fourier transform  $\hat{f}(\boldsymbol{\xi})$  cannot both be small at infinity. **Theorem 4.** Let  $f \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  satisfy

$$|f(x)| \lesssim e^{-\varepsilon |x|^{1/\nu}}, \quad |\hat{f}(\xi)| \lesssim e^{-\varepsilon |\xi|^{1/\mu}},$$

for some  $\varepsilon > 0, \mu > 0, \nu > 0$  and  $\mu + \nu < 1$ . Then  $f \equiv 0$ . In other words, according to the Definition, the classes  $S^{\mu}_{\nu}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  are trivial if  $\mu + \nu < 1$ . Moreover, if  $\mu + \nu < 1$  each conditions (ii)-(vi) in the Theorem 3 and (1.13), implies  $f \equiv 0$ .

We recall that the symmetric Gelfand-Shilov spaces  $S^{\mu}_{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ ,  $\mu \geq 1/2$ , are invariant under the Fourier transform (see Proposition 4). These spaces play an important role in the applications to the study of Shubin operator. It is convenient for  $S^{\mu}_{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  to reformulate (v), Theorem 3, in the following form, (see Proposition 6.1.12 in [50]).

**Proposition 8.** Let  $\mu \geq \frac{1}{2}$ . A function  $f \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  belongs to  $S^{\mu}_{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  if and only if there exists a constant C > 0 such that

$$\|x^{\alpha}\partial^{\beta}f(x)\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d})} \lesssim C^{N}N^{N\mu}, \quad for \ |\alpha| + |\beta| \leq N, \ N = 0, 1, 2, \dots$$

#### **1.2** Symbols and pseudodifferential operators

#### 1.2.1 Symbol classes

Before introducing the definition of pseudodifferential operator we need to define the general notion of symbol classes. We begin with the following concepts of *sub-linear weight* and *temperate weight* 

**Definition 8.** A positive continuous function  $\phi(x,\xi)$ ,  $(x,\xi) \in \mathbb{R}^{2d}$ , is called a sub-linear weight if

$$1 \le \phi(x,\xi) \lesssim 1 + |x| + |\xi|, \tag{1.16}$$

A positive continuous function  $\phi(x,\xi)$  is called temperate weight, if there exists s > 0, such that

$$\phi(x+y,\xi+\eta) \lesssim \phi(x,\xi)(1+|y|+|\eta|)^s, \tag{1.17}$$

Now we define the symbol classes  $S(M; \phi, \psi)$ 

**Definition 9.** Let  $\phi(x,\xi)$  and  $\psi(x,\xi)$  be sub-linear and temperate weights. Let  $M(x,\xi)$  be a temperate weight. With  $S(M;\phi,\psi)$  we denote the space of all smooth functions  $a(x,\xi)$ ,  $(x,\xi) \in \mathbb{R}^{2d}$  such that for every  $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}^d$ ,

$$|\partial_{\xi}^{\alpha}\partial_{x}^{\beta}a(x,\xi)| \lesssim M(x,\xi)\psi(x,\xi)^{-|\alpha|}\phi(x,\xi)^{-|\beta|}.$$
(1.18)

In this thesis we will use a particular kind of symbols, the so called  $\Gamma$ symbols. They are defined by taking  $\phi(z) = \psi(z) = \langle z \rangle$ , where  $z = (x, \xi) \in \mathbb{R}^{2d}$ ,
in the Definition 9.

**Definition 10.** Let  $m \in \mathbb{R}$ . We define  $\Gamma^m(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , as the set of all function  $a(z) \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{2d})$  satisfying,

$$|\partial_z^{\gamma} a(z)| \lesssim \langle z \rangle^{m-|\gamma|}, \tag{1.19}$$

for all  $\gamma \in \mathbb{N}^{2d}$ .

For completeness, we also define the *G*-classes (introduced by Parenti and Cordes). Note that, differently from the  $\Gamma$ -classes, the symbols in the *G*-classes have independent asymptotic behaviour in x and  $\xi$ . However, they can be seen as a special case of Definition 9 with  $\psi = \langle \xi \rangle$  and  $\phi = \langle x \rangle$ .

**Definition 11.** Let  $m, n \in \mathbb{R}$ . We define  $G^{m,n}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , as the set of all functions  $a(x,\xi) \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{2d})$  satisfying the estimates

$$|\partial_{\xi}^{\alpha}\partial_{x}^{\beta}a(x,\xi)| \lesssim \langle\xi\rangle^{m-|\alpha|} \langle x\rangle^{n-|\beta|}, \qquad (1.20)$$

for all  $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}^d$ ,

For the symbolic calculus in  $S(M; \phi, \psi)$ , it is very important that the sublinear and temperate weights satisfy the following *strong uncertainty principle*:

$$\psi(x,\xi)\phi(x,\xi) \gtrsim (1+|x|+|\xi|)^{\delta} \quad \text{for some } \delta > 0.$$
 (1.21)

It is well known (see [50]), that if (1.21) holds, then the symbols in  $S(Mh^n; \phi, \psi)$ , where  $h(x, \xi)$  is the *Plank function*, decay at infinity, together with their derivatives provided that n is large enough. Then, one can introduce a notion of *asymptotic expansion* in  $S(M; \phi, \psi)$ 

**Definition 12.** Let  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $a \in S(M; \phi, \psi)$ , for any given sequence of symbols  $a_n \in S(Mh^n; \phi, \psi)$ , we write

$$a(x,\xi) \sim \sum_{n} a_n(x,\xi) \tag{1.22}$$

if, for every  $N \ge 1$ ,

$$a(x,\xi) - \sum_{j=0}^{N-1} a_j(x,\xi) \in S(M;\phi,\psi).$$
(1.23)

The right-hand side of (1.22) is called asymptotic expansion of a.

As explained by the following Proposition (we refer the reader to Proposition 1.1.16 in [50] for more details), if the strong uncertainty principle is satisfied we have an asymptotic expansion modulo a Schwartz function.

**Proposition 9.** Assume the strong uncertainty principle (1.21). Let  $a_n \in S(Mh^n; \phi, \psi)$ ,  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Then there exists a symbol  $a(x, \xi) \in S(M; \phi, \psi)$  such that

$$a(x,\xi) \sim \sum_{n} a_n(x,\xi)$$

Moreover a is uniquely determined modulo Schwartz functions.
#### **1.2.2** Pseudodifferential operators

#### **Oscillatory** integrals

In this section we want to sketch a theory of oscillatory integrals which will be used to define pseudodifferential operators. For more details we refer the reader to [57]. Note that these integrals are in general not absolutely convergent.

**Definition 13.** (Spaces of amplitudes) Let  $m \ge 0$ . With  $A^m$  we denote the space of all functions  $a \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  such that

$$\sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^n} \langle x \rangle^{-m} |\partial_x^{\alpha} a(x)| < \infty \quad for \ all \ \alpha \in \mathbb{Z}^n_+.$$
(1.24)

In this space we will use the following seminorms

$$\|a\|_{A^m,k} = \max_{|\alpha| \le k} \|\langle x \rangle^{-m} \partial^{\alpha} a\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)}.$$
(1.25)

The following Theorem (given by [57] Theorem 2.3) defines the notion of *oscillatory integrals* 

**Theorem 5.** Let q be a non degenerate real quadratic form on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  (i.e.  $\nabla q(x) \neq 0$ , for  $x \neq 0$ )  $a \in A^m$  and  $\varphi \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , such that  $\varphi(0) = 1$ . Then the limit

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int e^{iq(x)} a(x) \varphi(\varepsilon x) dx \tag{1.26}$$

exists, is independent of  $\varphi$  (as long as  $\varphi(0) = 1$ ), and is equal to  $\int e^{iq(x)}a(x)dx$ , when  $a \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . When  $a \notin L^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$  the limit in (1.26) is still denoted by  $\int e^{iq(x)}a(x)dx$ , and fulfils

$$\left| \int e^{iq(x)} a(x) dx \right| \le C_{q,m} ||a||_{A^m, m+n+1}, \tag{1.27}$$

where the constant  $C_{q,m}$  depends only on the quadratic form q and on the order m.

Some properties of oscillatory integrals are listed below (see Theorem 2.5 [57])

#### Proposition 10. -

i) Change of the variable: if A is an invertible real matrix, then

$$\int e^{iq(Ay)} a(Ay) |detA| dy = \int e^{iq(x)} a(x) dx$$

*ii)* Integration by parts: if  $a \in A^m$ ,  $b \in A^{\ell}$  and  $\alpha \in \mathbb{Z}_+^n$ , then

$$\int e^{iq(x)}a(x)\partial^{\alpha}b(x)dx = \int b(x)(-\partial)^{\alpha}(e^{iq(x)}a(x))dx.$$

*iii)* Differentiation under  $\int : if a \in A^m(\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^p)$  then  $\int e^{iq(x)}a(x)dx \in A^m(\mathbb{R}^p)$ and

$$\partial_y^{\alpha} \int e^{iq(x)} a(x,y) dx = \int e^{iq(x)} \partial_y^{\alpha} a(x,y) dx$$
 for all  $\alpha \in \mathbb{Z}_+^p$ .

iv) Interchange of the  $\int$ : if  $a \in A^m(\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^p)$  as in iii) and if r is a non degenerate real quadratic form on  $\mathbb{R}^p$ ,

$$\int e^{ir(y)} \left( \int e^{iq(x)} a(x,y) dx \right) dy = \int e^{i(q(x)+r(y))} a(x,y) dx dy.$$

#### **Pseudodifferential operators**

**Definition 14.** Let  $m \in \mathbb{R}$ . We say that  $a(x,\xi)$  belongs to the set of symbols  $S^m(\mathbb{R}^{2n})$  if and only if  $a(x,\xi) \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{2n})$  and the following is satisfied

$$|\partial_{\xi}^{\alpha}\partial_{x}^{\beta}a(x,\xi)| \lesssim \langle\xi\rangle^{m-|\alpha|},\tag{1.28}$$

 $\forall \alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}^n$ . We also denote  $\bigcup_m S^m$  by  $S^{\infty}$  and  $\bigcap_m S^m$  by  $S^{-\infty}$ .

We define, also, for these symbol classes the asymptotic expansion.

**Definition 15.** Let  $m \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $a_j \in S^{m_j}(\mathbb{R}^{2n})$  for  $j \in \mathbb{N}$ , where

$$m = m_0 \ge m_1 \ge \ldots \ge m_n \to -\infty$$

We say that  $\sum_j a_j$  is an asymptotic expansion of a and we write  $a \sim \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} a_j$ , if

$$orall N \in \mathbb{Z}^+, \qquad a - \sum_{j=0}^{N-1} a_j \in S^{m_N}(\mathbb{R}^{2n}).$$

The following Proposition, (we refer the reader to Theorem 10.9 in [18] for more details), give us the conditions to have the asymptotic expansion modulo a symbol in  $S^{-\infty}$ .

**Proposition 11.** Let  $m \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $a_j \in S^{m_j}(\mathbb{R}^{2n})$ ,  $j \in \mathbb{N}$ , with  $m_0 = m$  and  $m_j \searrow -\infty$ . Then, there exists  $a \in S^m(\mathbb{R}^{2n})$  such that  $a \sim \sum_j a_j$ . The symbol a is unique modulo  $S^{-\infty}$ .

Now we can introduce the adjoint symbol  $a^*$  and the compound symbol  $a \sharp b$  (see Theorem 2.7 [57])

**Theorem 6.** Let  $a \in S^m(\mathbb{R}^{2n})$  and  $b \in S^{\ell}(\mathbb{R}^{2n})$ . Then the oscillatory integrals

$$a^{*}(x,\xi) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}n} e^{-iy\eta} \overline{a}(x-y,\xi-\eta) dy \,\overline{d}\eta,$$
  

$$a^{t}(x,\xi) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}n} e^{-iy\eta} a(x-y,-\xi+\eta) dy \,\overline{d}\eta,$$
  

$$a \sharp b(x,\xi) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}n} e^{-iy\eta} a(x,\xi-\eta) b(x-y,\xi) dy \,\overline{d}\eta,$$

define symbols in  $S^m(\mathbb{R}^{2n})$ , in  $S^m(\mathbb{R}^{2n})$  and in  $S^{m+\ell}(\mathbb{R}^{2n})$ , respectively. Furthermore, we have the following asymptotic expansion:

$$a^* \sim \sum_{lpha} \frac{1}{lpha!} \partial^{lpha}_{\xi} D^{lpha}_{x} a(x,\xi),$$
  
 $a^t \sim \sum_{lpha} \frac{(-1)^{|lpha|}}{lpha!} \partial^{lpha}_{\xi} D^{lpha}_{x} \overline{a}$   
 $a \sharp b \sim \sum_{lpha} \frac{1}{lpha!} \partial^{lpha}_{\xi} a D^{lpha}_{x} b.$ 

Now we can define pseudodifferential operators.

**Definition 16.** Let  $a \in S^m(\mathbb{R}^{2d})$ . We call pseudodifferential operator of symbol a the operator defined on  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  as follows

$$a(x,D)f(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} e^{ix\xi} a(x,\xi)\hat{f}(\xi) \ d\xi.$$
(1.29)

It is known that the pseudodifferential operator a(x,D) in (1.29) is a continuous linear operator on the Schwartz class  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . In fact the following Theorem (Theorem 3.1 in [57]) holds

**Theorem 7.** If  $a \in S^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{2n})$  and  $f \in S(\mathbb{R}^n)$  the formula

$$a(x,D)f(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} e^{ix\xi} a(x,\xi)\hat{f}(\xi) \, d\xi,$$

defines a function  $a(x,D)f \in S(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and there exist constants  $N \in \mathbb{Z}_+^n$  and  $C_k > 0$ , for  $k \in \mathbb{Z}_+^n$ , depending on a such that  $||a(x,D)f||_{p_k} \leq C_k ||f||_{p_{k+N}}$ .

We note that the pseudodifferential operator a(x,D) (1.29) can be written in the oscillatory integral form, in fact we recall the following (Proposition 10.7 [18])

**Proposition 12.** Let  $a \in S^m(\mathbb{R}^{2n})$  and  $u \in S(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . We have that

i)  $q(y,\xi) := -y\xi$  is a non degenerate real quadratic form,

*ii)* 
$$b(x,y,\xi) := e^{ix\xi}a(x,\xi)u(y) \in A^m(\mathbb{R}^n_y \times \mathbb{R}^n_\xi)$$
 for all  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ 

iii)

$$a(x,D)u(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} e^{ix\xi} a(x,\xi)\hat{u}(\xi) \, d\xi$$
$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} e^{-iy\xi} \left( e^{ix\xi} a(x,\xi)u(y) \right) dy \, d\xi.$$

Now we want to extend the definition of pseudodifferential operator to the space of Schwartz distribution  $\mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . For this reason we recall the following Theorem (see Theorem 3.2 in [57])

**Theorem 8.** For any  $a, b \in S^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{2n})$  and  $f, g \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  one has

- *i*)  $(a^*(x,D)f,g)_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^{2n})} = (f,a(x,D)g)_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^{2n})}.$
- *ii)*  $(a \ddagger b(x, D)f, g) = (a(x, D)b(x, D)f, g).$

We are now able to extend the operator  $a(x,D): \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n) \to \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  as an operator from  $\mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$  into  $\mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

**Definition 17.** Given  $a \in S^{\infty}$ , we call pseudodifferential operator of symbol a the operator  $a(x,D) : \mathscr{S}'\mathbb{R}^n) \to \mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$  defined as follows

$$(a(x,D)u,v) = u(a^t(x,D)v).$$

From the definition and elementary properties of Sobolev spaces  $H^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$  it is well known that a pseudodifferential operator of order m maps continuously  $H^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$  into  $H^{s-m}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$  as stated by the following Theorem (see Theorem 3.6 [57])

**Theorem 9.** Let  $a \in S^m$ . Then for every  $s \in \mathbb{R}$ 

$$a(x,D): H^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) \to H^{s-m}(\mathbb{R}^{n}),$$

and there exists a constant  $C_s$  such that  $||a(x,D)u||_{H^s} \leq C_s ||u||_{H^{s-m}}$ .

#### Elliptic and hypoelliptic symbols

One of the main achievements of the symbol calculus is a construction of an approximated inverse for elliptic operators. This has been done for a general class of hypoelliptic symbols. For this reasons we need the other particular symbol classes. **Definition 18.** Let  $m \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $\ell \leq m$ . The symbol  $a \in S^m$  is hypoelliptic, if there exists a radius R > 0, such that

$$\exists c_0 > 0, \ \forall x \in \mathbb{R}^n, \ \forall \xi, \ |\xi| \ge R, \quad |a(x,\xi)| \ge c_0 \langle \xi \rangle^{\ell}, \tag{1.30}$$

and

$$\forall \alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}^n \ \exists \ c_{\alpha,\beta} > 0 \ \forall x \in \mathbb{R}^n, \ \forall \xi, \ |\xi| \ge R, \\ |\partial_{\xi}^{\alpha} \partial_x^{\beta} a(x,\xi)| \le c_{\alpha,\beta} |a(x,\xi)| \langle \xi \rangle^{-|\alpha|}.$$
 (1.31)

If  $\ell = m$  then a is an elliptic symbol of order m.

**Remark 4.** We note that, if the symbol a is elliptic then the bound from below condition (1.30) implies the condition on the derivatives (1.31).

Now we define the notion of *parametrix*:

**Definition 19.** Let a(x,D) a pseudodifferential operator. a(x,D) has a left parametrix (right parametrix, respectively) if there exists a pseudodifferential operator p(x,D) such that

$$p(x,D)a(x,D) = I + r(x,D) \qquad \Big(resp.\ a(x,D)p(x,D) = I + r(x,D)\Big),$$

where  $r \in S^{-\infty}$  and I is the identity operator on  $\mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . If there exist left and right parametrix then we call p(x,D) the parametrix of the operator a(x,D).

We recall the following Theorem on the parametrix construction for operator with elliptic symbol, (see for details Theorem 2.10 [57])

**Theorem 10.** Let  $a \in S^m$ . Then the following statements are equivalent

i) There exists a  $b \in S^{-m}$  such that  $a \sharp b - 1 \in S^{-\infty}$ ;

- ii) There exists a  $b \in S^{-m}$  such that  $b \sharp a 1 \in S^{-\infty}$ ;
- iii) There exists a  $b_0 \in S^{-m}$  such that  $ab_0 1 \in S^{-1}$ ;
- iv) There exists an  $\varepsilon > 0$  such that  $|a(x,\xi)| \ge \varepsilon \langle \xi \rangle^m$  for  $|\xi| \ge 1/\varepsilon$ .

Now we may construct a parametrix for a hypoelliptic operator. This is done by constructing formal series of symbols to whom to apply Proposition 11. For this reason, we recall the following Proposition (see [18])

**Proposition 13.** Let a be a hypoelliptic symbol of type  $(m, \ell)$ . We set

$$p_0(x,\xi) = a^{-1}(x,\xi)\varphi(\xi),$$

with  $\varphi \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ ,  $\varphi(\xi) = 0$  for  $|\xi| \ge 2R$ .

- i)  $p_0$  is an element of  $S^{-\ell}(\mathbb{R}^{2n})$ ;
- *ii)* for all  $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}^n$ ,  $p_0 \partial_{\xi}^{\alpha} \partial_x^{\beta} a \in S^{-|\alpha|}$ .
- *iii)* We define for  $h \ge 1$ ,

$$p_h(x,\xi) = -\left(\sum_{|\gamma|+j=h, j< h} \frac{(-i)^{|\gamma|}}{\gamma!} \partial_x^{\gamma} a(x,\xi) \partial_{\xi}^{\gamma} p_j(x,\xi)\right) p_0(x,\xi) \quad (1.32)$$

Then  $p_h(x,\xi) \in S^{-\ell-h}(\mathbb{R}^{2n})$  for all h.

Now we are able to recall the following Theorem (Theorem 10.20 [18])

**Theorem 11.** Let a be a hypoelliptic symbol of type  $(m, \ell)$ . Then there exists  $p \in S^{-\ell}(\mathbb{R}^{2n})$  such that

$$p(x,D)a(x,D) = I + r(x,D)$$
$$a(x,D)p(x,D) = I + s(x,D),$$

where r(x,D) and s(x,D) are regularizing operators (i.e. r and s are symbols in  $S^{-\infty}$ .

### **1.3** Γ- differential operators

#### **1.3.1** Γ- pseudodifferential operators

The main subject of this section, and in general of this thesis, is the study of some properties for relevant classes of operators, including as basic examples partial differential operators with polynomial coefficients in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ 

$$\sum_{|\alpha|+|\beta|\leq m} c_{\alpha,\beta} x^{\beta} D^{\alpha}.$$

For this reason in this section, attention is confined to  $\Gamma$ -pseudodifferential operators corresponding to the  $\Gamma$ -symbols defined in Definition 10. More generally we can introduce the following classes

**Definition 20.** Let  $m \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $0 < \rho \leq 1$ . We define  $\Gamma_{\rho}^{m}(\mathbb{R}^{d})$ , as the set of all functions  $a(z) \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{2d})$  satisfying,

$$|\partial_z^{\gamma} a(z)| \lesssim \langle z \rangle^{m-\rho|\gamma|}, \tag{1.33}$$

for all  $\gamma \in \mathbb{N}^{2d}$ .

In this definition we assume  $\rho > 0$ , so the strong uncertainty principle (1.21) is satisfied. Note that  $\Gamma_1^m(\mathbb{R}^d) = \Gamma^m(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , if  $a \in \Gamma_{\rho}^{m_1}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  and  $b \in \Gamma_{\rho}^{m_2}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , then  $ab \in \Gamma_{\rho}^{m_1+m_2}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ ,  $\partial_z^{\alpha} a \in \Gamma_{\rho}^{m_1-\rho|\alpha|}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  and for all  $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^{2d}$ 

$$\bigcap_m \Gamma^m_{\rho}(\mathbb{R}^d) = \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^d).$$

One can also introduce a notion of asymptotic expansion in  $\Gamma_{\rho}^{m}$ .

**Definition 21.** Let  $a_j \in \Gamma_{\rho}^{m_j}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ ,  $j = 1, 2, ..., m_j \to -\infty$  and  $a \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . We will write

$$a \sim \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} a_j, \tag{1.34}$$

if, for any integer  $r \geq 2$ ,

$$a - \sum_{j=1}^{r-1} a_j \in \Gamma^{\tilde{m}}_{\rho}(\mathbb{R}^d), \qquad (1.35)$$

where  $\tilde{m} = \max_{j \ge r} m_j$ . The right-hand side of (1.34) is called asymptotic expansion of a.

As explained by the following Proposition (we refer the reader to Proposition 23.1 in [58] for more details), we have existence and uniqueness (modulo a Schwartz function) of a symbol having a given asymptotic expansion.

**Proposition 14.** Let  $a_j \in \Gamma_{\rho}^{m_j}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ ,  $j = 1, 2, ..., m_j \to -\infty$  as  $j \to +\infty$ . Then there exists a function a such that  $a \sim \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} a_j$ . If another function b has the same property, then  $a - b \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

Now we can define another symbol classes  $\Gamma^m_{c\ell}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ 

**Definition 22.** Let  $m \in \mathbb{R}$ . We define  $\Gamma^m_{c\ell}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , as the subset of  $\Gamma^m(\mathbb{R}^{2d})$  of all symbols a(z) which admit asymptotic expansion

$$a(z) \sim \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} a_{m-k}(z),$$
 (1.36)

for a sequence of functions  $a_{m-k} \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{2d} \setminus 0)$  which are positively homogeneous of degree m-k.

We will denote by  $OP\Gamma^m(\mathbb{R}^d)$ ,  $OP\Gamma^m_{\rho}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  and  $OP\Gamma^m_{c\ell}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  the classes of pseudodifferential operators with symbols in  $\Gamma^m(\mathbb{R}^d)$ ,  $\Gamma^m_{\rho}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  and  $\Gamma^m_{c\ell}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ respectively. Note that the pseudodifferential operator

$$a(x,D)u(x) = \int e^{ix\xi}a(x,\xi)\hat{u}(\xi) \, d\xi,$$

maps  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  into  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  continuously and  $\mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{R}^d)$  into  $\mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . We now recall the composition formula: If  $a \in \Gamma_{\rho}^{m_1}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ ,  $b \in \Gamma_{\rho}^{m_2}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  with  $0 < \rho \le 1$  then the operator c(x,D) = a(x,D)b(x,D) belongs to  $OP\Gamma_{\rho}^{m_1+m_2}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ with symbol

$$c(x,\xi) \sim \sum_{\alpha} (\alpha!)^{-1} \partial_{\xi}^{\alpha} a(x,\xi) D_x^{\alpha} b(x,\xi),$$

For these operators we want to construct an approximate inverse for the elliptic operators. For this reason we define the notion of  $\Gamma$ -elliptic symbols:

**Definition 23.** Let  $m \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $a \in \Gamma^m(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . We say that a is  $\Gamma$ -elliptic if there exists R > 0 such that

$$|z|^m \lesssim |a(z)| \quad for \, |z| \ge R. \tag{1.37}$$

When applying this definition in  $\Gamma_{c\ell}^m(\mathbb{R}^d) \subset \Gamma^m(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , we shall rather rely on the following equivalent notion of  $\Gamma$ -ellipticity (see for more details Proposition 2.1.5 [50]).

**Proposition 15.** The symbol  $a \in \Gamma^m_{c\ell}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  is  $\Gamma$ -elliptic if and only if the principal part  $a_m$  satisfies

$$a(z) \neq 0$$
 for every  $z \neq 0$ . (1.38)

Now we may construct a parametrix for a  $\Gamma$ -elliptic operator. For this reason we recall the following Theorem (Theorem 2.1.6 [50])

**Theorem 12.** Let  $a \in \Gamma^m(\mathbb{R}^d)$  be  $\Gamma$ -elliptic. Then there exists  $b \in \Gamma^{-m}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ such that b(x,D) is a parametric of a(x,D), i.e.

$$a(x,D)b(x,D) = I + S_1(x,D)$$
  $b(x,D)a(x,D) = I + S_2(x,D),$ 

where  $S_1(x,D)$  and  $S_2(x,D)$  are regularizing operators. Hence a(x,D) is globally regular i.e.  $u \in \mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{R}^d)$  and  $a(x,D)u \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  imply  $u \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ .

#### $\Gamma$ -operator in $Q^{S}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$

The natural functional frameworks of  $\Gamma$ -operators are weighted Sobolev spaces, the Shubin spaces  $Q^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ . We can define  $Q^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$  using arbitrary  $\Gamma$ symbols, as stated the following Proposition (see for more details Proposition 2.1.9 [50]):

**Proposition 16.** Let  $T \in OP\Gamma^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{d})$  have a  $\Gamma$ -elliptic symbol. Then

$$Q^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{d}) = \{ u \in \mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{R}^{d}) : Tu \in L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d}) \}$$
(1.39)

We can provide  $Q^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{d})$  of the structure of Hilbert space by this scalar product

$$(u,v)_{Q^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{d})} = (Tu,Tv)_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d})} + (Ru,Rv)_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d})},$$
(1.40)

where R is a regularizing operator associated to a parametrix  $\tilde{T} \in OP\Gamma^{-s}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ of T, namely  $\tilde{T}T = I + R$ .

From the definition and elementary properties of Sobolev spaces, we have the following Theorem (see Theorem 2.1.10 [50]).

**Theorem 13.** Every  $A \in OP\Gamma^m(\mathbb{R}^d)$  defines, for all  $s \in \mathbb{R}$ , a continuous operator

$$a(x,D): Q^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{d}) \to Q^{s-m}(\mathbb{R}^{d}).$$

One of the properties of the  $Q^s(\mathbb{R}^d)$  spaces is the compactness of the map  $A: OP\Gamma^s(\mathbb{R}^d) \to OP\Gamma^t(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , for  $A \in OP\Gamma^m(\mathbb{R}^d)$  whenever s-t > m. In particular if A is regularizing,  $(A \in OP\Gamma^{-\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d) := \bigcap_m \in OP\Gamma^m(\mathbb{R}^d))$ , then it is continuous and compact from  $\mathbb{Q}^s(\mathbb{R}^d)$  to  $Q^t(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , for any  $s,t \in \mathbb{R}$ . Moreover, for every  $s \in \mathbb{R}$  we have the continuous immersions

$$j: \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^d) \to Q^s(\mathbb{R}^d), \qquad j: Q^s(\mathbb{R}^d) \to \mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{R}^d).$$

The following equivalent definition, when  $s \in \mathbb{N}$ , is peculiar for the spaces  $Q^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{d})$ , as stated by the following Theorem (for more details see Theorem 2.1.12 [50])

**Theorem 14.** Let  $s \in \mathbb{R}$ . An equivalent definition of the space  $Q^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{d})$  is given by

$$Q^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{d}) = \{ u \in \mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{R}^{d}) : x^{\beta} D^{\alpha} u \in L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d}), \text{ for } |\alpha| + |\beta| \le s \}$$
(1.41)

with the equivalent norm

$$\|u\|_{Q^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{d})} = \sum_{|\alpha| + |\beta| \le m} \|x^{\beta} D^{\alpha}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d})}.$$
(1.42)

We can give a more precise statement of Theorem 12, in the context of weighted spaces  $Q^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{d})$ . This is the following Theorem 15 (we refer the reader to Theorem 2.1.13 in [50] for more details).

**Theorem 15.** Let  $A \in OP\Gamma^m(\mathbb{R}^d)$  with  $\Gamma$ -elliptic symbol and assume  $u \in \mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{R}^d)$ ,  $Au \in Q^s(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . Then  $u \in Q^{s+m}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  and for every t < s+m,

$$\|u\|_{Q^{s+m}(\mathbb{R}^d)} \le C\Big(\|Au\|_{Q^s(\mathbb{R}^d)} + \|u\|_{Q^t(\mathbb{R}^d)}\Big)$$
(1.43)

for a positive constant  $C_{s,t}$ .

In particular if *m* is a positive integer, we may refer to equivalent norm (1.42)and rewrite (1.43) for s = 0, t = 0:

$$\sum_{|\alpha|+|\beta| \le m} \|x^{\beta} D^{\alpha}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d})} \le C \Big(\|Au\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d})} + \|u\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d})}\Big)$$
(1.44)

If we denote by  $A_s$  the restriction of  $A : \mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{R}^d) \to \mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{R}^d)$  to  $Q^s(\mathbb{R}^d)$ ,  $s \in \mathbb{R}$ , or equivalently the extension of  $A : \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^d) \to \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  to  $Q^s(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , then the operator  $A_s$  is a Fredholm operator and for this reason we recall the following Theorem (for more details see Theorem 2.1.14 [50]) **Theorem 16.** Consider  $A \in OP\Gamma^m(\mathbb{R}^d)$  with  $\Gamma$ -elliptic symbol. Then:

- *i*)  $A_s \in Fred \left( Q^s(\mathbb{R}^d), Q^{s-m}(\mathbb{R}^d) \right).$
- *ii)*  $indA_s = dimKer(A) dimKer(A^*)$ ,  $indA_s = dimKer(A) dimKer(A^t)$ , where  $A^*$  is the formal adjoint and  $A^t$  is the transposed. Observe that the index is then independent of s.
- *iii)* If  $T \in OP\Gamma^{n}(\mathbb{R}^{d})$ , with n < m, Then  $A_{s} + T_{s} \in Fred\left(Q^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{d}), Q^{s-m}(\mathbb{R}^{d})\right)$ and  $ind(A_{s} + T_{s}) = ind(A_{s})$ .
- iv) If  $A: Q^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{d}) \to Q^{s-m}(\mathbb{R}^{d})$ , is invertible for some  $s \in \mathbb{R}$ ; then it is invertible for all  $s \in \mathbb{R}$ , and the inverse is an operator in  $OP\Gamma^{-m}(\mathbb{R}^{d})$ .

We have denoted by  $indA_s$  the index of the Fredholm operator  $A_s$ , (namely  $indA_s = dimKerA_s - dimCoKerA_s$ ).

In conclusion, we consider the notion of hypoelliptic symbol in the frame  $\Gamma_{\rho}^{m}(\mathbb{R}^{d}), \ 0 < \rho \leq 1.$ 

**Definition 24.** Let  $m \in \mathbb{R}$ . We say  $a(z) \in \Gamma_{\rho}^{m}(\mathbb{R}^{d}), 0 < \rho \leq 1$ , is  $\Gamma_{\rho}$ -hypoelliptic, if there exist  $m_{1} \in \mathbb{R}, m_{1} \leq m$  and R > 0 such that

$$|z|^{m_1} \lesssim |a(z)|, \quad for \ |z| \ge R,$$
 (1.45)

and for every  $\gamma \in \mathbb{N}^{2d}$ ,

$$|\partial_z^{\gamma} a(z)| \lesssim |a(z)| \langle z \rangle^{-\rho|\gamma|}, \quad for \ |z| \ge R.$$
(1.46)

If  $m_1 = m$  in (1.45) then (1.46) holds. It follows that if a symbol is  $\Gamma$ -elliptic then it is also  $\Gamma_{\rho}$ -elliptic

Now we may construct a parametrix for a hypoelliptic operator. For this reason, we recall the following Theorem (see Theorem 2.1.16 [50])

**Theorem 17.** Let  $a \in \Gamma_{\rho}^{m}$ ,  $0 < \rho \leq 1$  be a  $\Gamma_{\rho}$ -hypoelliptic for some  $m_{1} < m$ in (1.45). Then there exists  $b \in \Gamma^{-m_{1}}(\mathbb{R}^{d})$  such that

$$a(x,D)b(x,D) = I + s_1(x,D)$$
  $b(x,D)a(x,D) = I + s_2(x,D),$ 

where  $s_1(x,D)$  and  $s_2(x,D)$  are regularizing operators. Hence a(x,D) is global regular. Moreover, if we assume  $u \in \mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{R}^d)$ ,  $a(x,D)u \in Q^s(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , then we have  $u \in Q^{s+m_1}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  and for every  $t < s+m_1$ 

$$\|u\|_{Q^{s+m_1}(\mathbb{R}^d)} \le C\Big(\|Au\|_{Q^s(\mathbb{R}^d)} + \|u\|_{Q^t(\mathbb{R}^d)}\Big),$$
(1.47)

for a positive constant C depending on s and t.

#### $\Gamma\text{-elliptic}$ differential operator

It is well known that all differential operators in  $OP\Gamma_{\rho}^{m}(\mathbb{R}^{d}), 0 < \rho \leq 1$ have polynomial coefficients. In fact we have the following Proposition (see Proposition 2.2.1 [50])

**Proposition 17.** Assume  $p(x,\xi) \in \Gamma^m_{\rho}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  is of the form

$$p(x,\xi) = \sum_{|\alpha| \le m} a_{\alpha}(x)\xi^{\alpha},$$

for some  $a_{\alpha}(x) \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . Then  $a_{\alpha}(x)$  is a polynomial.

Let us then consider

$$P = \sum_{|\alpha|+|\beta| \le m} c_{\alpha,\beta} x^{\beta} D^{\alpha}, \quad c_{\alpha,\beta} \in \mathbb{C}.$$
 (1.48)

with symbols

$$p(z) = \sum_{|\gamma| \le m} c_{\gamma} z^{\gamma}, \quad \text{where } \gamma = (\beta, \alpha), \ z = (x, \xi). \tag{1.49}$$

The principal part is given by

$$p_m(z) = \sum_{|\gamma|=m} c_{\gamma} z^{\gamma}, \qquad (1.50)$$

and the equivalent  $\Gamma$ -ellipticity condition (1.38) is

$$p_m(z) = \sum_{|\gamma|=m} c_{\gamma} z^{\gamma} \neq 0, \quad \text{for } z \neq 0.$$
(1.51)

We may now consider the case of a generic ordinary differential operator with polynomial coefficients in  $\mathbb{R}$ . The  $\Gamma$ -ellipticity condition (1.51) reads

$$p_m(x,\xi) = \sum_{\alpha+\beta=m} c_{\alpha,\beta} x^{\beta} \xi^{\alpha} \neq 0, \quad \text{for } (x,\xi) \in \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus 0.$$
(1.52)

Factorizing we obtain

$$p_m(x,\xi) = c(\xi - r_1 x)(\xi - r_2 x)\dots(\xi - r_m x), \qquad (1.53)$$

with  $\Im r_j \neq 0$ ,  $j = 1, \dots, m, c \neq 0$ . Hence we may write our operator P (after a multiplication by  $c^{-1}$ )

$$P = (D_x - r_1 x)(D_x - r_2 x)\dots(D_x - r_m x) + \sum_{\alpha + \beta < m} a_{\alpha,\beta} x^{\beta} D^{\alpha}, \qquad (1.54)$$

for some constants  $\alpha_{\alpha,\beta} \in \mathbb{C}$ . We may regard P as a Fredholm operator

$$P: Q^m(\mathbb{R}) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}).$$

Thus, we obtain the following result (see for more details Theorem 2.2.2 [50], and the reference therein).

**Theorem 18.** Consider P in (1.53), (1.54) and assume  $\Im r_j > 0$  for  $j = 1, \ldots m^+$ ,  $\Im r_j < 0$  for  $j = m^+ + 1, \ldots m$ ,  $m = m^+ + m^-$ . Then P is a Fredholm operator with

$$indP = m^+ - m^-$$
.

From this Theorem, concerning the existence of a non-trivial solution  $u \in \mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{R})$ , hence  $u \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R})$ , of Pu = 0, we may obtain the following conclusions (see [50]):

- If indP > 0 then dimKer(P) > 0 and a non trivial solution exists.
- If  $m^+ = 0, m^- = m$  then indP = 0 and a non trivial solution does not exist.

A motivating example is the *Harmonic oscillator* of Quantum Mechanics:

$$H = -\Delta + |x|^2. \tag{1.55}$$

We begin here to compute eigenvalues and eigenfunctions of H. We have the following result (see Theorem 2.2.3 [50])

Theorem 19. The equation

$$Pu = Hu - \lambda u = -\Delta u + |x|^2 u - \lambda u = 0, \ u \in S'(\mathbb{R}^d),$$

admits for

$$\lambda = \lambda_k = \sum_{j=1}^d (2k_j + 1), \quad k = (k_1, \dots, k_n) \in \mathbb{Z}_+^d,$$

the solution in  $S(\mathbb{R}^d)$ ,

$$u_k(x) = \prod_{j=1}^d P_{k_j}(x_j) \exp(-|x|^2/2), \qquad (1.56)$$

where  $P_r(t)$  is the r-th Hermite polynomial. Note that the family  $u_k$ ,  $k \in \mathbb{Z}^d_+$ , forms an orthogonal system in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ .

**Remark 5.** Because of the completeness of the Hermite functions  $u_k$  we know from the spectral theory (for more details see the Theorem 24) that for  $\lambda \neq \lambda_k$ the map

$$P = H - \lambda : Q^2(\mathbb{R}^d) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$$

is an isomorphism, with inverse

$$P^{-1} = (H - \lambda)^{-1} : L^2(\mathbb{R}^d) \to Q^2(\mathbb{R}^d),$$

belonging to  $OP\Gamma^{-2}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  (see Theorem 16 (iv)).

#### $\Gamma$ -operator in Gelfand-Shilov $S^{\mu}_{\nu}(\mathbb{R}^d)$

Let us consider the liner partial differential operators with polynomial coefficients in  $\mathbb{R}^d$  (1.48) and assume the fulfilment of the  $\Gamma$ -ellipticity condition

$$p_m(x,\xi) \neq 0 \quad \text{for } (x,\xi) \neq (0,0).$$
 (1.57)

The following result holds in Gelfand-Shilov spaces (see [20] and Theorem 6.2.1 in [50])

**Theorem 20.** Let P in (1.48) satisfy the  $\Gamma$ -ellipticity condition (1.57). If  $u \in \mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{R}^d)$  is a solution of Pu = f with  $f \in S^{\mu}_{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ ,  $\mu \geq \frac{1}{2}$  then  $u \in S^{\mu}_{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . In particular, the equation Pu = 0, with  $u \in \mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{R}^d)$  implies  $u \in S^{\frac{1}{2}}_{\frac{1}{2}}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ .

Recently, Gramchev, Pilipovic and Rodino [24] have characterized the Gelfand-Shilov spaces  $S^{\mu}_{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  by the decay of the Fourier coefficients associated to the eigenvalues. For this reason we recall the following theorem (for more details see Theorem 1.2 [24])

**Theorem 21.** Suppose that P in (1.48) is  $\Gamma$ -elliptic and normal operator,  $PP^* = P^*P$ . Then  $spec(PP^*) = \{\lambda_1^2 \leq \ldots \leq \lambda_j^2 \leq \ldots\}, \ \lambda_j \geq 0$  with an orthonormal basis  $\{\varphi_j\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$ . Let  $\mu \geq 1/2$ . Then for any  $u \in \mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{R}^d)$  we have

$$u \in S^{\mu}_{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^d) \Longleftrightarrow \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} |a_j|^2 e^{\varepsilon |\lambda_j|^{1/(m\mu)}} < \infty,$$
(1.58)

for some  $\varepsilon > 0 \iff \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} |a_j|^2 e^{\varepsilon j^{1/(m\mu)}} < \infty$ , for some  $\varepsilon > 0 \iff$  there exist  $C > 0, \varepsilon > 0$  such that

$$|a_j| \le C e^{-\varepsilon j^{2/d\mu}}, \quad j \in \mathbb{N},$$
(1.59)

where  $a_j = u(\boldsymbol{\varphi}_j)$  are the Fourier coefficients of u.

### 1.4 Spectral Theory

#### 1.4.1 Unbounded Operators in Hilbert spaces

In this section we recall some basic facts about unbounded operators in Hilbert spaces.

Let  $H_1$  and  $H_2$  be Hilbert spaces and suppose we are given an unbounded operator

$$A: H_1 \to H_2$$

The *adjoint operator* 

$$A^*: H_2 \to H_1$$

is defined if the domain of A (denote by  $D_A$ ) is dense in  $H_1$  and, in this case,  $D_{A^*}$  is the set of all  $v \in H_2$ , for which there exists  $g \in H_1$  such that

$$(Au, v) = (u, g), \quad u \in D_A.$$

It is clear that g is uniquely defined and by definition  $A^*v = g$ . In particular, we have the identity

$$(Au, v) = (u, A^*v), \quad u \in D_A, v \in D_{A^*}.$$

Let H be a Hilbert space. An operator  $A: H \to H$  is called *symmetric* if

$$(Au,v)=(u,Av), \quad u,v\in D_A,$$

while an operator  $A: H \to H$  is called *self-adjoint* if  $A = A^*$ . Note that a self-adjoint operator is symmetric. The converse is in general not true. Let  $A: H_1 \to H_2$ . We define the graph of A as the liner subspace  $\{(u, Au) \in$   $H_1 \times H_2 : u \in D_A$  of  $H_1 \times H_2$ . A is called *closed* if its graph is a closed subspace in  $H_1 \oplus H_2$ .

A is called *closable* if the closure of its graph is still a graph of a linear operator, which is then denoted by  $\overline{A}$ .

Note that, any symmetric operator  $A: H \to H$  has a closure if  $D_A$  is dense, and its closure  $\overline{A}$  is, also, symmetric, (see Proposition 4.1.1 in [50]).

A densely defined symmetric operator A is called *essentially self-adjoint* if A is self-adjoint. Note that, it is equivalent to saying that  $A^* = \overline{A}$ , because for any closable operator A we have  $\overline{A}^* = A^*$ . A criterion for essential self-adjointness is given by the following Proposition (for more details see Theorem 26.1 [58])

**Proposition 18.** A symmetric operator  $A : H \to H$  with dense domain is essentially self-adjoint if and only if the following inclusions

$$Ker(A^* - iI) \subset D_{\overline{A}},$$
  
 $Ker(A^* + iI) \subset D_{\overline{A}}.$ 

hold.

Now we can introduce the *resolvent set* and the *spectrum* of an operator A.

**Definition 25.** Let A be a closed densely defined operator on a complex Hilbert space H. We define the resolvent set of A as the set  $\rho(A)$  of complex numbers  $\lambda$  such that  $A - \lambda I$  is a bijection  $D_A \to H$ , with a bounded inverse  $R_A(\lambda) = (A - \lambda I)^{-1}$ .  $R_A(\lambda)$  is called resolvent operator of A. The spectrum of A is the complementary set of  $\rho(A)$  in  $\mathbb{C}$ 

$$\sigma(A) = \mathbb{C} \setminus \rho(A).$$

It is well known that self-adjoint operators have a real spectrum. For this reason we recall the following Proposition (see Proposition 4.1.2 [50])

#### **Proposition 19.** If A is self-adjoint, then $\sigma(A) \subset \mathbb{R}$ .

As explained by the following proposition (see for more details Proposition 4.13 in [50]), if there exists  $\lambda \in \rho(A)$  such that  $R_A(\lambda)$  is compact then A has a compact resolvent.

**Proposition 20.** If A has a compact resolvent, then  $R_A(\lambda)$  is compact for all  $\lambda \in \rho(A)$ .

We note that self-adjoint operators with compact resolvent have very simple spectrum. In order to show this, we recall the following theorem, about the spectrum of compact operators, combined with the subsequent lemma (we refer the reader to Theorem 4.1.4 and Lemma 4.1.5 in [50] for more details).

**Theorem 22.** Let A be a compact operator on a complex Hilbert space H. Then  $\sigma(A)$  is at most countable set with no accumulation point from 0. Each non zero  $\lambda \in \sigma(A)$  is an eigenvalue with finite multiplicity. If A is also selfadjoint, then all eigenvalues are real and H has an orthonormal basis made of eigenvectors of A.

**Lemma 3.** Let A be a closed densely defined operator on a complex Hilbert space H such that  $\rho(A) \neq \emptyset$ . Then for any  $\lambda_0 \in \rho(A)$  we have

$$\rho(A) = \{\lambda_0\} \cup \{\lambda \in \mathbb{C} : \lambda \neq \lambda_0 \text{ and } (\lambda - \lambda_0)^{-1} \in \rho(R_A(\lambda_0))\}.$$

Now we are able to describe the spectrum of a self-adjoint operator with compact resolvent (see Theorem 4.1.6 [50]).

**Theorem 23.** Let A be a densely defined self-adjoint operator on a complex Hilbert space H. If A has compact resolvent, then  $\sigma(A)$  is a sequence of real isolated eigenvalues, diverging to  $\infty$ . Each eigenvalue has finite multiplicity and H has an orthonormal basis made of eigenfunctions of A.

#### 1.4.2 Spectrum of hypoelliptic symmetric operator

In this section we want to describe the spectrum of operators with hypoelliptic symbols. For this reason we recall the following definition.

**Definition 26.** A symbol  $a \in S(M; \phi, \psi)$  is called (global) hypoelliptic, if there exist a temperate weight  $M_0(x, \xi)$  and a radius R > 0, such that

$$|a(x,\xi)| \gtrsim M_0(x,\xi) \quad for \ |x| + |\xi| \ge R,$$
 (1.60)

and, for every  $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}^d$ 

$$|\partial_{\xi}^{\alpha}\partial_{x}^{\beta}a(x,\xi)| \lesssim |a(x,\xi)|\psi(x,\xi)^{-|\alpha|}\phi(x,\xi)^{-|\beta|}, \quad |x|+|\xi| \ge R.$$
(1.61)

We denote the class of such symbols by  $Hypo(M, M_0)$ .

Now we study the spectrum of operators with hypoelliptic symbols. For this reason we recall the following proposition (see for more details Proposition 4.2.5 [50])

**Proposition 21.** Assume the strong uncertainty principle (1.21). Consider a pseudodifferential operator A with symbol in  $H(M, M_0)$ , with  $M_0(x, \xi) \to +\infty$ at infinity. Then its closure  $\overline{A}$  in  $L^2$  has either spectrum  $\sigma(\overline{A}) = \mathbb{C}$  or has a compact resolvent.

Now we can recall the main result: the spectral theorem for operators with hypoelliptic symbols (see Theorem 4.2.9 [50])

**Theorem 24.** Assume the strong uncertainty principle (1.21). Consider a pseudodifferential operator A with real-valued symbol in  $H(M, M_0)$ , with  $M_0(x, \xi) \to +\infty$  at infinity. Its closure  $\overline{A}$  in  $L^2$  has spectrum given by a sequence of real eigenvalues either diverging to  $+\infty$  or  $-\infty$ . The eigenvalues have all finite multiplicity and the eigenfunctions belong to  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . Moreover  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  has an orthonormal basis made of eigenfunctions of  $\overline{A}$ .

#### 1.4.3 Weyl Asymptotics

In this section, we consider the classes  $OP\Gamma_{\rho}^{m}(\mathbb{R}^{d})$ , m > 0,  $0 < \rho \leq 1$ , (see Definition 20), and we recall the asymptotic distribution of the eigenvalues of some special classes of elliptic self-adjoint operators.

In particular, we denote by  $\lambda_j$  the eigenvalues of an operator A and we define the so-called *counting function* 

$$N(\lambda) = \sharp \{ j : \lambda_j \leq \lambda \}.$$

We can describe the asymptotic behaviour of the  $N(\lambda)$ . For this reason we recall the following theorem (for more details see Theorem 4.6.3 [50])

**Theorem 25.** Let  $a \in \Gamma^m_{\rho}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , m > 0,  $0 < \rho \leq 1$  be real valued,

$$a(x,\xi) = a_m(x,\xi) + a_{m-\rho}(x,\xi) \quad for |x| + |\xi| \ large$$

where  $a_m(x,\xi)$  is real value and satisfies  $0 < a_m(tx,t\xi) + t^m a_m(x,\xi)$ , for t > 0,  $(x,\xi) \in \mathbb{R}^d$ , and  $a_{m-\rho}(x,\xi) \in \Gamma_{\rho}^{m-\rho}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . Then the counting function  $N(\lambda)$  of the operator a(x,D) has the asymptotic behaviour

$$N(\lambda) \sim C\lambda^{\frac{2d}{m}} \quad as \ \lambda \to +\infty,$$
 (1.62)

where C is given by

$$C = \frac{(2\pi)^{-d}}{2d} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{2d-1}} a_m(\Theta)^{-\frac{2d}{m}} d\Theta.$$
 (1.63)

We note that, by using the homogeneity of  $a_m$ , we can rewrite the formula (1.62) as

$$N(\lambda) \sim \int_{a_m(x,\xi) \le \lambda} \overline{d}x \, \overline{d}\xi \quad \text{as } \lambda \to +\infty,$$
 (1.64)

which is, up to the factor  $(2d)^{-1}$ , the volume of the set

$$\{(x,\xi)\in\mathbb{R}^{2d}:a_m(x,\xi)\leq\lambda\}.$$

We can also deduce the asymptotic behaviour of eigenvalues and we recall the well known Theorem (for more details see Theorem 4.6.4 [50])

**Theorem 26.** Under the hypotheses of Theorem 25 we have

$$\lambda_j \sim C^{-\frac{m}{2d}} j^{\frac{m}{2d}} \quad as \ j \to +\infty, \tag{1.65}$$

where C is given in (1.63).

## Chapter 2

# Normal forms and conjugations for second order self-adjoint globally elliptic operators

We consider second order self–adjoint differential operators generalizing the harmonic oscillator

$$P(x,D) = -\Delta + \langle Ax, D_x \rangle + \langle Bx, x \rangle + \langle M, D_x \rangle + \langle N, x \rangle + r, \quad (2.1)$$

where  $A, B \in M_n(\mathbb{R})$ , B is symmetric,  $M, N \in \mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $r \in \mathbb{C}$ . We decompose the matrix A to symmetric and skew-symmetric components

$$A = A_{symm} + A_{skew}, \quad A_{symm} = \frac{1}{2}(A + A^T), A_{skew} = \frac{1}{2}(A - A^T), \quad (2.2)$$

with  $A_{symm}^T = A_{symm}$  and

$$A_{skew}^T = -A_{skew}.$$
 (2.3)

There exist non zero skew-symmetric matrices only for  $n \ge 2$ . We note that (2.3) implies that the quadratic form

$$\langle A_{skew}x, x \rangle = 0, \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^n,$$

$$(2.4)$$

and if  $A_{skew}$  is non singular it is called symplectic.

The hypothesis  $A = A_{symm}$  is equivalent to the closedness of the 1-form Axdx, namely, there exists a quadratic form U(x) such that  $\nabla U = Ax$ . One notes that  $A_{skew} \neq 0$  is equivalent to Axdx is not closed.

**Example 1.** Consider the following symmetric Shubin operator on  $\mathbb{R}^2$ 

$$L(x,D) = -\Delta + \sigma(x_1 D_{x_1} + x_2 D_{x_2}) + \tau(x_2 D_{x_1} - x_1 D_{x_2}) + b_1 x_1^2 + b_2 x_2^2, \ \sigma, \tau, b_1, b_2 \in \mathbb{R}$$
(2.5)

One checks easily that L is globally elliptic iff  $\min\{b_1, b_2\} > \sigma^2/4 + \tau^2/4$ ,  $A_{skew} \neq 0$  if  $\tau \neq 0$  while for  $\sigma = 0$ ,  $b_1 = b_2 = |\tau|^2/4 > 0$  we recapture self adjoint generalizations of the twisted Laplacian L ( $\tau = -1$ ) and its transposed  $L^t$  ( $\tau = 1$ ), cf. [13], [25] and the references therein.

We also investigate perturbations P + b(x,D) of (2.1) with zero order pseudodifferential operators b(x,D) on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  of Shubin type

$$b(x,D)u = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} e^{ix\xi} b(x,\xi)\hat{u}(\xi) \ \overline{d}\xi.$$
(2.6)

Our goals could be summarized as follows

- To derive reductions of P (and P+b) to simpler normal forms by means of transformations associated to affine sympletic maps introduced by Hörmander [37] for general classes of p.d.o. on  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , namely, via unitary maps of  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  generated by  $e^{i < Qx, x>}$ , Q being real symmetric  $n \times n$ matrix,  $e^{i < \alpha, x>}$ ,  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}^n$ , translations, the action of SO(n) and global FIO with quadratic phase functions.
- To prove that the corresponding normal form transformations (NFT) preserve the Schwartz class  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and and the Gelfand–Shilov spaces  $S^{\mu}_{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^n), \ \mu \geq 1/2$ , and the classes of Shubin type pseudodifferential operators.

• To apply the normal forms for getting novel discrete representation of the action of Shubin type p.d.o. and for the study of the spectral properties as well as the hypoellipticity and the solvability of P in  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and  $S^{\mu}_{\nu}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

The first set of new result of the thesis could be summarized as follows: we show that the only obstruction to the reduction of the second order selfadjoint globally elliptic operator P to a multidimensional harmonic oscillator  $H_{\omega}$  is the presence of non zero skew-symmetric mixed term in  $\langle A_{skew}x, D_x \rangle$ . More precisely, we solve completely the problems related to the reduction to harmonic oscillator normal form of P and to aforementioned issues provided there are no rotations in the mixed term perturbation  $\langle Ax, D \rangle$ , namely

$$A ext{ is symmetric.}$$
 (2.7)

Clearly the symmetry condition above is not superfluous if  $n \ge 2$ . We point out that a globally elliptic self-adjoint operator in  $\mathbb{R}^2$  containing, as the twisted Laplacian , a skew-symmetric part in A, is an example when no separation of variables is possible as outlined above.

The second main goal is to study normal forms for anisotropic versions of elliptic self-adjoint Shubin type operators which might be viewed as perturbations of anisotropic harmonic oscillators of the type  $-\Delta + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \omega_j^2 x_j^{2k}$ ,  $\omega_j > 0$ ,  $k \ge 2$ . It turns out that it is not enough to ask for the symmetry of the mixed term. One needs additional separation of variables type hypothesis in order to derive and classify the possible normal forms and the spectral and hypoellipticity-solvability properties. However we do not consider perturbations with zero order p.d.o. since the conjugation encounters nontrivial issues like the appearance of global Fourier integral operators with phase functions admitting superquadratic (at least cubic) growth for  $|\mathbf{x}| \to \infty$ .

# 2.1 Preliminaries on symmetric Shubin type second order operators

Using standard arguments on quadratic forms and integration by parts we characterize completely the second order linear symmetric Shubin operators.

#### Proposition 22.

$$P = -\Delta + \langle Ax, D_x \rangle + \langle Bx, x \rangle + \langle L, D_x \rangle + \langle M, x \rangle + p, \qquad (2.8)$$

where  $A, B \in M_n(\mathbb{R})$  are symmetric matrix, and  $L, M \in \mathbb{C}^n, p \in \mathbb{C}$ . Then following assertions are equivalent

- i) P is symmetric,
- *ii)*  $L, M \in \mathbb{R}^n, \ p+i\frac{tr(A_{symm})}{2} \in \mathbb{R}.$

Finally, P is globally elliptic iff the symmetric matrix

$$B - \frac{A_{symm}^2}{4} + \frac{A_{skew}^2}{4} + \frac{1}{4}(A_{symm}A_{skew} - A_{symm}A_{skew}) > 0.$$
(2.9)

*Proof.* One has, taking into account that  $\operatorname{tr}(A) = \operatorname{tr}(A_{symm})$ ,

$$P^*(x,D) = -\Delta + \langle Ax, D_x \rangle + \langle Bx, x \rangle + \langle \overline{L}, D_x \rangle + \langle \overline{M}, x \rangle + \overline{p} - i \frac{Tr(A_{symm})}{2}, \quad (2.10)$$

which yields the equivalence i)  $\Leftrightarrow$  ii). As it concerns the global ellipticity, we write explicitly the principal symbol and we obtain the hypothesis.

**Remark 6.** We observe that if P is defined by (2.8) its transposed  $P^t$  is defined as follows

$$P^{t} = -\Delta - \langle Ax, D_{x} \rangle + \langle Bx, x \rangle - \langle L, D_{x} \rangle + \langle M, x \rangle + p.$$
(2.11)

It is easy to check that if  $P = P^*$  we have  $P^t = P$  iff A = 0.

### 2.2 Reduction to a global normal form

Let P be a second order globally symmetric linear differential operator of Shubin type in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ 

$$P = -\Delta + \langle Ax, D_x \rangle + \langle Bx, x \rangle + \langle L, D_x \rangle + \langle M, x \rangle + p - i \frac{TrA_{symm}}{2}, \qquad (2.12)$$

where  $A, B \in M_n(\mathbb{R})$ , B is symmetric matrix, and  $L, M \in \mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $p \in \mathbb{R}$ .

We propose refinements of results of Sjöstrand [59] on the classification of second order Shubin differential operators.

**Theorem 27.** Suppose that

$$A = A_{symm}.$$
 (2.13)

Then the following assertions are equivalent for P defined by (2.12):

- i) P is globally elliptic.
- ii) There exists an unitary transformation  $U: L^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \mapsto L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , where

$$Uv(x) = e^{-i\frac{1}{4}(\langle A_{symm}x, x \rangle + \langle \alpha, x \rangle)}v(S_0x), \quad \alpha \in \mathbb{R}^n, S_0 \in SO(\mathbb{R}^n), \quad (2.14)$$

such that

$$U^* \circ P \circ U = H_{\omega} = -\Delta + \sum_{j=1}^n \omega_j^2 x_j^2 + r = -\Delta + \langle D_{\omega}^2 x, x \rangle + r \quad (2.15)$$

for some  $\boldsymbol{\omega} = (\boldsymbol{\omega}_1, \dots, \boldsymbol{\omega}_n), \ \boldsymbol{\omega}_j > 0, \ j = 1, \dots, n, \ r \in \mathbb{R}.$ 

The spectrum of P which coincides with the spectrum of  $H_{\omega}$  is given by

$$spec(H_{\omega}) = \{\lambda_{\omega}(k) + r := \sum_{j=1}^{n} \omega_{j}(2k_{j}+1) + r = 2 < \omega, k > +|\omega| + r, \quad k \in \mathbb{Z}_{+}^{n}\}$$
(2.16)

with an orthonormal basis of eigenfunctions

$$H_k^{\boldsymbol{\omega}}(x) := \left(\prod_{j=1}^n \omega_j\right)^{1/2} H_k(D_{\boldsymbol{\omega}}^{1/2} x) = \left(\prod_{j=1}^n \omega_j\right)^{1/2} \prod_{j=1}^n H_{k_j}(\omega_j^{1/2} x_j).$$
(2.17)

and setting

$$\{\boldsymbol{\omega}_1,\ldots,\boldsymbol{\omega}_n\}=\{\boldsymbol{\theta}_j: j=1,\ldots,d, \boldsymbol{\theta}_j\neq \boldsymbol{\theta}_\ell, 1\leq j<\ell\leq d\}$$

with  $mult(\theta_j) = n_j, n_1 + n_2 + ... + n_d = n$ , we rewrite (2.16)

$$spec(H_{\omega}) := \{s_{\theta}(q) + r : s(q) = \sum_{s=1}^{d} n_{s} \theta_{s}(2q_{s}+1) = 2 < \theta, q > +n_{1}\theta_{1} + \ldots + n_{d}\theta_{d}, q \in \mathbb{Z}_{+}^{d}\}$$
(2.18)

with the multiplicity of  $s_{\theta}(q) + r$  expressed in the following way

$$mult(s_{\theta}(q)) = (\sum_{k^{1} \in \mathbb{Z}_{+}^{n_{1}}; |k^{1}| = q_{1}} 1) \dots (\sum_{k^{d} \in \mathbb{Z}_{+}^{n_{d}}; |k^{d}| = q_{d}} 1)$$
(2.19)

provided that  $\theta_1, \ldots, \theta_d$  are non resonant.

Finally,  $H_{\omega} + r$  is invariant under the linear action of the subgroup  $SO_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ defined as follows:

$$SO_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^n) := \bigoplus_{j=1}^k SO(\mathbb{R}^{n_j}).$$
 (2.20)

In particular, if  $\omega_j \neq \omega_\ell$ ,  $j \neq \ell$ ,  $SO_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  consist of  $2^n$  symmetries  $x = (x_1, \dots, x_n) \mapsto (\varepsilon_1 x_1, \dots, \varepsilon_n x_n), \ \varepsilon_j \in \{1, -1\}, \ j = 1, \dots, n.$ 

Next, we show that the NFT U is an automorphism in the scale of function spaces in the theory of the Shubin type operators.

**Theorem 28.** Let U be a unitary transformation defined by (2.14). Then U and the convolution map U\* defined by

$$U * v(x) = e^{-i\frac{1}{4}(\langle A_{symm}x, x \rangle + \langle \alpha, x \rangle)} * v(S_0 x)$$
  
=  $\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} e^{-i\frac{1}{4}(\langle A_{symm}(x-y), (x-y) \rangle + \langle \alpha, x-y \rangle)} v(Sy) dy$  (2.21)

are automorphisms of  $B(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , where

$$B(\mathbb{R}^n) = \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n), \ B(\mathbb{R}^n) = Q^s(\mathbb{R}^n), s \in \mathbb{R},$$
  
$$B(\mathbb{R}^n) = S_v^{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^n), \mu \ge v \ge 1/2.$$
(2.22)

Finally, we show that the conjugation with U is an automorphism in the space of Shubin class symbols and p.d.o. of fixed order m.

**Theorem 29.** Let b(x,D) be a Shubin p.d.o. of order  $m \in \mathbb{R}$ . Then

$$U^* \circ b(x, D) \circ U = b_{NF}(x, D) \tag{2.23}$$

where  $b_{NF}$  is a Shubin p.d.o. of order m whose symbol  $b_{NF}(x,\xi) = \widetilde{b}_{NF}(S_0^t x, S_0 \xi)$ satisfies

$$\widetilde{b}_{NF}(x,\xi) \sim \sum_{\alpha \in \mathbb{Z}_{+}^{n}} \frac{1}{\alpha!} (A\partial_{\xi})^{\alpha} D_{\xi} b(x,\xi+2Ax+a)$$
(2.24)

If we want summarize the results above, we can say that the spectrum of the original perturbed operator P(x,D) + b(x,D), the global solvability and global hypoellipticity in function spaces  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ ,  $Q^s(\mathbb{R}^n)$ ,  $S^{\mu}_{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , is characterized by the family of equivalent NF, using the action of  $SO_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ 

$$S^{T} \circ U^{*} \circ (P(x,D) + b(x,D)) \circ U \circ S = H_{\omega} + r + b_{NF}(Sx,S^{T}D).$$

$$(2.25)$$

In view of the fact that  $H_{\omega} + r$  is globally hypoelliptic in  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and  $S^{\mu}_{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  (e.g., see [58], [6]) and globally solvable iff

$$\lambda_{\omega}(k) - r \neq 0, \quad k \in \mathbb{Z}_{+}^{n}, \tag{2.26}$$

we can derive the following perturbation result on the solvability of P+b.

**Proposition 23.** Suppose that (2.26) holds. Then there exists a small positive constant C such that

$$\max_{\alpha,\beta\in\mathbb{Z}_{+}^{n},|\alpha|\leq n+1,|\beta|\leq n+1}\sup_{(x,\xi)\in\mathbb{R}^{2n}}|\partial_{x}^{\beta}\partial_{\xi}^{\beta}b_{NF}(x,\xi)| < C\min_{k\in\mathbb{Z}_{+}^{n}}|\lambda_{\omega}(k)+r| \quad (2.27)$$

then P+b is invertible in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and solvable in  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

Next, we derive the one the main novel results, motivated by and borrowing ideas from the fundamental paper Greendfield and Wallach [30]. In this paper, they study the global hypoellipticity of commuting differential operators on compact Riemannian manifold using discrete representations for commuting normal differential operators. In fact, we derive perturbations the discrete representation in the case when of commuting operators and simple eigenvalues and application . We characterize completely the global properties of P + b, if the commutator [P,b] = 0, provided the eigenvalues of P are simple.

**Theorem 30.** Suppose that the eigenvalues of *P* are simple, i.e.,

$$\boldsymbol{\omega}_1, \dots, \boldsymbol{\omega}_n$$
 are non resonant. (2.28)

Then there is a unique map  $\mathbb{N} \ni j \mapsto k(j) \in \mathbb{Z}_+^n$  such that

$$\lambda_j = \lambda_{k(j)} = 2 < \omega, k(j) > + |\omega| + r, \quad j \in \mathbb{N}, \ \lambda_1 < \lambda_2 < \ldots < \lambda_j < \ldots \ (2.29)$$

(k(j) = j - 1 when n = 1) and if

$$[P(x,D),b(x,D)] = 0, (2.30)$$

then b(x,D) has the following discrete representation

$$b(x,D)u = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}_+^n} b(k)\Phi_k(x) = \sum_{j=1}^\infty \tilde{b}_j \varphi_j(x), \qquad (2.31)$$

where  $\Phi_k = U(H_k \omega)$  stands for the orthonormal basis of P,  $\tilde{b}_j = b(k(j))$ ,  $\varphi_j(x) = \Phi_{k(j)}(x), \ j \in \mathbb{N}$  with  $b_k$ ,  $\tilde{b}_j$  satisfying

$$\sup_{k\in\mathbb{Z}^n_+} |b_k| = \sup_{j\in\mathbb{N}} |\tilde{b}_j| < +\infty.$$
(2.32)

Finally, we claim that

$$P(x,D) + b(x,D) is global hypoelliptic in S^{\mu}_{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^n), \ \mu \ge 1/2.$$
(2.33)

We stress the important point concerning (2.33): we do not require that b(x,D) is Gelfand–Shilov Shubin type p.d.o. as in [5], [6], [7], [8]. For example, if g(t) is smooth bounded function which is not analytic, satisfying  $|g^{(j)}(t)| = O(|t|^{-j}), t \to \infty, j \in \mathbb{Z}_+, g(P)$  is well defined Shubin p.d.o. with principal symbol  $g(P(x,\xi))$  which commutes with P.

One is led to conjecture, taking into account the fact that the p.d.o. calculus rules are valid modulo smoothing operators, that if P and q commute modulo regularizing operator we can assume that b equals commuting operator plus a regularizing one.

#### 2.2.1 Proof of the NF result

In the proof of Theorem 27 we will make use of the following well known lemmas:

Lemma 4. Let P be the operator

$$P = -\Delta + \sum_{j=1}^{n} a_j x_j D_{x_j} + \langle Bx, x \rangle + \langle L, D_x \rangle + \langle M, x \rangle + p, \qquad (2.34)$$

where  $a = (a_1, ..., a_n) \in \mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $B \in M_n(\mathbb{R})$  is symmetric,  $L, M \in \mathbb{R}^n$  and  $p \in \mathbb{C}$ . Then  $u = e^{i\psi(x)}v(x)$ , where  $\psi(x) = \frac{1}{4}\sum_{j=1}^n a_j x_j^2$  satisfies

$$P(e^{i\psi}v(x)) = e^{i\psi(x)} \left(-\Delta + \langle Cx, x \rangle + \langle L, D_x \rangle + \langle N, x \rangle + q\right)v(x),$$

where  $C = B - \frac{1}{4} \sum_{j=1}^{n} a_j x_j^2$ ,  $N = M + diag \{a_1, \dots, a_n\} L \in \mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $q = p - \frac{i}{2} \sum_{j=1}^{n} a_j$ .

Lemma 5. Let P be the operator

$$P = D_x^2 + \sum_{j=1}^n c_j x_j^2 + \langle L, D_x \rangle + \langle M, x \rangle + p, \qquad (2.35)$$

2. Normal forms and conjugations for second order self-adjoint globally elliptic 52 operators

where 
$$c = (c_1, ..., n) \in \mathbb{R}^n$$
,  $L, M \in \mathbb{R}^n$  and  $p \in \mathbb{R}$ . Then  $u = e^{i\psi(x)}v(x)$ , where  
 $\psi(x) = -\frac{\langle L, x \rangle}{2}$  satisfies  
 $P(e^{i\psi(x)}v(x)) = e^{i\psi(x)} \left( D_x^2 + \sum_{j=1}^n c_j x_j^2 + \langle M, x \rangle + p - \frac{\|L\|^2}{4} \right) v(x).$ 
Now we can prove Theorem 27

Now we can prove Theorem 27.

*Proof.* First we reduce A to diagonal form  $diag \{a_1, \ldots, a_n\}$  by orthogonal transformation  $x \to S_1 x, S_1 \in SO(n)$ , so the operator P becomes

$$D_x^2 + \sum_{j=1}^n a_j x_j D_{x_j} + \langle B' x, x \rangle + \langle L', D_x \rangle + \langle M', x \rangle + p', \qquad (2.36)$$

where  $B' = S_1^t B S_1$ ,  $L' = S_1^t L$  and  $M' = S_1^t M$ .

Now we apply Lemma 4 and reduce (2.36) to

$$D_x^2 + \langle B''x, x \rangle + \langle L'', D_x \rangle + \langle M'', x \rangle + p''.$$
(2.37)

with B'' symmetric. Next, we reduce B'' to diagonal form  $diag \{b_1, \ldots, b_n\}$ , by means of orthogonal transformation  $x \to S_2 x$ ,  $S_2 \in SO(n)$ , so the operator (2.37) becomes

$$P''' = D_x^2 + \sum_{j=1}^n b_j x_j^2 + \langle L''', D_x \rangle + \langle M''', x \rangle + p'', \qquad (2.38)$$

where  $L''' = S_2^t L''$  and  $M''' = S_2^t M''$ . We note hat the global ellipticity is invariant under the previous transformations which means that the global ellipticity is equivalent o  $b_j > 0$  for j = 1, ..., n. Next, we apply Lemma 5 and transform the operator (2.38) to

$$\tilde{P} = D_x^2 + \sum_{j=1}^n b_j x_j^2 + \langle \tilde{L}, x \rangle + \ell.$$
(2.39)

Now we apply the translation  $T_{\gamma}(x_j) = x_j + \gamma_j$ , where  $\gamma_j = -\frac{\hat{L}_j}{2}$ , j = 1, ..., nand we obtain the normal form operator

$$P_{NF} = -\Delta + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \omega_j^2 x_j^2 + r, \quad \omega_j = \sqrt{b_j}, \ j = 1, \dots, n, \ r = \ell - \sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{\hat{L}_j}{2}.$$
 (2.40)

Ad it concerns the explicit form of the spectrum and the eigenfunctions, the dilations  $x_j = \omega_j^{-1/2} y_j$ , j = 1, ..., n transform  $P_{NF}$  to  $\sum_{j=1}^n \omega_j (D_{y_j}^2 + y_j^2) + r$ . The invariance under the action of  $SO^{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  follows from the definition of the centralizer of matrices and the restriction to the corresponding orthogonal groups. The proof is complete.

# 2.3 Normal form transformations in Gelfand-Shilov spaces

We introduce decreasing scales of Banach spaces defining  $S_{\mathcal{V}}^{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ :

$$HS^{\mu}_{\nu}(L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n});\rho,\sigma) = \left\{ f \in S^{\mu}_{\nu}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) : \|f\|_{L^{p};\mu,\nu;\rho,\sigma} := \sup_{\alpha,\beta \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}_{+}} \left( \frac{\rho^{|\alpha|}\sigma^{|\beta|}}{\alpha!^{\mu}\beta!^{\nu}} |x^{\beta}\partial^{\alpha}f|_{L^{p}} \right) \right\},$$

$$(2.41)$$

If  $\mu < 1$  we will use the fact that the functions of  $S^{\mu}_{\nu}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  are restrictions of entire functions  $f \in \mathscr{O}(\mathbb{C}^n)$  belonging for some a, b > 0 to the following Banach space of entire functions  $\mathscr{O}S^{\mu}_{\nu}(\mathbb{R}^n; a, b) =$ 

$$\left\{ f \in \mathscr{O}(\mathbb{C}^{n}) : \|f\|_{\mathscr{O};\mu,\nu;a,b} := \sup_{z=x+iy\in\mathbb{C}^{n}} \left( |f(x+iy)|e^{a|x|^{1/\nu} - b|y|^{1/(1-\mu)}} \right) < +\infty \right\}$$
(2.42)

Another useful  $S^{\mu}_{\nu}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  norms containing exponential decay are defined by

$$\|f\|_{\mu,\nu;a,b} := \sup_{\alpha \in \mathbb{Z}_+^n} \left( \frac{a^{-|\alpha|}}{\alpha!^{\mu}} |e^{b|x|^{1/\nu}} \partial_x^{\alpha} f(x)|_{L^{\infty}} \right), \quad a,b > 0.$$

$$(2.43)$$

Next we derive some estimates typical for decreasing scales of Banach spaces.

Proposition 24. Let  $\rho > \tilde{\rho}, \sigma > \tilde{\sigma}$ . Then

$$HS^{\mu}_{\nu}(L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n});\rho,\sigma) \hookrightarrow HS^{\mu}_{\nu}(L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n});\tilde{\rho},\tilde{\sigma}).$$

Moreover, the Gelfand-Shilov spaces are defined as inductive limits

$$S^{\mu}_{\nu}(\mathbb{R}^n) = \bigcup_{\rho \searrow 0, \sigma \searrow 0} HS^{\mu}_{\nu}(L^p(\mathbb{R}^n); \rho, \sigma), \quad 1 \le p \le +\infty.$$

for all  $\mu, \nu > 0, \ \mu + \nu \ge 1$  and

$$S^{\mu}_{\mathcal{V}}(\mathbb{R}^n) = \bigcup_{a\searrow 0, b\searrow 0} \mathscr{O}S^{\mu}_{\mathcal{V}}(\mathbb{R}^n; a, b),$$

provided  $0 < \mu < 1, \ \mu + \nu \ge 1$ .

*Proof.* The proof for the  $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  based norms is well known, while for the  $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$  based norm we use the Sobolev embedding type theorems.  $\Box$ 

We recall that by the Sobolev embedding theorem we get that if  $f \in H^{[n/2]+1}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  we have

$$|f(x)| \le \varkappa_n \sqrt{\|f\|^2 + \sum_{k=1}^n \|\partial_{x_k}^{[n/2]+1} f\|^2}, \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^n, \varkappa_n := \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{1}{1 + \sum_{k=1}^n \xi_k^{2[n/2]+2}} d\xi\right)^{1/2} (2.44)$$

Next, we derive  $L^2$  Sobolev type embedding theorem in the Gelfand– Shilov spaces. We write for brevity  $||f||_{\rho,\sigma} := ||f||_{L^2;\mu,\nu,\rho,\delta}$  for fixed  $\mu, \nu > 0$ .

**Theorem 31.** Let  $\mu, \nu > 0$ ,  $\mu + \nu \ge 1$ . Then  $HS^{\mu}_{\nu}(L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n); \rho, \sigma) \hookrightarrow HS^{\mu}_{\nu}(L^2(\mathbb{R}^n); \rho, \sigma)$ and the following estimates hold:

$$\|f\|_{L^{\infty};\mu,\nu;\varepsilon\rho,\delta\sigma} \leq \varkappa_n K_{\mu,\nu}(\rho,\sigma,\varepsilon,\delta) \|f\|_{\rho,\sigma}, \quad f \in HS^{\mu}_{\nu}(L^2(\mathbb{R}^n);\rho,\sigma), \quad (2.45)$$

where

$$K_{\mu,\nu}(\rho,\sigma,\varepsilon,\delta) = \sqrt{1 + (\rho^{-1} + \sigma)^{2[n/2] + 2} C_{\mu,\nu}^2(\varepsilon,\delta)}, \ C_{\mu,\nu}(\varepsilon,\delta) > 0, \quad (2.46)$$

 $\textit{for } \rho, \sigma > 0, \ 0 < \epsilon < 1, \ \delta = 1 \textit{ if } \nu \geq 1, \ 0 < \delta < 1 \textit{ if } \nu < 1.$ 

*Proof.* We will make use of the following lemma:
**Lemma 6.** Let  $\mu, \nu > 0$ ,  $\mu + \nu \ge 1$ ,  $\rho, \sigma > 0$ ,  $\gamma \in \mathbb{Z}^n_+ \setminus 0$ ,  $0 < \varepsilon < 1$ ,  $0 < \delta \le 1$ , with  $\delta < 1$  if  $\nu < 1$ . Then the following estimates hold:

$$\|\partial_x^{\gamma} u\|_{\varepsilon\rho,\delta\sigma} \le (\rho^{-1} + \sigma)^{|\gamma|} K_{\mu}(\varepsilon, |\gamma|) K_{\max\{0,1-\nu\}}(\delta, |\gamma|) \|u\|_{\rho,\sigma}, \qquad (2.47)$$

where

$$K_{t}(\boldsymbol{\omega},s) = \begin{cases} \sup_{k \ge 0} \left( \boldsymbol{\omega}^{k} ((k+1)\dots(k+s))^{t} \right) < +\infty & \text{if } 0 < \boldsymbol{\omega} < 1, \\ 1 & \text{if } t = 0, 0 < \boldsymbol{\omega} \le 1 \\ (2.48) \end{cases}, s \in \mathbb{N}.$$

*Proof.* We have

$$\begin{split} [u]_{\mu,\nu;\epsilon\rho,\delta\sigma}^{\alpha,\beta;\gamma}(x) &= \frac{|\partial_x^{\gamma}(x^{\beta}\partial_x^{\alpha}u(x))|(\epsilon\rho)^{|\alpha|}(\delta\sigma)^{|\beta|}}{\alpha!^{\mu}\beta!^{\nu}} \\ &\leq \sum_{j\leq\gamma} \binom{\gamma}{j} \frac{\beta!}{(\beta-\gamma+j)!} \frac{|x^{\beta-\gamma+j}\partial_x^{\alpha+j}u(x)|(\epsilon\rho)^{|\alpha|}(\delta\sigma)^{|\beta|}}{\alpha!^{\mu}\beta!^{\nu}} \\ &= \epsilon^{|\alpha|}\delta^{|\beta|} \sum_{j\leq\gamma} \binom{\gamma}{j}\rho^{-|j|}\sigma^{|\gamma-j|} \left(\frac{\beta!}{(\beta-\gamma+j)!}\right)^{1-\nu} \left(\frac{(\alpha+j)!}{\alpha!}\right)^{\mu} \\ &\times \left( \left| x^{\beta-\gamma+j}\partial_x^{\alpha+j}u(x) \right| \frac{\rho^{|\alpha+j|}\sigma^{|\beta-\gamma+j|}}{(\alpha+j)!^{\mu}(\beta+\gamma-j)!^{\nu}} \right) \\ &\leq \epsilon^{|\alpha|} (\prod_{s=1}^{|\gamma|} (|\alpha|+s))^{\mu}\delta^{|\beta|} (\prod_{s=1}^{|\gamma|} (|\beta|+s))^{\max\{0,1-\nu\}} \sum_{j\leq\gamma} \binom{\gamma}{j}\rho^{-|j|}\sigma^{|\gamma-j|} \\ &\times \left( \left| x^{\beta-\gamma+j}\partial_x^{\alpha+j}u(x) \right| \frac{\rho^{|\alpha+j|}\sigma^{|\beta-\gamma+j|}}{(\alpha+j)!^{\mu}(\beta+\gamma-j)!^{\nu}} \right) \end{split}$$

which, in view of the identity  $\sum_{j \leq \gamma} {\gamma \choose j} \rho^{-|j|} \sigma^{|\gamma-j|} = (\rho^{-1} + \sigma)^{|\gamma|}$  yields the desired estimates.

Now we get immediately (2.45), (2.46). Indeed, taking into account the identity

$$\partial_{x_k}^{\ell}\left(x^{\beta}\partial_x^{\alpha}u\right) = \sum_{j=0}^{\ell} \left(\begin{array}{c}\ell\\j\end{array}\right) \beta_k \dots (\beta_k - j + 1) x^{\beta - je_k} \partial_x^{\alpha + (\ell - j)e_k} f, \quad k = 1, \dots, n,$$

2. Normal forms and conjugations for second order self-adjoint globally elliptic 56 operators

(2.44) for  $x^{\beta} \partial^{\alpha} f(x)$ 

$$\sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^n} |x^{\beta} \partial^{\alpha} f(x)| \leq \varkappa_n \sqrt{\|x^{\beta} \partial_x^{\alpha} f\|^2 + \sum_{k=1}^n \|\partial_{x_k}^{[n/2]+1} (x^{\beta} \partial_x^{\alpha} f)\|^2}$$

and (2.47), (2.48), we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \|u\|_{L^{\infty};\mu,\nu;\varepsilon\rho,\delta\sigma} &\leq \varkappa_{n} \sqrt{1 + n(\rho^{-1} + \sigma)^{2[n/2] + 2} K_{\mu}^{2}(\varepsilon, [\frac{n}{2}] + 1) K_{\max\{0,1-\nu\}}^{2}(\delta, [\frac{n}{2}] + 1)} \|u\|_{\rho,\sigma} \\ \text{which yields (2.45) with } C_{\mu,\nu}(\varepsilon, \delta) &= \sqrt{n} K_{\mu}(\varepsilon, [\frac{n}{2}] + 1) K_{\max\{0,1-\nu\}}(\delta, [\frac{n}{2}] + 1). \end{aligned}$$

Next, we classify the action of quadratic oscillations on Banach spaces in the full scale of Gelfand–Shilov spaces  $S_{\nu}^{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ ,  $\mu, \nu > 0$ ,  $\mu + \nu \ge 1$ , recapturing as a particular case the automorphism of the NFT in the symmetric Gelfand– Shilov spaces  $S_{\mu}^{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ ,  $\mu \ge 1/2$ . Since the Fourier transform  $\mathscr{F}$  is isomorphism  $\mathscr{F}: S_{\nu}^{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^n) \mapsto S_{\mu}^{\nu}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  one readily obtains that a map  $U: S_{\nu}^{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^n) \mapsto S_{\mu}^{\nu}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is isomorphism iff the convolution map  $U^*: S_{\mu}^{\nu}(\mathbb{R}^n) \mapsto S_{\nu}^{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is isomorphism. Hence it is enough to study the map U.

**Theorem 32.** Let  $E: L^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \mapsto L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  be the unitary map defined by  $Eu(x) = e^{i < Ax, x > u(x)}$ ,  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ , A being real symmetric matrix. We have.

1. Let  $0 < v \leq \mu$ ,  $\mu + v \geq 1$ . Then

$$E \text{ is an automorphism of } S^{\mu}_{\nu}(\mathbb{R}^n).$$
(2.49)

2. Let now  $0 < \mu < \nu, \ \mu + \nu \geq 1$ . Then

$$E: S^{\mu}_{\nu}(\mathbb{R}^n) \mapsto S^{\nu}_{\nu}(\mathbb{R}^n). \tag{2.50}$$

and (2.50) is sharp. In particular, E does not preserve  $S^{\mu}_{\nu}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

*Proof.* In view of the invariance of  $S^{\mu}_{\nu}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  under linear maps  $x \mapsto Sx$  and the reduction to the case A diagonal, it is enough to consider the one-dimensional case and  $E = e^{ix^2}$ . Let  $f \in S^{\mu}_{\nu}(\mathbb{R})$ . Then one can find positive constants  $C_0$ , a and b such that

$$|f^{(k)}(x)| \leq C_0 a^k k!^{\mu} e^{-b|x|^{1/\nu}}, \quad k \in \mathbb{Z}_+, x \in \mathbb{R}.$$
 (2.51)

We get by the Faa' di Bruno type formula

$$(e^{ix^{2}}f(x))^{(k)} = \sum_{j=0}^{k} {\binom{k}{j}} (\frac{d}{dx})^{j} (e^{ix^{2}}) f^{(k-j)}(x)$$
  
=  $e^{ix^{2}} f^{(k)}(x) + e^{ix^{2}} f^{[k-1]}(x)$  (2.52)

where

$$f^{[k-1]}(x) = e^{ix^2} \sum_{j=1}^{k} \sum_{j/2 \le \ell \le j} \Theta_{j,\ell}^k i^\ell x^{2\ell-j} f^{(k-j)}(x)$$
(2.53)

$$\Theta_{j,\ell}^{k} = \binom{k}{j} \binom{\ell}{2\ell-j} (j-\ell)! 2^{2\ell-j}.$$
(2.54)

Clearly

$$|\Theta_{j,\ell}^k| \leq 2^{k+3\ell-j}(j-\ell)!, \quad k, j, \ell \in \mathbb{N}, j/2 \leq \ell \leq j \leq k.$$

$$(2.55)$$

In view of (2.53) and (2.54) we get that for every  $\varepsilon \in ]0,b[$  the following estimates hold

$$e^{(b-\varepsilon)|x|^{1/\nu}}|(e^{ix^2}f(x))^{(k)}| \le C_0 \quad \left(a^k k!^{\mu} + \sum_{j=1}^k \sum_{j/2 \le \ell \le j} \Theta_{j,\ell}^k a^{k-j}(k-j)!^{\mu}|x|^{2\ell-j}e^{-\varepsilon|x|^{1/\nu}}\right).$$
(2.56)

Since  $\sup_{t\geq 0}(t^s e^{-\varepsilon t}) = s^s \varepsilon^{-s} e^{-s}$ , s > 0,  $\varepsilon > 0$ , we obtain that

$$\sup_{t \ge 0} \left( t^{2\ell - j} e^{-\varepsilon t^{1/\nu}} \right) = \varepsilon^{-\nu(2\ell - j)} (\nu(2\ell - j))^{\nu(2\ell - j)} e^{-\nu(2\ell - j)} = \left(\frac{\nu}{\varepsilon e}\right)^{\nu(2\ell - j)} (2\ell - j)^{\nu(2\ell - j)},$$
(2.57)

2. Normal forms and conjugations for second order self-adjoint globally elliptic 58operators

for  $j, \ell \in \mathbb{N}, j/2 \leq \ell \leq j$ . By the Stirling formula we can find  $C = C_v > 0$  such that

$$\sup_{t\geq 0} \left( t^{2\ell-j} e^{-\varepsilon t^{1/\nu}} \right) \leq C^{2\ell-j} \varepsilon^{-\nu(2\ell-j)} (\ell-j/2)!^{2\nu}, \quad j,\ell\in\mathbb{N}, j/2\leq\ell\leq j.$$
(2.58)

Plugging (2.58) into (2.56) we show, taking into account (2.51) and (2.54), that

$$e^{(b-\varepsilon)|x|^{1/\nu}} \frac{|D^{k}(e^{ix^{2}}f(x))|}{a^{k}k!^{\mu}} \leq C_{0} \left(1 + 4^{k} \sum_{j=1}^{k} \sum_{j/2 \leq \ell \leq j} a^{-j} (\varepsilon^{-\nu}C)^{2\ell-j} \frac{(j-\ell)!(\ell-j/2)!^{2\nu}}{j!^{\mu}}\right)$$

$$(2.59)$$

Now we see that the hypotheses  $0 < v \leq \mu$  is necessary and sufficient condition for estimating the RHS in (2.59) by  $C^k$ ,  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ . Indeed,  $\mu \ge v$  and  $\mu + v \ge 1$ implies  $2\mu \geq 1$  and therefore

$$\frac{(j-\ell)!(\ell-j/2)!^{2\nu}}{j!^{\mu}} \leq \frac{(j-\ell)!^{1-2\mu}((j-\ell)!(\ell-j/2)!)^{2\mu}}{j!^{\mu}} \leq \frac{((j/2)!)^{2\mu}}{j!^{\mu}} \leq 1$$

which implies that

$$|D^{k}(e^{i\alpha x^{2}}f(x))| \leq C_{0}(a + \frac{C}{\varepsilon^{\nu}})^{k}k!^{\mu}e^{-(b-\varepsilon)|x|^{1/\nu}}, \quad k \in \mathbb{Z}_{+}, 0 < \varepsilon \ll 1.$$
(2.60)

The proof in the case  $\nu > \mu$  follows from the fact  $2\nu \ge 1$  (otherwise  $\mu < \nu < 1/2$  contradicts  $\mu + \nu \ge 1$ ) by the estimates

$$\frac{(j-\ell)!(\ell-j/2)!^{2\nu}}{j!^{\mu}} \le \frac{(j-\ell)!(\ell-j/2)!^{2\nu}}{j!^{\nu}} \le \frac{((j/2)!)^{2\nu}}{j!^{\nu}} \le 1.$$

We propose another proof if  $\mu < 1$ . We use the norms of the spaces  $\mathscr{O}S^{\mu}_{\nu}(\mathbb{R}^{n}; a, b)$ , namely  $f \in S^{\mu}_{\nu}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ ,  $\mu < 1$  means that f is an entire function in  $\mathbb{C}^n$  and there exist positive constants  $C_0, a, b$  such that

$$|f(x+yi)| \leq C_0 e^{-a|x|^{1/\nu} + b|y|^{1/(1-\mu)}}, \quad x, y \in \mathbb{R}^n.$$
(2.61)

Without loss of generality we consider the onedimensional case n = 1.

One notes that

$$|e^{i(x+iy)^{2}}f(x+yi)| = |e^{-2xy}f(x+yi)|$$
  

$$\leq C_{0}e^{-a|x|^{1/\nu}+b|y|^{1/(1-\mu)}-2xy}, \quad x,y \in \mathbb{R}.$$
(2.62)

If  $v \leq \mu$ , by the Hölder inequality we get

$$2|xy| = 2|\varepsilon^{\nu}x||\varepsilon^{-\nu}y| \le 2\Big(\nu\varepsilon|x|^{1/\nu} + (1-\nu)\varepsilon^{-\nu/(1-\nu)}|y|^{1/(1-\nu)}\Big),$$

by which, combined with (2.62), we derive the following exponential decay in x estimate for all  $x, y \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $0 < \varepsilon \ll 1$ . One observes that  $1/(1-\nu) \le 1/(1-\mu)$  if  $\nu \le \mu$  which yields  $|y|^{1/(1-\nu)} \le |y|^{1/(1-\mu)} + 1$ ,  $y \in \mathbb{R}$ , and therefore

$$|e^{i(x+iy)^2}f(x+yi)| \le C_0 e^{2(1-\nu)\varepsilon^{-\nu/(1-\nu)}} e^{-(a-2\nu\varepsilon)|x|^{1/\nu} + (b+2(1-\nu)\varepsilon^{-\nu/(1-\nu)})|y|^{1/(1-\mu)}},$$
(2.63)  
for  $x, y \in \mathbb{R}$ .

We stress the fact that the transformation  $e^{i\langle Ax,x\rangle}$  does not preserves the  $H^{s_1,s_2}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , with  $s_1 \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $s_2 \ge 0$ 

# 2.4 NFT representation of pseudodifferential operators

Without loss of generality we assume  $S_0 = I_n$  and  $\alpha = 0$  in the NFT U which yields  $b(x,\xi) = \tilde{b}(x,\xi)$ . Hence, setting  $Q = 4^{-1}A_{symm}$ , we have

$$b_{NF}(x,D)v = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} e^{i(x-y)\xi + \langle Qx, x \rangle - \langle Qy, y \rangle} b(x,\xi)v(y)dy \,\overline{d}\xi$$
  
= 
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} e^{i(x-y)\xi + \langle Qx, x \rangle - \langle Qy, y \rangle} b(x,\xi) \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n_z} e^{i(y-z)\eta}v(z)d\eta dz \right) dy \,\overline{d}\xi.$$
  
(2.64)

Taking into account the standard oscillatory integral methods and the identity

$$e^{i(x-y)\xi+i(y-z)\eta} = e^{i(x-z)\eta}e^{i(x-y)(\xi-\eta)}.$$

we exchange the integration and get

$$b_{NF}(x,D)v = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} e^{i(x-z)\eta} b_{NF}(x,\eta)v(z)dz \,\overline{d}\eta, \qquad (2.65)$$

where

$$b_{NF}(x,\eta) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} e^{i(x-y)(\xi-\eta) + \langle Qx, x \rangle - \langle Qy, y \rangle} b(x,\xi) dy \, \overline{d}\xi.$$
(2.66)

Since Q is symmetric we can write

$$< Qx, x > - < Qy, y > = < (x - y), Q(x + y) > .$$
 (2.67)

Indeed, if  $S \in SO(\mathbb{R}^n)$  diagonalizes Q, i.e.,  $S^T Q S = \text{diag} \{q_1, \dots, q_n\}$ , setting  $x = S\tilde{x}, y = S\tilde{y}$ , we obtain that  $\langle Qx, x \rangle - \langle Qy, y \rangle$  is equal to

$$< S^{T}QS\tilde{x}, \tilde{x} > - < S^{T}QS\tilde{y}, \tilde{y} > = \sum_{j=1}^{n} q_{j}(\tilde{x}_{j}^{2} - \tilde{y}_{j}^{2})$$
  
$$= < (\tilde{x} - \tilde{y}), \text{diag} \{q_{1}, \dots, q_{n}\}(\tilde{x} + \tilde{y}) >$$
  
$$= < (\tilde{x} - \tilde{y}, S^{T}QS(\tilde{x} + \tilde{y}) > = < (x - y), Q(x + y) > .$$
  
(2.68)

Hence we can rewrite (2.66) as follows:

$$b_{NF}(x,\eta) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} e^{i(x-y)(\xi-\eta+Q(x+y))} b(x,\xi) dy \, \overline{d}\xi$$
  
= 
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} e^{iy\xi} b(x,\xi+\eta-2Qx+Qy) dy \, \overline{d}\xi \qquad (2.69)$$

after the change of the variables  $\xi \mapsto \xi - \eta + Q(x+y) = \xi - \eta + 2Qx - Q(x-y)$ ,  $y \mapsto x - y$ . Next, following the approach of Shubin used in [58], we apply the Taylor formula to

$$b(x,\xi+\eta-2Qx+Qy) = \sum_{|\alpha|\leq N} \frac{\xi^{\alpha}}{\alpha!} \partial_{\eta}^{\alpha} b(x,\eta-2Qx+Qy) + R_N(x,\xi,\eta,y)$$
(2.70)
$$R_N(x,\xi,\eta,y) = \sum_{|\beta|=N+1} \frac{1}{\beta!} \int_0^1 (1-t)^N \partial_{\eta}^{\beta} b(x,t\xi+\eta-2Qx+Qy) dt.$$

We have

$$B_{\alpha}(x,\eta) := \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} e^{iy\xi} \frac{\xi^{\alpha}}{\alpha!} \partial_{\eta}^{\alpha} b(x,\eta-2Qx+Qy) dy \, d\xi$$
  

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} D_{y}^{\alpha} \left( e^{iy\xi} \right) \frac{1}{\alpha!} \partial_{\eta}^{\alpha} b(x,\eta-2Qx+Qy) dy \, d\xi$$
  

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} e^{iy\xi} \frac{(-1)^{|\alpha|}}{\alpha!} D_{y}^{\alpha} \left( \partial_{\eta}^{\alpha} b(x,\eta-2Qx+Qy) \right) dy \, d\xi$$
  

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} e^{iy\xi} \frac{(-1)^{|\alpha|}}{\alpha!} (QD_{y}\eta)^{\alpha} \partial_{\eta}^{\alpha} b(x,\eta-2Qx+Qy) dy \, d\xi$$
  

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} e^{iy\xi} \, d\xi \right) \frac{(-1)^{|\alpha|}}{\alpha!} (QD_{\eta})^{\alpha} \partial_{\eta}^{\alpha} b(x,\eta-2Qx+Qy) dy.$$
  
(2.72)

We recall that

$$(2\pi)^{-n}\int_{\mathbb{R}^n}e^{iy\xi}d\xi=\delta(y),$$

 $\boldsymbol{\delta}(\boldsymbol{y})$  being the Dirac delta function centered in 0. Therefore

$$B_{\alpha}(x,\eta) = \frac{(-1)^{|\alpha|}}{\alpha!} (QD_{\eta})^{\alpha} \partial_{\eta}^{\alpha} b(x,\eta-2Qx). \qquad (2.73)$$

On the other hand, for the same arguments in [58], we derive that

$$\widetilde{B}_{N+1}(x,\boldsymbol{\eta}) := \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} e^{iy\xi} R_{N+1}(x,\boldsymbol{\eta},y,\boldsymbol{\xi}) dy \, \overline{d}\boldsymbol{\xi}$$
(2.74)

belongs to  $\Gamma^{m-N-1}(\mathbb{R}^{2n})$ . We have shown that

$$b_{NF}(x,\eta) - \sum_{|\gamma| \le N} \frac{(-1)^{|\alpha|}}{\alpha!} (QD_{\eta})^{\gamma} \partial_{\eta}^{\gamma} b(x,\eta - 2Qx) \in \Gamma^{m-N-1}(\mathbb{R}^{2n})$$

(2.71)

for every  $N \in \mathbb{N}$ .

We observe that

$$\left|\partial_x^{\beta}\partial_{\eta}^{\alpha}B_{\gamma}(x,\eta)\right| = \frac{1}{\gamma!} \left|\partial_x^{\beta}\left((QD_{\eta})^{\gamma}\partial_{\eta}^{\alpha+\gamma}b(x,\eta-2Qx)\right)\right|.$$
(2.75)

We plug the identity

$$\partial_{x}^{\beta} \left( a(x, \eta - 2Qx) \right) = \left( \partial_{x} - 2Q\partial_{\xi} \right)^{\beta} a(x, \xi) |_{\xi = \eta - 2Qx} \\ = \sum_{\delta \le \beta} \left( \begin{array}{c} \beta \\ \delta \end{array} \right) (-2)^{|\delta|} (Q\partial_{\xi})^{\delta} \partial_{x}^{\beta - \delta} a(x, \xi) |_{\xi = \eta - 2Qx} \quad (2.76)$$

in (2.75) for  $a(x,\xi) = (QD_{\xi})^{\gamma} \partial_{\xi}^{\alpha+\gamma} b(x,\xi)$ , and readily obtain the estimate

$$\begin{aligned} |\partial_{x}^{\beta}\partial_{\eta}^{\alpha}B_{\gamma}(x,\eta)| &\leq \frac{1}{\gamma!}\sum_{\delta\leq\beta} \begin{pmatrix} \beta\\ \delta \end{pmatrix} \\ &\times 2^{|\delta|} |(Q\partial_{\xi})^{\delta+\gamma}\partial_{x}^{\beta-\delta+\alpha+\gamma}b(x,\xi)|_{\xi=\eta-2Qx} | \\ &\leq \frac{1}{\gamma!}\sum_{\delta\leq\beta} \begin{pmatrix} \beta\\ \delta \end{pmatrix} 2^{|\delta|} ||Q||_{\infty}^{|\delta|+|\gamma|} \\ &\times C_{\delta+\gamma,\beta-\delta+\alpha+\gamma} < (x,\eta-2Qx) >^{m-2|\gamma|-|\alpha|-|\beta|} (2.77) \end{aligned}$$

for all  $(x,\xi) \in R^{2n}$ ,  $\alpha, \beta, \gamma \in \mathbb{Z}_+^n$ , with  $C_{p,q}$  defined by

$$C_{\alpha,\beta} := \sup_{(x,\xi)\in\mathbb{R}^{2n}} \left( \langle (x,\xi) \rangle^{-m+|\alpha|+|\beta|} \left| \partial_x^\beta \partial_\xi^\alpha b(x,\xi) \right| \right)$$
(2.78)

and  $||Q||_{\infty} := \max_{j,k=1,...,n} |q_{jk}|.$ 

Combining (2.78) with the estimates

$$0 < \inf_{(x,\eta) \in \mathbb{R}^{2n}} \frac{<(x,\eta-2Qx)>}{\langle (x,\eta)\rangle} \le \sup_{(x,\eta) \in \mathbb{R}^{2n}} \frac{<(x,\eta-2Qx)>}{\langle (x,\eta)\rangle} < +\infty$$

we obtain that  $b_{NF}(x, \eta) \in \Gamma^m(\mathbb{R}^{2n})$ . The proof is complete.

## 2.5 Discrete representation of pseudodifferential operators

In this section P will stand for a globally elliptic self-adjoint Shubin pseudodifferential operator of order m > 0, semibounded from below. We recall that (for more details see [58], [50]) the operator P has a discrete spectrum diverging to  $+\infty$ .

$$spec(P) = \{\lambda_1 \le \lambda_2 \le \ldots \le \lambda_k < \ldots \to +\infty\},$$
 (2.79)

and one can choose an orthonormal basis of  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  the eigenfunctions  $\{\varphi_j\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$ .

We recall several notions on discrete representations of onedimensional Shubin operators developed by Chodosh [10].

**Definition 27.** If we define the discrete difference operator  $\Delta$  on a function  $K : \mathbb{N}_0 \times \mathbb{N}_0 \to \mathbb{R}$  by

$$(\Delta K)(j,k) = K(j+1,k+1) - K(j,k)$$

(writing  $\Delta^{\alpha}$  to signify applying the difference operator  $\alpha$  times), then we will say that a function K is a symbol matrix of order r if for all  $\alpha, N \in \mathbb{N}_0$  there is  $C_{\alpha,N} > 0$  such that

$$|(\Delta^{\alpha}K)(m,n)| \leq C_{\alpha,N}(1+m+n)^{r-\alpha}(1+|m-n|)^{-N}, \quad m,n \in \mathbb{N}_0.$$

We denote the set of symbol matrices of order r,  $SM^{r}(\mathbb{N}_{0})$ .

We introduce discrete representation depending on the basis  $\{\varphi_j\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$  of P. One of our motivations comes from the methods on Fourier analysis relative to elliptic differential operators on compact manifolds developed by Greenfield and Wallach in 1973 cf. [30].

**Definition 28.** For every Shubin type pseudodifferential operator Q of order m on , we define the following infinite dimensional matrix:

$$egin{aligned} & K^Q_P: \mathbb{N}_0 imes \mathbb{N}_0 o \mathbb{R} \ & (lpha,eta) o K^Q_P(lpha,eta) = \langle Q arphi_lpha, arphi_eta 
angle. \end{aligned}$$

We note that if P is the onedimensional harmonic oscillator and  $\{\varphi_{\alpha}\}$ ,  $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0$ , are the Hermite functions, we recapture the definition of matrices of order m in [10].

Moreover, one is led to ask the following question: can we characterize the action of the operator Q via the infinite matrix  $K_P^Q$  for larger classes of operators?

Our normal form result yields an easy generalization for second order selfadjoint Shubin differential operators with symmetric mixed term.

**Proposition 25.** Let n = 1 and P be as in Theorem 27. We denote by  $\{\varphi_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha=1}^{\infty}$  the basis of eigenfunctions of P. Then  $Q(x,D) \in \Gamma^m$  iff  $K_P^Q$  belongs to  $SM^{m/2}(\mathbb{N}_0)$ .

*Proof.* It follows from the application of the NFT U in Theorem 27, and the fact that  $\varphi_{\alpha} = UH_{\alpha}$ , namely

$$K^Q_P(\alpha,eta) = \langle Q \varphi_lpha, \varphi_eta 
angle = \langle Q U H_lpha, U H_eta 
angle = \langle U^* Q U H_lpha, H_eta 
angle,$$

where  $\{H_{\gamma}\}_{\gamma=1}^{\infty}$  are the Hermite functions. By Theorem 28 we know that  $Q \in \Gamma^m$  if and only if  $U^* \circ Q \circ U \in \Gamma^m$ . Hence we obtain

$$K^{Q}_{\alpha,\beta;P} = K^{U^* \circ Q \circ U}_{\alpha,\beta;\mathscr{H}_1} = K(\alpha,\beta),$$

with  $K(\alpha, \beta)$  being the matrix of  $Q_{NF}(x, D) = U^* \circ Q(D) \circ U$  according to Definition 27 and we can apply the result in [10].

Next, motivated and inspired again by the paper [30], where global hypoellipticity results for commuting differential operators with a normal elliptic operator on a compact manifold have been derived, we propose a new result in the context of the theory of the Shubin type p.d.o. under a Diophantine type condition on the eigenvalues of P.

**Theorem 33.** Assume that the spectrum of *P* consists of simple eigenvalues and there exist C > 0  $\tau \ge 0$  such that

$$|\lambda_j - \lambda_\ell| \ge \frac{C}{(|j| + |\ell|)^{\tau}}, \quad j \neq \ell.$$
(2.80)

Let Q be a Shubin pseudodifferential operator of order m such that

$$[P,Q] \in OP\Gamma^{-\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n). \tag{2.81}$$

Then the matrix  $K_P^Q := \{\kappa_{j,\ell}\}_{j,\ell=1}^{\infty}$  admits the following uniquely determined splitting

$$K_P^Q = diag\{k_{j,j}\}_{j=1}^{\infty} + \tilde{\kappa}, \quad \tilde{\kappa}_{j,\ell} = (1 - \delta_{j\ell})\kappa_{j,\ell}, \quad j,\ell \in \mathbb{N}.$$
(2.82)

with  $\tilde{\kappa}_{j,\ell} = O((|j| + |\ell|)^{-N}), \ j + \ell \to +\infty, \ \forall N \in \mathbb{N}.$ 

*Proof.* From the Theorem 25 we have  $K_P^P = \text{diag} \{\lambda_j\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$ . Moreover using standard linear algebra matrix arguments we obtain that the matrix representation of the commutator [P, Q]

$$K_{P}^{[P,Q]} = K_{P}^{Q} K_{P}^{P} - K_{P}^{P} K_{P}^{Q} = R \in SM^{-\infty}(\mathbb{N}).$$
(2.83)

Clearly  $R_{j,j} = 0$  while  $R_{j,\ell} = (\lambda_j - \lambda_\ell) K_{j,\ell}$ , when  $j \neq \ell$ . Hence

$$K_{j,\ell} = \frac{1}{\lambda_j - \lambda_\ell} R_{j,\ell}, \quad j \neq \ell.$$

Here occurs the necessity to use the condition (2.80), because it is well known that  $R_{j,l} = O((|j| + |\ell|)^{-\infty})$  and so we need the conditions (2.80) to avoid that

 $(\lambda_j - \lambda_\ell)$  becomes  $O((j + \ell)^{-\infty})$  for some subsequence of  $(k, \ell), k, \ell \in \mathbb{N}, k \neq \ell$ . One notes that if [P,Q] = 0, one gets that  $(\lambda_j - \lambda_\ell)K_{j,\ell} = 0$  for  $j \neq \ell$  and so we have  $K_{j,\ell} = 0$  without any additional condition.

**Remark 7.** Let  $P_{NF} = \mathscr{H}_{\omega} + r$ , with  $\omega = (\omega_1, \ldots, \omega_n)$  being Diophantine. Then  $\lambda_k \neq \lambda_j$ ,  $j \neq k$  and the Diophantine type condition, We can consider a zero order Shubin operator b(x, D) (not necessarily self-adjoint) such that  $[b, P] \in \Gamma^{-\infty}$ . The the spectrum of P + b is discrete and we can write  $b(x, D) = b_{diag}(x, D) + b_{-\infty}(x, D)$ , with  $[P, b_{diag}] = 0$  and  $b_{-\infty} \in \Gamma^{-\infty}$ .

## 2.6 Discrete representation of centralizers of operators via eigenfunction expansions

Let H be a separable Hilbert spaces. Let P be a self-adjoint unbounded operator, semibounded from below. It is well known that P has a discrete spectrum and we can write the eigenvalues of P like a sequence  $\{\mu_1 < \mu_2 < \dots \\ \mu_k < \to \infty\}$ . We denote by  $m_j$  the multiplicity of  $\mu_j$  and set  $B^{m_j}(\mu_j)$  the eigenspace corresponding to  $\mu_j$ ,  $j \in \mathbb{N}$ . We choose and fix an orthonormal basis of double index  $\theta_{\ell,j}$ ,  $j = 1, \dots m_{\ell}$ ,  $\ell = 1, 2...$ , and define the eigenfunctions expansion of  $u \in D(P)$ 

$$u = \sum_{\ell=1}^{\infty} \sum_{j=1}^{m_{\ell}} u_{\ell,j} \theta_{\ell,j} = \sum_{\ell=1}^{\infty} \langle \overrightarrow{u^{\ell}}, \overrightarrow{\theta^{\ell}} \rangle,$$

where  $\overrightarrow{u^{\ell}} = (u_{\ell,1}, \dots, u_{\ell,m_{\ell}}) \in \mathbb{C}^{n}, \ \overrightarrow{\theta^{\ell}} = (\theta_{\ell,1}, \dots, \theta_{\ell,m_{\ell}}) \in (B^{m_{\ell}}(\mu_{\ell}))^{m_{\ell}}, \ u_{\ell,j} = \langle u, \theta_{\ell,j} \rangle$ , Moreover, we have

$$H = \oplus_{\ell=1}^{+\infty} B^{m_{\ell}}(\mu_{\ell})$$

and

$$Pu = \sum_{\ell=1}^{\infty} \sum_{j=1}^{m_{\ell}} u_{\ell,j} \mu_{\ell} \theta_{\ell,j} = \sum_{\ell=1}^{\infty} \langle \mu_{\ell} I_{m_{\ell}} \overrightarrow{u^{\ell}}, \overrightarrow{\theta^{\ell}} \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^{m_{\ell}}},$$

where  $\overrightarrow{\theta^{\ell}} = (\theta_{\ell,1}, \dots, \theta_{\ell,m_{\ell}})$ , are the eigenfunctions associated to the eigenvalue  $\mu_{\ell}$  with multiplicity  $m_{\ell}$  and  $\overrightarrow{u^{\ell}} = (u_{\ell,1}, \dots, u_{\ell,m_{\ell}})$  and  $\ell = 1, \dots, \infty$ . If  $A_{\ell} \in SO(\mathbb{R}^{m_{\ell}})$  (or  $A_{\ell} \in SU(\mathbb{R}^{m}_{\ell})$ ) we set

$$\overrightarrow{\theta^{\ell}} := A_{\ell} \overrightarrow{\underline{\theta^{\ell}}}, \quad \overrightarrow{u^{\ell}} = A_{\ell} \overrightarrow{\underline{u^{\ell}}}.$$

So we obtain the invariance of P under the action of the infinite matrix

$$A = \oplus A_{\ell} \tag{2.84}$$

namely

$$P \circ Au = \sum_{\ell=1}^{\infty} \langle \mu_{\ell} \overrightarrow{u^{\ell}} \overrightarrow{\theta^{\ell}} \rangle = \sum_{\ell=1}^{\infty} \langle \mu_{\ell} I_{m_{\ell}} A \overrightarrow{\underline{u^{\ell}}}, A \overrightarrow{\underline{\theta^{\ell}}} \rangle$$
$$= \sum_{\ell=1}^{\infty} \mu_{\ell} \langle A^{t} A \overrightarrow{\underline{u^{\ell}}}, \overrightarrow{\underline{\theta^{\ell}}} \rangle = \sum_{\ell=1}^{\infty} \mu_{\ell} \langle I_{m_{\ell}} \overrightarrow{\underline{u^{\ell}}}, \overrightarrow{\underline{\theta^{\ell}}} \rangle = Pu.$$

**Remark 8.** Note that if the eigenvalues are simple  $(m_{\ell} = 1)$ , the choice of the eigenfunctions  $\theta_{\ell} = \theta_{\ell,1}$  is unique modulo multiplied by  $\pm 1(e^{i\beta}, \beta \in \mathbb{R}, if H$  is a complex space)

We consider the centralizer of P

$$Z(P) = \{Q : PQ = QP\}$$
(2.85)

the set of all linear operators  $Q: D(Q) \to \mathbb{C}$ , where D(Q) contains all eigenfunction, commuting with P on  $D(Q) \cap D(P) \subset H$ . Then we have recall a well known assertion

**Proposition 26.** Let  $Q \in Z(P)$ . Then

$$Qu = \sum_{\ell=1}^{\infty} \langle M^{\ell} \overrightarrow{u^{\ell}}, \overrightarrow{\theta^{\ell}} \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^{m_{\ell}}},$$

where  $M^\ell \in M_{m_\ell}(\mathbb{C})$  and  $M^\ell = (M^\ell)^*$ , if  $Q^* = Q$ .

2. Normal forms and conjugations for second order self-adjoint globally elliptic 68 operators

*Proof.* We know that since Q is invariant on  $B^{m_{\ell}}(\mu_{\ell}), \ell \in \mathbb{N}$ , we have

$$Qu = \sum_{\ell=1}^{\infty} \langle M^{\ell} \overrightarrow{u^{\ell}}, \overrightarrow{\theta^{\ell}} \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^{m_{\ell}}}, \qquad (2.86)$$

where  $M^{\ell} = \{\mu_{j,k}^{\ell}\}_{j,k=1,\dots,m_l} \in M_{m_{\ell}}(\mathbb{C}), \overrightarrow{\theta^{\ell}} = (\theta_{\ell,1},\dots,\theta_{\ell,m_{\ell}}), \overrightarrow{u^{\ell}} = (u_{\ell,1},\dots,u_{\ell,m_{\ell}}).$ Next, we consider the action of AMore precisely, if  $\overrightarrow{\theta^{\ell}} = A^{\ell} \overrightarrow{\underline{\theta^{\ell}}}$  and  $\overrightarrow{u^{\ell}} = A^{\ell} \overrightarrow{\underline{u^{\ell}}},$ we have

$$Q \circ Au = \sum_{\ell=1}^{\infty} \langle M^{\ell} A^{\ell} \overrightarrow{\underline{u^{\ell}}}, A^{\ell} \overrightarrow{\underline{\theta^{\ell}}} \rangle$$
$$= \sum_{\ell=1}^{\infty} \langle {}^{t} (A^{\ell}) M^{\ell} A^{\ell} \overrightarrow{\underline{u^{\ell}}}, \overrightarrow{\underline{\theta^{\ell}}} \rangle.$$
(2.87)

We complete the proof by standard linear algebra arguments.

**Remark 9.** In general we can not reduce a matrix M in a diagonal form by conjugation with  $S \in SU(m_{\ell})$ , if M is not normal (i.e.  $M^*M \neq M^*M$ ). Moreover, we can reduce  $M^{\ell}$  to a lower triangular form (upper-triangular form) by a conjugation with a matrix  $S \in SU(m_{\ell})$ . In general, case one encounters families matrices with non trivial Jordan blocks.

### 2.7 Representation of Shubin Operators

We describe completely the discrete representation of the centralizer of Pin the space of pseudodifferential operators defined by the continuous action on  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

**Theorem 34.** Suppose that  $Q: \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n) \to \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is a linear continuous operator, that commutes with a globally elliptic self-adjoint operator P. Then we have

*i)* the following decomposition

$$L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) = B^{m_{1}}(\mu_{1}) \oplus B^{m_{2}}(\mu_{2}) \oplus \ldots \oplus B^{m_{k}}(\mu_{k}) \oplus \ldots$$

where  $\mu_1 < \mu_2 < \ldots < \mu_k < \ldots$  are the eigenvalues,  $m_j$  is the multiplicity of the eigenvalue  $\mu_j$ ,  $j = 1, 2, \ldots$ , further  $B^{m_j}(\mu_j)$  is the eigenspace of the eigenvalue  $\mu_j$ ,  $j = 1, 2, \ldots$  with a orthonormal basis of eigenfunctions

$$\theta_{\ell,j}$$
, such that  $P\theta_{\ell,j} = \mu_{\ell}\theta_{\ell,j}$   $\ell \in \mathbb{N}, j = 1, \dots, m_{\ell}$ ;

- ii)  $Q_{m_\ell} := Q_{|_{B^{m_l}(\mu)}}$  is invariant on  $B^{m_l}(\mu)$ ;
- iii) There exist matrices  $\Gamma^{\ell} = \{\gamma_{rs}^{\ell}\}_{r,s=1}^{m_{\ell}} \in M_{m_{\ell}}(\mathbb{K}), \text{ where } \mathbb{K} = \mathbb{R} \text{ or } \mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C},$ such that

$$\begin{pmatrix} Q\theta_{\ell,1} \\ \vdots \\ Q\theta_{\ell,m_{\ell}} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \gamma_{1,1}^{\ell} & \cdots & \gamma_{1,m_{\ell}}^{\ell} \\ \vdots & & \vdots \\ \gamma_{m_{\ell},1}^{\ell} & \cdots & \gamma_{m_{\ell},m_{\ell}}^{\ell} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \theta_{\ell,1} \\ \vdots \\ \theta_{\ell,m_{\ell}} \end{pmatrix} = \Gamma^{\ell} \begin{pmatrix} \theta_{\ell,1} \\ \vdots \\ \theta_{\ell,m_{\ell}} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(2.88)

and the family of matrices  $\{\Gamma^{\ell}\}_{\ell=1}^{\infty}$  satisfies

$$\sup_{\ell \ge 1} \max_{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^{m_{\ell}}, |\xi|=1} \left( \ell^{-N} \| \Gamma^{\ell} \xi \| \right) < \infty, \quad for \ some \ N > 0.$$

$$(2.89)$$

In particular, if Q is a symmetric Shubin operator the matrices  $\Gamma^{\ell}$ ,  $\ell \in \mathbb{N}$ , are symmetric (respectively, Hermitian) if H is real (respectively, complex) Hilbert space.

*Proof.* Set  $\psi_{\ell,j} = Q\theta_{\ell,j}$ . We get

$$P\psi_{\ell,j} = PQ\theta_{\ell,j} = QP\theta_{\ell,j} = Q\mu_{\ell}\theta_{\ell,j} = \mu_{\ell}Q\theta_{\ell,j} = \mu_{\ell}\psi_{j,\ell}.$$

Hence  $\Psi_{j,\ell} = Q\theta_{j,\ell} \in B^{m_\ell}(\mu_\ell), \ j = 1, \dots, m_\ell$  and since Q is invariant on  $B^{m_\ell}(\mu_\ell)$  we deduce i), ii) and iii) (2.88).

We prove (2.89) using the topology on  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and  $\mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . Finally, the last sentence is proved by standard linear algebra.

## 2.8 Anisotropic form of the 1D harmonic oscillator

The main goal of this section is to investigate the reduction to normal forms and to classify the normal forms of second order self-adjoint anisotropic 1D differential operators. In this section we consider the following operator:

$$Pu = D_x^2 u + a(x)D_x u + b(x)u = -u'' + ia(x)u' + b(x)u, \quad x \in \mathbb{R},$$
(2.90)

where a(x) (resp. b(x)) is polynomial of degree k (resp. 2k). Since  $P = P^*$  necessarily

$$a(x) = \sum_{j=0}^{k} a_j x^{k-j}, \quad a_0 \in \mathbb{R}, \, a_j \in \mathbb{R}, \, j = 1, \dots, k,$$
 (2.91)

$$b(x) = \sum_{j=0}^{2k} b_j x^{2k-j}, \quad b_0 \in \mathbb{R}, \ b_j \in \mathbb{C}, \ j = 1, \dots, 2k.$$
 (2.92)

We recall the global anisotropic ellipticity condition (cf. [3], [6])

$$p_2(x,\xi) = \xi^2 + a_0 x^k \xi + b_0 x^{2k} \neq 0, \quad \text{for } (x,\xi) \neq (0,0).$$
 (2.93)

Straightforward calculations imply that the operator P defined in (2.90) is symmetric iff  $b_j \in \mathbb{R}$ , j = 0, 1, ..., k and

$$\sum_{j=k+1}^{2k} b_j x^{k-j} - \frac{i}{2} a'(x) \text{ is real valued.}$$
(2.94)

This polynomial have real coefficients, while the global anisotropic ellipticity condition is equivalent to

$$q_0 := b_0 - \frac{1}{4}a_0^2 > 0. (2.95)$$

We define a "canonical" normal form operator depending on 2k-2 real parameters, which will generate all globally elliptic self-adjoint operators defined above. Given  $k \ge 1$  and  $\rho = (\rho_0, \dots, \rho_{2k-3}) \in \mathbb{R}^{2k-2}$  if  $k \ge 2$  we set

$$L_{2k,\rho} = D_x^2 + x^{2k} + \sum_{j=0}^{2k-3} \rho_j x^{2k-3-j}.$$
 (2.96)

Recall that by well known result on the spectral theory of the Schödinger operators (e.g., cf. [58], [3] and the references therein) we know that the operator  $L_{2k,\rho}$  is essentially self-adjoint with discrete spectrum

spec 
$$(L_{2k,\rho}) = \{\lambda_1(\rho) < \ldots < \lambda_j(\rho) \ldots \to \infty\},$$
 (2.97)

with the corresponding orthonormal basis of eigenfunctions  $\{\varphi_j^{\rho}(x)\}_{j=1}^{\infty} \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ . The eigenfunctions belong to the limiting Gelfand–Shilov space  $S_{1/(k+1)}^{k/(k+1)}(\mathbb{R})$ . Moreover the entire function extensions  $\varphi_j(z)$ ,  $z = x + yi \in \mathbb{C}$  satisfy the following property:

there exists absolute constants  $c_0 = c_0(k), \varepsilon = \varepsilon(k) > 0$  and positive numbers  $M_j, \ j \in \mathbb{N}$  such that

$$|\varphi_j(z)| \le M_j e^{-\varepsilon |x|^{k+1} + c_0|y|^{(k+1)}}$$
(2.98)

We have

**Proposition 27.** The following properties are equivalent:

- i) P is globally elliptic self-adjoint operator.
- *ii)* there exists a unitary map

$$U: L^2(\mathbb{R}) \mapsto L^2(\mathbb{R}), \ U:=T_c \circ E_A v(x) = e^{-iA(x+c)/2} v(x+c),$$

where  $A(x) = \int_0^x a(t)dt$ ,  $c \in \mathbb{R}$ , dilation  $D_{\tau}v(x) = v(\tau^{-1}x)$ ,  $\tau > 0$ , and  $r \in \mathbb{R}$ , such that

$$U^{t} \circ D_{\tau}^{-1} \circ P \circ U \circ D_{\tau} v(x) = \tau^{2} L_{2k,\rho} + r.$$

$$(2.99)$$

Clearly (2.99) implies that

$$spec(P) = \{\lambda_j = \tau^2 \lambda_j(\rho) + r\}$$

and the eigenfunctions are

$$\{\psi_j(x) = \kappa_j e^{-iA(x+c)/2} \varphi_j^{\rho}(x+c), \}_{j=1}^{\infty}$$

where  $\kappa_j$  are constants such that  $\|\psi_j\| = 1$ .

Proof. We have

$$\widetilde{P} = E_A^* \circ P \circ E_A u = D_x^2 + \sum_{j=0}^{2k} q_j x^{2k-j}, \quad q_j \in \mathbb{R}, q_0 > 0, q_j \in \mathbb{R}, j = 1, \dots, 2k.$$

Next, we set  $y=x+\frac{q_1}{2kq_0}$  and reduce  $\widetilde{P}$  to

$$\widetilde{P}' = D_y^2 + q_0 y^{2k} + \sum_{j=0}^{2k-3} \widetilde{q}_j y^{2k-2-j} + r, \quad \widetilde{q}_j \in \mathbb{R}, j = 0, \dots, 2k-3, r \in \mathbb{R}.$$

We conclude the proof by applying the dilation  $y = \tau^{-1}x$ ,  $\tau = q_0^{2k+2}$ .  $\Box$ 

Next we investigate the multidimensional anisotropic case

$$P = -\Delta + \langle A(x), D_x \rangle + B(x), \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^n,$$
(2.100)

where  $A(x) = (A_1(x), ..., A_n(x)),$ 

$$A_{j}(x) = \sum_{\ell=0}^{k} A_{j}^{k-\ell}(x), \quad A_{j}^{k-\ell}(x) = \sum_{|\alpha|=k-\ell} A_{j,\alpha} x^{\alpha}, \quad (2.101)$$

$$B(x) = \sum_{\ell=0}^{2k} B_{2k-\ell}(x), \quad B_{2k-\ell}(x) = \sum_{|\alpha|=2k-\ell} B_{\alpha} x^{\alpha}, \quad (2.102)$$

with

$$A_k(x) = (A_1^k(x), \dots, A_n^k(x)), B_{2k}(x)$$
 real valued. (2.103)

Here we impose a symmetry type condition (an analogue to  $A_{skew} = 0$  or its geometric version). We suppose that  $\langle A(x), dx \rangle$  is closed form i.e. there exist

$$V(x) \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n : \mathbb{R})$$
 such that  $\nabla V(x) = A(x)$  (2.104)

with  $V(x) = \sum_{j=0}^{2k+1} V_{2k+1-j}(x)$ ,  $V_{2k+1-j}(x)$  real homogeneous polynomial of degree 2k+1-j,  $j=0,1,\ldots,2k+1$ .

Under the hypothesis (2.104) we have

**Theorem 35.** The operator P is symmetric iff

$$Q(x) := B(x) - \frac{1}{4} \|\nabla V_{2k+1}(x)\|^2 + \frac{i\Delta V(x)}{2} \text{ is real for } x \in \mathbb{R}^n$$
 (2.105)

Moreover, P is self-addoint globally elliptic operator iff

$$B_{2k}(x) - \frac{1}{4} \|\nabla V_{2k+1}(x)\|^2 = B_{2k}(x) - \frac{1}{4} \|A^k(x)\|^2 > 0, \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus 0.$$
 (2.106)

Suppose now that (2.105) and (2.106) hold. We assume in addition that there exist  $S \in SO(n)$  and n polynomials of degree 2k

$$q_j(t) = \sum_{\ell=0}^{2k} q_{j;\ell} t^{2k-j}, \quad q_{j;\ell} \in \mathbb{R}, \ell = 0, 1, \dots 2k, q_{j;\ell} > 0, j = 1, \dots, n, \quad (2.107)$$

such that

$$Q(Sy) = \sum_{j=1}^{n} q_j(y_j).$$
 (2.108)

Then we can find *n* positive numbers  $\omega_j$ ,  $r \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $\gamma \in \mathbb{R}^n$  such that there exists a unitary map  $U: L^2(\mathbb{R}) \mapsto L^2(\mathbb{R})$ ,  $U:=T_{\gamma} \circ E_V u(x) = e^{-iV(x+\gamma)/2}v(Sx+\gamma)$ ,  $\rho \in \mathbb{R}^n$ , dilation  $D_{\omega}v(x) = v(\omega_1^{-1}x_1, \ldots, \omega_n^{-1}x_n)$ ,  $\tau > 0$ , and  $r \in \mathbb{R}$ , such that

$$D_{\omega}^{-1} \circ S^{t} \circ U^{t} \circ P \circ U \circ S \circ D_{\omega} v(x) = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \omega_{j}^{2} L_{2k,c_{j}} + r.$$
(2.109)

*Proof.* After the conjugation with  $e^{-\frac{i}{2}V(x)}$  and the change  $x \mapsto Sx$  we are reduced to the sum of n 1D model anisotropic operators and we conclude as in the previous assertion.

We conclude the proof by applying the following well known assertions.

**Lemma 7.** Let  $P_j$  be unbounded self-adjoint operator in a Hilbert spaces  $H_j$  j = 1, ..., n, and semi-bounded from below. Let  $H = H_1 \otimes ... \otimes H_n$ . The operator P

$$spec(P_j) = \{\lambda_{j,\ell} : \ell = 1, 2, ...\},\$$

with bases  $\{ \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{j,\ell} \}_{\ell=1}^{\infty}, \quad j = 1, \dots, n.$  Then

$$P=P_1\oplus\ldots\oplus P_n,$$

has a discrete spectrum defined by

$$spec(P) = \{\lambda_{1,\ell} + \lambda_{2,\ell} + \ldots + \lambda_{n,\ell} \ell \in \mathbb{N}\},\$$

with

$$\{ oldsymbol{arphi}_\ell \}_{\ell=1}^\infty, = \{ oldsymbol{arphi}_{1,\ell} \otimes \ldots \otimes oldsymbol{arphi}_{n,\ell} \}.$$

Г				
L				
н.	_	_	_	

### Chapter 3

## Normal forms for classes of second order non self-adjoint Shubin operators

The main goal of this chapter is to investigate the reduction and the classification of the normal forms of classes of second order non self-adjoint Shubin type differential operators.

We start with the one dimensional case. As a model (and a candidate for a complex NF) we have in mind the non self-adjoint (complex) harmonic oscillator

$$Pu = \mathscr{H}_{\omega} := D_x^2 u + \omega x^2 u = -u''(x) + \omega x^2 u(x), \quad \omega = z^2, z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus 0, \arg(z) < \frac{\pi}{2}.$$
(3.1)

If  $\arg(z) \leq \pi/4$  we have an example of the classes of globally elliptic quadratic Shubin operators with non negative real part, which are subject of recent intensive investigations in the context of semiclassical analysis, subelliptic estimates, partial regularity, existence of symmetries etc. (cf. [4], [59] and the references therein). A part from the interest "per se" in the theory of the pseudodifferential operators on  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , we mention another motivation from recent papers on the spectral properties of non self-adjoint differential operators (cf. [14], [15], [44] and the references therein). It is well known that  $\mathscr{H}_{\omega}$ has a discrete spectrum, the set of eigenfunctions is complete in the sense that its linear span is dense in  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$ , but it does not form a Riesz basis, namely, one can not find a bounded invertible linear operator  $K: L^2(\mathbb{R}) \mapsto L^2(\mathbb{R})$  such that  $K^{-1} \circ \mathscr{H}_{\omega} \circ K$  becomes a normal operator ( for more details see [15] and the references therein). In fact, one may choose complex eigenfunctions  $\Phi_k(x)$  (complex Hermite functions)  $\Phi_k(x) = \omega^{1/4} H_k(\omega^{1/2}x)\sigma(x), H_k(t)$  being the Hermite polynomials of degree  $k, k \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ , and  $\sigma(x) = e^{-\frac{\omega^{1/2}}{2}x^2}$  is a complex weight function, which form a (pseudo) orthogonal basis, or bi–orthogonal in  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$ , namely

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} \Phi_j(x) \Phi_k(x) dx = \langle \Phi_j, \Phi_k^* \rangle_{L^2} = \delta_{jk}, \quad j,k \in \mathbb{N}.$$
(3.2)

where  $\delta_{jk}$  stands for the Kronecker symbol, while  $\Phi^*(x) = \overline{\Phi_k(x)}$ . Note that the integral in the LHS of (3.2) is without any conjugation. One defines the (non–orthogonal) projector as  $P_k u = \langle u, \Phi_k^* \rangle_{L^2} \Phi_k$ . The authors prove that

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} \|P_k\|^{1/k} = c > 1 \text{ or in equivalent form} \lim_{k \to \infty} \frac{\ln(\|P_k\|)}{k} = d > 0 \qquad (3.3)$$

where the norm of the projector  $P_k$  defined by

$$||P_k||^2 = \int_{\mathbb{R}} |\Phi_k(x)|^2 dx, \quad k \in \mathbb{N}.$$
 (3.4)

and apply this estimates to show that there exists  $t_{\omega} > 0$ , proportional to d, such that

$$e^{-tP} = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} e^{-t\lambda_j} P_j \text{ is norm convergent if } t > t_{\omega} \text{ and divergent if } 0 < t < t_{\omega}.$$
(3.5)

Recently, Mityagin, Siegel and Viola (see [44]) have studied operators T, in a separable Hilbert space H, which are unbounded, densely defined, and have compact resolvent. It is well known that the spectrum of T consists of at most countable number of isolated eigenvalues accumulating at infinity. They define the spectral projection  $P_{\lambda}$  via the Cauchy integral formula

$$P_{\lambda} = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{|\zeta-\lambda|=\varepsilon} (\zeta-T)^{-1} d\zeta,$$

where  $\varepsilon > 0$  is smaller than the distance from  $\lambda$  to any other eigenvalue. It is well known, in contrast with the case when T is normal, the spectral projection of a non normal operator T are, in general, not orthogonal. As a consequence in the study of simple differential operators on the real line which admit minimal complete system of eigenvectors  $\{u_k\}_{k=0}^{\infty}$  which is not a Riesz basis. The authors have proved the existence of a natural class of non self-adjoint operators for which

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} \frac{1}{k^{\sigma}} \log |P_k| = c > 0, \tag{3.6}$$

where  $\sigma$  can take any value in (0,1), (see for more details Theorems 2.6 and 3.7 in [44]). These operators arise as non self-adjoint perturbations B of a self-adjoint Schrödinger operator T. They study the non self-adjoint operator

$$M_{\varepsilon}u = D_x^2 u + x^2 u + i2\varepsilon x D_x u = -u''(x) + x^2 u(x) + 2\varepsilon x u'(x), \quad \varepsilon \in \mathbb{R} \setminus 0.$$
(3.7)

a skew-adjoint perturbation B = 2iax,  $a \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$  of the harmonic oscillator  $D_x^2 + x^2$ . We point out that both operators  $\mathscr{H}_{\omega}$  and  $M_{\varepsilon}$  are  $\Gamma$  elliptic.

Finally, we mention that in [15] the authors show growth more rapid than any power of k for the norms of spectral projections  $\{P_k\}_{k=0}^{\infty}$  for the anisotropic operators

$$\mathscr{A}_{m,\omega} = -\frac{d^2}{dx^2} + \omega x^m,$$

acting on  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$ ,  $\boldsymbol{\omega} \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$  and  $\arg(\boldsymbol{\omega}) < C(m)$ , for more details see Theorem 3 in [15].

Coming back to the issue of NF for non self-adjoint operators, taking into account that in the one dimensional case all solutions of  $Pu - \lambda u = 0$  are entire functions (restricted on the real line), it is easy to show that, if P is  $\Gamma$ elliptic, we can reduce P to  $\mathscr{H}_{\omega}$  modulo composition under a transformation of the type  $u(x) = e^{(ax^2 + bx)}v(x+c)$ , for some  $a, b, c \in \mathbb{C}$ ,  $\Im a \neq 0$  and/or  $\Im b \neq 0$ , which acts in the space of the entire functions on  $\mathbb{C}$ . The main challenge is to describe completely the spectral properties. Here the Gelfand-Shilov spaces  $S^{\mu}_{\mu}(\mathbb{R}), \ \mu < 1$ , shall play a fundamental role, since all functions from these these spaces are extended as entire functions and all possible eigenfunctions of complex harmonic oscillators on the real line

$$P = D_x^2 + \alpha x D_x + \beta x^2 + \gamma D_x + \delta x + r, \quad \alpha, \beta, \gamma, \delta \in \mathbb{C},$$
(3.8)

belong to  $S_{1/2}^{1/2}(\mathbb{R})$  (see [6]).

We show that if  $\boldsymbol{\omega}_1 := \Re\left(\beta - \frac{\alpha^2}{4}\right) \ge 0$  then all perturbations which keep the  $\Gamma$  ellipticity have discrete spectrum and compact resolvent while in the case  $\boldsymbol{\omega}_1 < 0$  there exists a threshold  $\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_0$  depending on  $\boldsymbol{\omega}_2 = \Im\left(\beta - \frac{\alpha^2}{4}\right)$  such that if  $|\Im \alpha| < \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_0$  the spectrum is discrete and we find explicitly the eigenfunctions whereas  $|\Im \alpha| > \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_0$  implies that the spectrum of P coincides with  $\mathbb{C}$ . For the critical value  $|\Im \alpha| = \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_0$  the operator is not globally elliptic. The crucial ingredient of our proofs is the use of the complex JWKB method.

One easy consequence of our NF is the extension of some of the results in the aforementioned works for a slightly larger classes of operators.

We also consider non self-adjoint globally elliptic operators in the multidimensional case

$$P = -\Delta + \langle Ax, D_x \rangle + \langle Bx, x \rangle + \langle g, D_x \rangle + \langle h, x \rangle + r.$$
(3.9)

where  $B, A \in M_n(\mathbb{C}), g, h \in \mathbb{C}^n, r \in \mathbb{C}$ . Here  $\langle \xi, \eta \rangle = \xi_1, \eta_1 + \ldots + \xi_n \eta_n, \xi, \eta \in \mathbb{C}$ 

 $\mathbb{C}^n$ . Clearly  $\Re B$  and  $\Im B$  are symmetric, i.e.,  $B^T = B$  with respect to the complex pseudo inner product above.

We derive reductions via conjugations with NFT of operators given by (3.9) to multidimensional complex harmonic oscillator modulo complex translations

$$H_{\boldsymbol{\omega}}\boldsymbol{u} := -\Delta \boldsymbol{u} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \boldsymbol{\omega}_{j} \boldsymbol{x}_{j}^{2} \boldsymbol{u}, \ \boldsymbol{\omega}_{j} \in \mathbb{C} \setminus 0, \Re \boldsymbol{\omega}_{j} > 0,$$
(3.10)

provided  $\Re A$ ,  $\Im A$ ,  $\Re B$ ,  $\Im B$  satisfy suitable commutator and separation of variables type conditions. Thus we are able to classify the spectral properties of (3.9).

Next, we investigate the reduction to NF of anisotropic versions of (3.7)

$$P = D_x^2 + \sum_{j=0}^k a_j x^{k-j} D_x + \sum_{\ell=0}^{2k} b_\ell x^{2k-\ell}$$
(3.11)

where  $a_j \in \mathbb{C}$ ,  $a_0 \neq 0$ ,  $b_\ell \in \mathbb{C}$ ,  $b_0 \neq 0$ . We are able to classify completely the spectral properties of (3.11). Here again we rely heavily on the complex JWKB methods but unlike the quadratic harmonic oscillator we are not able to write down explicitly the eigenvalues and the eigenfunctions. However, under additional restrictions on the complex coefficients, we show that the spectrum and the bi-orthogonal eigenfunctions are generated by the canonical self-adjoint NF anisotropic operator  $L_{2k,c}$ ,  $c \in \mathbb{R}^{2k-2}$  (defined in the previous chapter) by means of complex dilations and translation and multiplication by exponential terms of the type  $e^{\eta x^{k+1}+O(|x|^k)}$ ,  $\Re \eta \neq 0$ . We take advantage of the hypoellipticity in  $S_{1/(k+1)}^{k/(k+1)}(\mathbb{R})$  of anisotropic elliptic operators of the type  $-\Delta + (||x||^2)^k$ , see [5].

The major novelty of our investigations this section concerns the case of multidimensional anisotropic non self-adjoint operators. We derive normal forms via transformations acting in Gelfand-Shilov spaces of entire functions of operators defined by

$$P = D_x^2 + \langle A(x), D_x \rangle + B(x), \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^n,$$
(3.12)

where  $A(x) = (A_1(x), \dots, A_n(x))$ ,  $A_j$  are polynomials with complex coefficients of degree k, B is polynomial with complex coefficients of degree 2k,  $\langle A(x), dx \rangle$ is closed 1 form, with A(x) and B(x) rather restrictive satisfying symmetry and separation of variables type conditions.

Finally, we study perturbations of complex quadratic harmonic oscillators with some regularizing pseudodifferential operators b(x,D), whose symbols belong to the limit Gelfand–Shilov space  $S_{1/2}^{1/2}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and show that despite the quadratic exponential growth of the NFT we can still conjugate b(x,D) with  $e^{\varepsilon x^2}$ , provided  $|\varepsilon| \ll 1$ .

The chapter is organized as follows: Section 1 is concerned with the classification of the NF and the study of the spectral properties of the perturbations of the complex harmonic oscillator. In the second section we study NF and spectral properties of perturbations of multidimensional complex harmonic oscillators. The classification of the NF and the study of the spectral properties of non–self–adjoint 1D anisotropic operators is done in Section 3 whereas in Section 4 we address the same issues for some classes of multidimensional anisotropic operators. In the final section we demonstrate a result on the conjugation of classes of  $S_{1/2}^{1/2}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  operators via quadratic exponential NFT.

## 3.1 NF of perturbations of 1D complex harmonic oscillators

We consider the second order Shubin differential operator on the real line

$$P = D_x^2 + \alpha x D_x + \beta x^2 + \gamma D_x + \delta x + r.$$
(3.13)

#### with $\alpha, \beta, \gamma, \delta \in \mathbb{C}$ .

We assume, without loss of generality, that  $\Re \alpha = 0$ ,  $\Re \gamma = 0$  - otherwise, as in Chapter 2, we apply the conjugation with a unitary NFT

$$e^{i\left(\frac{Re(\alpha)}{4}x^2+\frac{\gamma}{2}x\right)} \circ P \circ e^{-i\left(\frac{Re(\alpha)}{4}x^2+\frac{\gamma}{2}x\right)}.$$
(3.14)

81

Therefore, we consider the operator P in this form as a perturbation of a non self-adjoint operator

$$L = D_x^2 + i\varepsilon x D_x + \omega x^2 + ipD_x + qx + r, \qquad (3.15)$$

where  $\boldsymbol{\omega} = \boldsymbol{\omega}_1 + \boldsymbol{\omega}_2 i \in \mathbb{C} \setminus 0$ ,  $\boldsymbol{\omega}_1 > 0$ , if  $\boldsymbol{\omega}_2 = 0$ ,  $\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}, p \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $q = q_1 + q_2 i \in \mathbb{C}$ ,  $q_1 = 0$ if  $\boldsymbol{\omega}_1 \neq 0$ ,  $q_2 = 0$  if  $\boldsymbol{\omega}_1 = 0$ ,  $r \in \mathbb{C}$ .

We derive reductions to normal forms taking advantage of the limiting Gelfand–Shilov  $S_{1/2}^{1/2}(\mathbb{R})$  regularity of the eigenfunctions of second order globally elliptic differential operators.

We introduce, following the arguments used in [14], [15], complex inner product with complex weight function  $\sigma(x)$ ,  $\sigma(x) \neq 0$ ,  $x \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

$$\langle f,g \rangle_{\mathbb{C},\sigma} = \int_{\mathbb{R}} f(x)g(x)\sigma^2(x)dx.$$
 (3.16)

One checks easily that if for some  $s\in\mathbb{R},\,t\geq0,\,C>0$ 

$$|\sigma(x)| \leq C e^{sx^2 + t|x|}, \quad x \in \mathbb{R}$$
(3.17)

then (3.16) is well defined for all  $f, g \in S_{1/2}^{1/2}(\mathbb{R})$  (respectively,  $f, g \in S_{\mu}^{\mu}(\mathbb{R})$ ,  $1/2 \leq \mu < 1$ ), decaying exponentially

$$\max\{|f(x)|, |g(x)|\} = O(e^{-\eta x^2}, x \to \infty)$$
  
(respectively,  $O(e^{-\eta |x|^{1/\mu}}), x \to \infty$ ),  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ , (3.18)

for all  $0 < s < \eta$  (respectively,  $\eta > 0$ ), provided s > 0 (respectively,  $s \le 0$ ). We consider first the simpler case of  $\varepsilon = 0$ . **Proposition 28.** Suppose that  $\varepsilon = 0$ . Then there exists a transformation

$$T = T_{p/2, q/(2\omega)} w(x) = e^{\frac{p}{2}x} w(x - \frac{q}{2\omega}i), \quad p, q \in \mathbb{C},$$
 (3.19)

 $T_{a,b}^{-1} = T_{-a,-b}$  such that

$$T_{-p/2,-q/(2\omega)} \circ L \circ T_{p/2,q/(2\omega)} = D_x^2 + \omega x^2 + \tilde{r}, \qquad (3.20)$$

where  $\tilde{r} = r - \frac{p^2}{4} + \frac{q^2}{4\omega}$ . L has a discrete spectrum and the eigenvalues are given by

$$\lambda_k = \omega^{1/2}(2k+1) + r, \quad k \in \mathbb{Z}_+,$$
 (3.21)

with eigenfunctions defined by

$$\varphi_k(x) = \kappa e^{-\frac{p}{2}x} H_k(\omega^{1/4}(x - \frac{q}{2\omega}i)), \quad k \in \mathbb{N},$$
(3.22)

with  $\kappa^{-1} = \int_{\mathbb{R}} H_k^2(\omega^{1/4}(x - \frac{q}{2\omega}i))dx = \omega^{-1/4}$ , forming bi-orthogonal basis with respect to the complex weighted inner product (3.16)

$$\sigma(x) = e^{-\frac{p}{2}x + \omega^{1/4}(x - \frac{q}{2\omega}i)^2)}, \quad k \in \mathbb{N},$$
(3.23)

Finally, we claim that the spaces  $S^{\mu}_{\mu}(\mathbb{R})$ ,  $1/2 \leq \mu < 1$ , are invariant under the action of  $T_{p/2,q/(2\omega)}$  and there exist C > 0 such that

$$|T_{p/2,q/(2\omega)}u|_{\mu;\rho-\delta,\sigma+\delta} \le e^{C(1-\mu)\left(\frac{C}{\delta}\right)^{\mu/(1-\mu)}}|u|_{\mu;\rho,\sigma},$$
(3.24)

for  $u \in BS^{\mu}_{\mu}(\mathbb{R}; \rho, \sigma), \ 0 < \delta \ll 1, \ 1/2 \le \mu < 1.$ 

*Proof.* We have

$$\begin{split} L(e^{\frac{p}{2}x}v(x)) = & D_x^2(e^{\frac{p}{2}x}v(x)) + \omega x^2(e^{\frac{p}{2}x}v(x)) + ipD_x(e^{\frac{p}{2}x}v(x)) \\ &+ qx(e^{-i\frac{p}{2}x}v(x)) \\ &= e^{\frac{p}{2}x} \Big( D_x^2 + \omega x^2 + qx + r - \frac{p^2}{4} \Big) v(x) = e^{\frac{p}{2}x} \tilde{L}v(x), \end{split}$$

and the translation  $x \mapsto x + \frac{q}{2\omega}$  transforms  $\tilde{L}$  into (3.20). We conclude by observing that for every  $u \in BS^{\mu}_{\mu}(\mathbb{R}; \rho, \sigma), \rho, \sigma > 0, 1/2 \le \mu \le 1$  we get

$$\begin{aligned} |e^{\frac{p}{2}x}u(x+a_{1}+(y+a_{2})i)| &\leq C_{0}e^{-\rho|x+a_{1}|^{1/\mu}+\sigma|y+a_{2}|^{1/\mu}+\frac{p}{2}x} \\ &\leq C_{1}e^{-\rho|x|^{1/\mu}+\sigma|y|^{1/\mu}+C_{1}(|x|+|y|)} \\ &\leq C_{1}e^{-(\rho-\delta)|x|^{1/\mu}+(\sigma+\delta)|y|^{1/\mu}-\delta(|x|^{1/\mu}+|y|^{1/\mu})+C_{1}(|x|+|y|)} \\ &\leq C_{1}\varkappa_{\mu}^{2}e^{-(\rho-\delta)|x|^{1/\mu}+(\sigma+\delta)|y|^{1/\mu}}, \end{aligned}$$
(3.25)

where

$$\varkappa_{\mu} = \sup_{t \ge 0} \left( e^{-\delta t^{1/\mu} + C_1 t} \right) = e^{(1-\mu)C_1 \frac{C_1^{\mu/(1-\mu)}}{\delta^{\mu/(1-\mu)}}}, \qquad (3.26)$$

which implies (3.25).

**Remark 10.** We note that if  $\Re p \neq 0$  or  $\Re q \neq 0$  the transformation T is not defined on  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$  or  $S^{\mu}_{\mu}(\mathbb{R})$  for  $\mu \geq 1$ . The crucial point for the requirement  $\mu < 1$  is the fact that the all  $f \in S^{\mu}_{\mu}(\mathbb{R})$  are restrictions on  $\mathbb{R}$  of entire functions and T acts continuously in  $S^{\mu}_{\mu}(\mathbb{R})$  using equivalent topology for entire functions. For more details see [20],[5].

Let us consider the second order operator

$$L = D_x^2 + i\varepsilon x D_x + \omega x^2 + ipD_x + qx + \tau, \qquad (3.27)$$

where  $\boldsymbol{\omega} = \boldsymbol{\omega}_1 + \boldsymbol{\omega}_2 i \in \mathbb{C}, \ \boldsymbol{\omega} \neq 0, \ \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}, p \in \mathbb{R}, \ q, \tau \in \mathbb{C}.$ 

Actually, using dilation  $x = |\omega_1|^{1/4} y$ , if  $\omega_1$  is different from zero, we can consider 3 classes of operators (modulo multiplication with  $|\omega_1|^{1/2}$ , when  $\omega_1 \neq 0$ ), reducing to 3 cases:  $\omega_1 = 1$ ,  $\omega_1 = -1$ ,  $\omega_1 = 0$ , namely

$$L_{+} = D_{x}^{2} + i\varepsilon x D_{x} + (1 + i\delta)x^{2} + ipD_{x} + qx + \tau, \qquad (3.28)$$

$$L_{-} = D_{x}^{2} + i\varepsilon x D_{x} + (-1 + i\delta)x^{2} + ipD_{x} + qx + \tau, \qquad (3.29)$$

$$L_0 = D_x^2 + i\varepsilon x D_x + i\delta x^2 + ipD_x + qx + \tau, \qquad (3.30)$$

for  $\varepsilon, \delta, p \in \mathbb{R}, q, \tau \in \mathbb{C}, \delta \neq 0$  in (3.30).

We classify completely the class of operators (3.27) when  $\varepsilon \neq 0$ .

**Theorem 36.** The operator L(3.27) is globally elliptic iff

either 
$$\boldsymbol{\omega}_1 \ge 0 \text{ or } \boldsymbol{\omega}_1 < 0 \text{ and } \boldsymbol{\omega}_2^2 + \boldsymbol{\omega}_1 \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^2 \neq 0,$$
 (3.31)

or stated equivalently

$$L_+$$
 is globally elliptic for all  $\delta, \varepsilon \in \mathbb{R}$ , (3.32)

$$L_{-}$$
 is globally elliptic iff  $\delta^2 \neq \varepsilon^2$ , (3.33)

$$L_0$$
 is globally elliptic iff  $\delta \neq 0$ . (3.34)

Furthermore, there exist  $a, b \in \mathbb{C}$  such that the transformation  $T_{a,b}$ 

$$u(x) = e^{-\frac{\varepsilon}{4}(x+b)^2} T_{a,b} v(x) = e^{-\frac{\varepsilon}{4}(x+b)^2} e^{ax} v(x+b)$$
(3.35)

transforms L to

$$H_{\theta}v(y) + rv(y) = -v''(y) + \theta x^2 v(y) + r, \quad \theta \in \mathbb{C} \setminus 0, 2\Re\sqrt{\theta} \neq |\varepsilon| r \in \mathbb{C}.$$
(3.36)

Under the assumption (3.31) the following properties are equivalent:

- i) P has a discrete spectrum with simple eigenvalues in  $\Re z > 0$  with eigenfunctions forming a Schauder basis (but not Riesz basis) and compact resolvent.
- $\label{eq:ii} \textit{iii} \ \textit{Either} \ \omega_1 \geq 0 \ \textit{or} \ \omega_1 < 0, \ \omega_2 \neq 0 \ \textit{and} \ |\epsilon| < \epsilon_0 = -\omega_2^2/\omega_1.$
- iii) The normal form operator  $H_{\theta}$  in (3.36) satisfies

$$2\Re\sqrt{\theta} > |\varepsilon|. \tag{3.37}$$

In particular, if i) or ii) holds, the eigenvalues are given by

$$\lambda_k = \theta^{1/2} (2k-1) + r, \quad \theta = \omega_1 + \frac{\varepsilon^2}{4} + i\omega_2, k \in \mathbb{N}$$
(3.38)

with eigenfunctions forming bi-orthogonal basis with respect to the complex weight inner product (3.23)

$$\sigma(x) = e^{\frac{\varepsilon}{4}x^2 + ax}.$$
(3.39)

defined by

$$\varphi_k(x) = \kappa e^{-\frac{\varepsilon}{4}x^2} e^{-ax} H_k(\theta^{1/4}(x-b)), \quad k \in \mathbb{N},$$
(3.40)

with

$$\kappa^{-1} = \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}} H_k^2(\theta^{1/4}(x-b))dx\right)^{1/2} = \theta^{-1/4}.$$

Finally,

if 
$$\boldsymbol{\omega}_{l} < 0$$
,  $|\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}| > \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{0}$ , then spec  $(L) = \mathbb{C}$ . (3.41)

**Remark 11.** We can rewrite the result in Theorem 36 for  $L_+$ ,  $L_-$  and  $L_0$  under the hypothesis of global hypoellipticity:

 $L_{+}$  and  $L_{0}$  have discrete spectrum and eigenfunctions defined in (3.21), (3.40) (3.42)

 $L_{-}$  has discrete spectrum as (3.42) iff  $\delta^{2} > \varepsilon^{2}$  and spec  $(L_{-}) = \mathbb{C}$  for  $\delta^{2} < \varepsilon^{2}$ ,

### 3.1.1 Proof of the complex harmonic oscillator NF

First we study the  $\Gamma$  ellipticity. Since the principal symbol of P is

$$p_2(x,\xi) = \xi^2 + \omega_1 x^2 + ix(\varepsilon \xi + \omega_2).$$
 (3.43)

one checks easily that that  $p_2(x,\xi) \neq 0$  for  $(x,\xi) \neq (0,0)$  iff  $\omega_2^2 + \omega_1 \varepsilon^2 \neq 0$ .

The idea of the proof is quite natural. We know by the theory of complex ODE that all solutions of

$$Pu - \lambda u = 0, \quad \lambda \in \mathbb{C}, \tag{3.44}$$

are extended to entire functions. Therefore, straightforward calculations show that u(x) solves (3.44) iff v(x), defined by

$$u(x) = e^{-\varepsilon \frac{(x+b)^2}{4} - \frac{p(x+b)}{2}} v(x+b)$$
(3.45)

solves

$$\mathscr{H}_{\omega}v + (r - \lambda)v = 0, \quad \lambda \in \mathbb{C},$$
(3.46)

where

$$\boldsymbol{\omega} = \boldsymbol{\beta} - \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^2 / 4, \quad \boldsymbol{a} = p / 2, \quad \boldsymbol{b} = \frac{q}{2\boldsymbol{\omega}}. \tag{3.47}$$

The spectrum of  $\mathscr{H}_{\omega}$  is discrete, with eigenvalues  $\lambda_k = \omega^{1/2}(2k-1) + r$ , and basis the complex Hermite functions  $H_k(\omega^{1/4}y)$ . One checks immediately (returning to u via (3.35))

$$\varphi_k(x) := e^{-\varepsilon \frac{(x+b)^2}{4} - \frac{px}{2}} H_k(\omega^{1/4}(x+b)) \in L^2(\mathbb{R}) \text{ if } (3.37) \text{ holds.}$$
(3.48)

In order to complete the proof we have to apply complex WKB methods (cf. [66]).

**Lemma 8.** Let  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ . Then all solutions of

$$Lu - \lambda u = 0 \tag{3.49}$$

are restrictions on the real line of entire functions. Moreover, we can find a basis  $\varphi_{exp}^{\pm}(x;\lambda)$ ,  $\varphi_{dec}^{\pm}(x;\lambda)$ ,  $x \in \mathbb{C}$  satisfying

$$\varphi_{exp}^{\pm}(x) = a_{exp}^{\pm}(x) \exp\left(\varepsilon \frac{x^2}{4} \pm \int_{x_0}^x \sqrt{(\omega_1 + i\omega_2)t^2} dt + O(|x|)\right), \quad x \in \Gamma_{\pm}, |x| \to \infty,$$
  
$$\varphi_{dec}^{\pm}(x) = a_{dec}^{\pm}(x) \exp\left(\varepsilon \frac{x^2}{4} \mp \int_{x_0}^x \sqrt{(\omega_1 + i\omega_2)t^2} dt + O(|x|)\right), \quad x \in \Gamma_{\pm}, |x| \to \infty.$$

with  $\Gamma_{\pm}$  being a complex conic neighbourhood of  $\mathbb{R}^{\pm}$ , and the amplitudes  $a_{dec}^{\pm}(x), a_{exp}^{\pm}(x)$  are holomorphic in  $\Gamma^{\pm}$  and are  $O(|x|^{-1/2}), x \in \Gamma^{\pm}, |x| \to \infty$ .

*Proof.* We consider the following transformation

$$Eu(x) := e^{-\frac{p}{2}x}u(x),$$

So the operator L in (3.15) becomes

$$E^* \circ L \circ E = \hat{L} = D_x^2 + i\varepsilon x D_x + (\omega_1 + i\omega_2)x^2 + hx + \ell,$$

where  $h = q - i\varepsilon \frac{p}{2}$  and  $\ell = r - \frac{p^2}{4}$ .

We can apply the transformation

$$E_{\varepsilon}v(x) = e^{\varepsilon x^2/4}v(x),$$

so we have

$$E_{\varepsilon}^{-1} \circ \hat{L} \circ E_{\varepsilon} = \tilde{L} = D_x^2 + \left(\tilde{\omega}_1 + i\tilde{\omega}_2\right) x^2 + \tilde{h}x + \tilde{\ell}, \qquad (3.50)$$

where  $\omega_1 = \omega_1 + \frac{\varepsilon^2}{2}$ , and  $\tilde{\omega}_2 = \omega_2$ ,  $\tilde{h} = h$ ,  $\tilde{\ell} - \frac{\varepsilon}{2}$ . The equation (3.49) is equivalent to

$$\tilde{L}v - \lambda v = -v'' + (\tilde{\omega}x^2 + \tilde{h}x + \tilde{\ell} - \lambda)v = 0$$
(3.51)

Now we can apply the complex WKB method for the equation above. More precisely, we can find two linearly independent solutions for  $x \to +\infty$ (respectively,  $-\infty$ ), namely

$$\Psi_{exp}^{+}(x;\lambda) = b_{exp}^{+}(x)e^{\int_{0}^{x}\sqrt{(\tilde{\omega}_{1}+i\tilde{\omega}_{2})t^{2}+\tilde{h}t+\tilde{\ell}-\lambda}dt},$$
  
$$\Psi_{dec}^{+}(x;\lambda) = b_{dec}^{+}(x)e^{-\int_{0}^{x}\sqrt{(\tilde{\omega}_{1}+i\tilde{\omega}_{2})t^{2}+\tilde{h}t+\tilde{\ell}-\lambda}dt},$$
  
(3.52)

for  $x \in \Gamma_+$  (respectively,

$$\begin{split} \Psi_{exp}^{-}(x;\lambda) &= b_{exp}^{-}(x)e^{-\int_{0}^{x}\sqrt{(\tilde{\omega}_{1}+i\tilde{\omega}_{2})t^{2}+\tilde{h}t+\tilde{\ell}-\lambda}dt},\\ \Psi_{dec}^{-}(x;\lambda) &= b_{dec}^{-}(x)e^{\int_{0}^{x}\sqrt{(\tilde{\omega}_{1}+i\tilde{\omega}_{2})t^{2}+\tilde{h}t+\tilde{\ell}-\lambda}dt}, \end{split}$$
(3.53)

for  $x \in \Gamma_{-}$  and the amplitudes  $b_{dec}^{\pm}(x), b_{exp}^{\pm}(x)$  are holomorphic in  $\Gamma^{\pm}$  and are  $O(|x|^{-1/2}), x \in \Gamma^{\pm}, |x| \to \infty$ . We point out that (3.52) (respectively, (3.53)) implies

$$\begin{aligned} |\Psi_{exp}^{+}(x)| &\sim \varkappa_{exp}^{+} |x|^{-1/2} e^{\int_{0}^{x} Re \sqrt{(\tilde{\omega}_{1} + i\tilde{\omega}_{2})t^{2} + \tilde{h}t + \tilde{\ell} - \lambda} dt} \\ &= \varkappa_{exp}^{+} |x|^{-1/2} e^{Re \left(\sqrt{(\tilde{\omega}_{1} + i\tilde{\omega}_{2})x^{2}/2}\right) + O(|x|)} \\ |\Psi_{dec}^{+}(x)| &\sim \varkappa_{dec}^{+} |x|^{-1/2} e^{-\int_{0}^{x} Re \sqrt{(\tilde{\omega}_{1} + i\tilde{\omega}_{2})t^{2} + \tilde{h}t + \tilde{\ell} - \lambda} dt} \\ &= \varkappa_{dec}^{+} |x|^{-1/2} e^{-Re \left(\sqrt{(\tilde{\omega}_{1} + i\tilde{\omega}_{2})x^{2}/2}\right) + O(|x|)} \end{aligned}$$
(3.54)

for  $x \in \Gamma_+$ ,  $|x| \to \infty$ , where  $\varkappa_{exp/dec}^+ \in \mathbb{R}^+$ , (respectively,

$$\begin{aligned} |\Psi_{exp}^{-}(x)| &\sim \varkappa_{exp}^{-} |x|^{-1/2} e^{-\int_{0}^{x} Re(\sqrt{(\tilde{\omega}_{1}+i\tilde{\omega}_{2})t^{2}}+\tilde{h}t+\tilde{\ell}-\lambda dt)} \\ &= \varkappa_{exp}^{-} |x|^{-1/2} e^{-Re\left(\sqrt{(\tilde{\omega}_{1}+i\tilde{\omega}_{2})}x^{2}/2\right)+O(|x|)} \\ |\Psi_{dec}^{-}(x)| &\sim \varkappa_{dec}^{-} |x|^{-1/2} e^{\int_{0}^{x} Re\sqrt{(\tilde{\omega}_{1}+i\tilde{\omega}_{2})t^{2}}+\tilde{h}t+\tilde{\ell}-\lambda dt} \\ &= \varkappa_{dec}^{-} |x|^{-1/2} e^{+Re\left(\sqrt{(\tilde{\omega}_{1}+i\tilde{\omega}_{2})}x^{2}/2\right)+O(|x|)} \end{aligned}$$
(3.55)

for  $x \in \Gamma_{-}$ ,  $|x| \to \infty$  and  $\varkappa_{exp/dec}^{-} \in \mathbb{R}^{+}$ ).

Let  $C^{\pm}_{\mp}$  be the transition matrix from  $\mp \infty$  to  $\pm \infty$ . Thus

$$\Psi^+ = \begin{pmatrix} \Psi_{exp}^+ \\ \Psi_{dec}^+ \end{pmatrix} = C_-^+ \Psi^- = C_-^+ \begin{pmatrix} \Psi_{exp}^- \\ \Psi_{dec}^- \end{pmatrix}, \quad C_-^+ = (C_+^-)^{-1}.$$

One observes that

$$\int_0^x \sqrt{(\tilde{\omega}_1 + i\tilde{\omega}_2)t^2 + \tilde{h}t + \tilde{\ell} - \lambda} dt \simeq \sqrt{(\tilde{\omega}_1 + i\tilde{\omega}_2)} \frac{x^2}{2} + O(|x|).$$

Coming back to the operator P, and using the fact that the solutions of  $Pu - \lambda u = 0$  are entire functions we obtain

$$\begin{split} & \varphi_{exp}^+(x;\lambda) \sim e^{\varepsilon \frac{x^2}{4}} \psi_{exp}^+(x), \\ & \varphi_{exp}^-(x;\lambda) \sim e^{\varepsilon \frac{x^2}{4}} \psi_{exp}^-(x), \\ & \varphi_{dec}^+(x;\lambda) \sim e^{\varepsilon \frac{x^2}{4}} \psi_{dec}^+(x), \\ & \varphi_{dec}^-(x;\lambda) \sim e^{\varepsilon \frac{x^2}{4}} \psi_{dec}^-(x). \end{split}$$

and so we can find a solution of our equation (3.49).

Now we are able to prove Theorem 36. We study the spectral properties using the previous Lemma. We have three cases:

- If  $\varepsilon < -Re\sqrt{(\omega_1 + \frac{\varepsilon^2}{4} + i\omega_2)}$  then  $Ker(P \lambda I) \subset S_{1/2}^{1/2}(\mathbb{R})$  for any  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ , so  $spec(P) = \mathbb{C}$ .
- If  $\varepsilon > Re\sqrt{(\omega_1 + \frac{\varepsilon^2}{4} + i\omega_2)}$  then  $Ker(P \lambda I) = \{0\}$ , so the  $indP \neq 0$ , so the  $spec(P) = \mathbb{C}$ .
- If  $|\varepsilon| < Re\sqrt{(\omega_1 + \frac{\varepsilon^2}{4} + i\omega_2)}$  then we have a compact resolvent so the spectrum of *P* is discrete.

If  $\omega_1 > 0$ , the operator P is a globally elliptic, so we can reduce P to normal form in the operator

$$\tilde{P} = \sqrt{\omega} \left( D_z^2 + z^2 + \frac{\tilde{r}}{\sqrt{\omega}} \right).$$

That operator has compact resolvent and its eigenvalues are  $\lambda_k = \sqrt{\omega}(2k+1) + r, \ k \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ . We write the eigenfunctions

$$\tilde{u}_k(z) = \tilde{c}_k H_k(z) e^{-z^2/2},$$

where  $H_k$  are the Hermite functions. So for the operator P (3.13) a basis of eigenfunctions is defined as follows:

$$u_k(x) = c_k e^{-i(\alpha \frac{x^2}{4} + \frac{\gamma x}{2})} H_k(\sqrt[4]{\omega}(x + \delta/(2\omega)) e^{-\frac{(x+\delta)/(2\omega)^2}{2}}$$

The proof is complete.

## 3.2 Normal forms of 1D anisotropic non selfadjoint operators

In view of the results in Chapter 2 for self-adjoint anisotropic operators without loss of generality, applying first the unitary NFT, used in Chapter 2, we consider operators of the following form

$$Pu = D_x^2 u + ia(x)D_x u + b(x)u = -u'' + a(x)u' + b(x)u, \quad x \in \mathbb{R},$$
(3.56)

where

$$a(x) = \sum_{j=0}^{k} a_j x^{k-j}, \quad a_j \in \mathbb{R}, j = 0, 1, \dots, k,$$
 (3.57)

$$b(x) = \sum_{j=0}^{2k} b_j x^{2k-j}, \quad b_j \in \mathbb{C}, j = 0, 1, \dots, 2k, b_0 \neq 0$$
(3.58)

We recall the global anisotropic ellipticity condition (cf. [3], [6])

$$p_2(x,\xi) = \xi^2 + ia_0 x^k \xi + b_0 x^{2k} \neq 0, \quad \text{for } (x,\xi) \neq (0,0).$$
(3.59)

It is well known that if  $u \in \mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$ ,  $Pu = f \in S^{\mu}_{\nu}(\mathbb{R})$ , with

$$\mu \geq \frac{k}{k+1} \qquad \nu \geq \frac{1}{k+1},$$
then also  $u \in S^{\mu}_{\nu}(\mathbb{R})$  cf. [6].

We recall that all solutions of

$$Pu - \lambda u = 0, \quad x \in \mathbb{R}, \ \lambda \in \mathbb{C}$$
 (3.60)

are extended to entire functions in  $\mathbb{C}$  because the coefficients are polynomials. Therefore, applying the transformation  $E_{-A} = e^{-A(x)/2}$ , where  $A(x) = \int_0^x a(t)dt$ , to the operator (3.56) we get

$$\tilde{P} = E_A^{-1} \circ P \circ E_A = D_x^2 + Q(x), \qquad (3.61)$$

where

$$Q(x) = b(x) + \frac{a(x)^2}{4} - \frac{\partial_x(a(x))}{2}i = \sum_{j=0}^{2k} q_j x^{2k-j}, \quad q_j \in \mathbb{C}, j = 0, 1, \dots, 2k.$$
(3.62)

We require that

$$\Re q_0 > 0$$
, if  $\Im q_0 = 0.$  (3.63)

Then one checks easily that P is globally (anisotropically) elliptic iff

$$\Im b_0^2 + \frac{1}{4} a_0^2 \Re b_0 \neq 0 \quad \text{if } \Re b_0 \le 0.$$
 (3.64)

We note that  $Q(x) = q_0(x + \frac{q_1}{2kq_0})^{2k}$  plus polynomial of degree  $\leq 2k-2$ . Hence

$$\widetilde{Q}(y) := Q(y - \frac{q_1}{2kq_0}) = q_0 y^{2k} + \sum_{j=0}^{2k-3} \widetilde{q}_j x^{2k-j} + r, \quad \widetilde{q}_j \in \mathbb{C}, j = 0, 1, \dots, 2k-3, r \in \mathbb{C}$$
(3.65)

which leads to

$$T_{\frac{-q_1}{2kq_0}}^{-1} \circ \widetilde{P} \circ T_{\frac{-q_1}{2kq_0}} = -\Delta + \widetilde{Q}(x)$$
(3.66)

**Proposition 29.** Set  $J = E_A \circ T_{-\frac{q_1}{2kq_0}} \circ D_{q_0^{1/(2k+2)}}$ . Then

$$J^{-1} \circ P \circ J = \tau L_{2k,w}(x, D_x) + r, w_j := \frac{\tilde{q}_j}{\tau^{2k-j}}, \quad j = 0, 1, \dots, 2k-3.$$
(3.67)

Assume now that

$$w_j := \rho_j \in \mathbb{R}, \quad j = 0, \dots, 2k - 3.$$
 (3.68)

Then every solution of  $Pu - \lambda u = 0$  is given by

,

$$u(x) = e^{A \frac{\left((q_0)^{1/(2k+2)}(x-\frac{q_0}{2kq_1})\right)}{2}} v\left((q_0)^{1/(2k+2)}(x-\frac{q_0}{2kq_1})\right)$$
(3.69)

with v solving

$$L_{2k,\rho}v + \frac{r - \lambda}{\tau^2}v = 0.$$
 (3.70)

*Proof.* One observes that

$$J^{-1} \circ P \circ J = T_{-\frac{q_1}{2kq_0}}^{-1} \circ \widetilde{P} \circ T_{\frac{q_1}{2kq_0}}^{-q_1}$$
  
=  $D_{q_0^{-1/(2k+2)}} \circ T_{\frac{q_1}{2kq_0}} \circ \widetilde{P} \circ T_{\frac{-q_1}{2kq_0}} \circ D_{q_0^{1/(2k+2)}}$   
=  $D_{q_0^{-1/(2k+2)}}^{-1} \circ (-\Delta + \widetilde{Q}) \circ D_{q_0^{-1/(2k+2)}} = \tau^2 L_{2k,\rho} + r.$  (3.71)

Next, we study the spectral properties.

Theorem 37. Suppose that

$$|a_0| > 2\Re(q_0^{1/2}). \tag{3.72}$$

Then

$$spec(P) = \mathbb{C}.$$

Finally, in the case k odd we have

$$Ker(P-\lambda) \bigcap \mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{R}) = \{ u \in \mathscr{O}(\mathbb{C}) : Pu - \lambda u = 0 \},$$
$$Ker(P^* - \lambda) \bigcap \mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{R}) = \{ 0 \}$$

(respectively

$$Ker(P^* - \lambda) \bigcap \mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{R}) = \{ u \in \mathscr{O}(\mathbb{C}) : Pu - \lambda u = 0 \},$$
$$Ker(P - \lambda) \bigcap \mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{R}) = \{ 0 \} \}$$

provided  $a_0 < -2\Re(q_0^{1/2})$  (respectively  $a_0 > 2\Re(q_0^{1/2})$ ) while for k even

$$Ker(P-\lambda)\bigcap \mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{R}) = Ker(P^*-\lambda)\bigcap \mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{R}) = \{0\}.$$

**Remark 12.** We note that under the hypothesis (3.72) we do not require the zero imaginary part condition.

Next, we investigate the case of discrete spectrum.

**Theorem 38.** Suppose that that

$$|a_0| < 2\Re(q_0^{1/2}). \tag{3.73}$$

Then P has compact resolvent and discrete spectrum. Moreover, if the zero condition holds, we have:

• The spectrum of **P** is discrete and given by

$$spec(P) = \{\lambda_j : \lambda_j = q_0^{1/(k+1)} \lambda_j(\vec{\rho}) + r \ j \in \mathbb{N}\}.$$
 (3.74)

with a basis of eigenfunctions  $\psi_j$ ,  $j \in \mathbb{N}$  defined by

$$\Psi_j(x) = c_j e^{-iA(x)/2} \varphi_j(q_0^{1/(2k+2)}(x + \frac{q_1}{2kq_0})), \quad j \in \mathbb{N}$$
(3.75)

with  $c_j > 0$  defined by  $\left\| \psi_j \right\|_{L^2} = 1$ 

#### **3.2.1** Proof of the assertions on the spectral properties

The first ingredient of our proof consists of the use of the complex WKB (or JWKB) method. We derive an important auxiliary assertion

**Lemma 9.** Let  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ . Then all solutions of

$$Pu - \lambda u = 0 \tag{3.76}$$

are restrictions on the real line of entire functions. Moreover, we can find two basis  $\varphi_{exp}^{\pm}(x;\lambda)$ ,  $\varphi_{dec}^{\pm}(x;\lambda)$ ,  $x \in \mathbb{C}$  of  $Ker(P-\lambda)$  satisfying

$$\begin{split} \varphi_{exp}^{\pm}(x) &= a_{exp}^{\pm}(x) \exp\left(\frac{a_0 x^{k+1}}{2(k+1)} \pm \int_{x_0}^x \sqrt{q_0 t^{2k}} dt + O(|x|^k)\right), \quad x \in \Gamma_{\pm}, |x| \to \infty, \\ \varphi_{dec}^{\pm}(x) &= a_{dec}^{\pm}(x) \exp\left(\frac{a_0 x^{k+1}}{2(k+1)} \mp \int_{x_0}^x \sqrt{q_0 t^{2k}} dt + O(|x|^k|)\right), \quad x \in \Gamma_{\pm}, |x| \to \infty. \end{split}$$

with  $\Gamma_{\pm}$  being a complex conic neighbourhood of  $\mathbb{R}^{\pm}$ , and the amplitudes  $a_{dec}^{\pm}(x), a_{exp}^{\pm}(x)$  are holomorphic in  $\Gamma^{\pm}$  and are  $O(|x|^{-k/2}), x \in \Gamma^{\pm}, |x| \to \infty$ .

*Proof.* We can apply the transformation  $E_{A(x)} = e^{-A(x)/2}$ , where  $A(x) = \int_0^x a(t)dt$ , to the operator (3.56) and we are reduced to the study of  $\tilde{P}$  (3.61). Thus the equation (3.76) is equivalent to

$$\tilde{P}v - \lambda v = -v'' + \tilde{Q}(x)v = 0, \qquad (3.77)$$

where  $\tilde{Q}(x) = Q(x) - \lambda$ .

Now we can apply the complex WKB method for the equation above. More precisely, we can find two linearly independent solutions for  $x \to +\infty$ (respectively,  $-\infty$ ), namely

$$\Psi_{exp}^{+}(x;\lambda) = b_{exp}^{+}(x)e^{\int_{0}^{x}\sqrt{q_{0}t^{2k}+q_{1}t^{2k-1}+\ldots+q_{2k}-\lambda}\,dt},$$
  
$$\Psi_{dec}^{+}(x;\lambda) = b_{dec}^{+}(x)e^{-\int_{0}^{x}\sqrt{q_{0}t^{2k}+q_{1}t^{2k-1}+\ldots+q_{2k}-\lambda}\,dt},$$
  
(3.78)

for  $x \in \Gamma_+$  (respectively,

$$\begin{split} \psi_{exp}^{-}(x;\lambda) &= b_{exp}^{-}(x)e^{-(-1)^{k-1}\int_{0}^{x}\sqrt{q_{0}t^{2k}+q_{1}t^{2k-1}+\ldots+q_{2k}-\lambda}\,dt},\\ \psi_{dec}^{-}(x;\lambda) &= b_{dec}^{-}(x)e^{(-1)^{k-1}\int_{0}^{x}\sqrt{q_{0}t^{2k}+q_{1}t^{2k-1}+\ldots+q_{2k}-\lambda}\,dt}, \end{split}$$

$$(3.79)$$

for  $x \in \Gamma_{-}$ ) and the amplitudes  $b_{dec}^{\pm}(x), b_{exp}^{\pm}(x)$  are holomorphic in  $\Gamma^{\pm}$  and are  $O(|x|^{-k/2}), x \in \Gamma^{\pm}, |x| \to \infty$ .

We point out that the WKB method and (3.78) (respectively, (3.79)) imply

$$\begin{aligned} |\Psi_{exp}^{+}(x)| &\sim \varkappa_{exp}^{+} |x|^{-k/2} e^{\int_{0}^{x} Re \sqrt{q_{0} t^{2k} + q_{1} t^{2k-1} + \dots + q_{2k} - \lambda} dt \\ &= \varkappa_{exp}^{+} |x|^{-k/2} e^{Re(\sqrt{q_{0}} x^{k+1} / (k+1)) + O(|x|^{k})} \\ |\Psi_{dec}^{+}(x)| &\sim \varkappa_{dec}^{+} |x|^{-k/2} e^{-\int_{0}^{x} Re \sqrt{q_{0} t^{2k} + q_{1} t^{2k-1} + \dots + q_{2k} - \lambda} dt \\ &= \varkappa_{dec}^{+} |x|^{-k/2} e^{-Re(\sqrt{q_{0}} x^{k+1} / (k+1)) + O(|x|^{k})} \end{aligned}$$
(3.80)

for  $x \in \Gamma_+$ ,  $|x| \to \infty$ , where  $\varkappa_{exp/dec}^+ \in \mathbb{R}^+$ , (respectively,

$$\begin{aligned} |\Psi_{exp}^{-}(x)| &\sim \varkappa_{exp}^{-} |x|^{-k/2} |e^{-(-1)^{k-1} \int_{0}^{x} \sqrt{q_{0} t^{2k} + q_{1} t^{2k-1} + \dots + q_{2k} - \lambda} dt}| \\ &= \varkappa_{exp}^{-} |x|^{-k/2} e^{(-1)^{k-1} Re(\sqrt{q_{0} x^{k+1}}/(k+1)) + O(|x|)^{k}} \\ |\Psi_{dec}^{-}(x)| &\sim \varkappa_{dec}^{-} |x|^{-k/2} |e^{\int_{0}^{x} \sqrt{q_{0} t^{2k} + q_{1} t^{2k-1} + \dots + q_{2k} - \lambda} dt}| \\ &= \varkappa_{dec}^{-} |x|^{-k/2} e^{-(-1)^{k-1} Re(\sqrt{q_{0} x^{k+1}}/(k+1)) + O(|x|^{k})} \end{aligned}$$
(3.81)

for  $x \in \Gamma_{-}$ ,  $|x| \to \infty$  and  $\varkappa_{exp/dec}^{-} \in \mathbb{R}^{+}$ ), taking into account that

$$\int_0^x \sqrt{q_0 t^{2k} + q_1 t^{2k-1} + \ldots + q_{2k} - \lambda} \, dt \simeq \pm (-1)^{k-1} \sqrt{q_0} \frac{x^{k+1}}{k+1} + O(|x|^k), \ x \in \Gamma \pm \frac{1}{2} + O(|x|^k), \ x \in \Gamma \pm \frac{1}{2}$$

Set  $C^{\pm}_{\mp} * \{C^{\pm}_{\mp}(jk)\}_{j,k=1,2}$  to be the transition matrix from  $\mp$  to  $\pm$ , namely

$$\psi^{\pm} = egin{pmatrix} \psi^{\pm}_{exp} \ \psi^{\pm}_{dec} \end{pmatrix} = C^{\pm}_{\mp} \psi^{\mp} = C^{\pm}_{\mp} egin{pmatrix} \psi^{\mp}_{exp} \ \psi^{\mp}_{dec} \end{pmatrix},$$

with  $C_{-}^{+} = (C_{+}^{-})^{-1}$ .

Coming back to the operator P, we obtain that

$$\begin{split} \varphi_{exp}^{\pm}(x) &= e^{-A(x)/2} \, \psi_{exp}^{\pm}(x), \\ \varphi_{dec}^{\pm}(x) &= e^{-A(x)/2} \, \psi_{dec}^{\pm}(x), \\ \varphi_{exp}^{\pm}(x) &\sim \varkappa_{exp}^{-} |x|^{-k/2} e^{-a_0 x^{k+1} (2(k+1)) + Re(\sqrt{q_0} |x|^{k+1}/(k+1)) + O(|x|^k)}, \quad x \in \mathbb{R}, |x| \to \infty, \\ \varphi_{dec}^{\pm}(x) &\sim e \, \varkappa_{dec}^{-} |x|^{-k/2} e^{-a_0 x^{k+1} (2(k+1)) - Re(\sqrt{q_0} |x|^{k+1}/(k+1)) + O(|x|^k)}, \quad x \in \mathbb{R}, |x| \to \infty \end{split}$$

and  $\varphi^{\pm} = C^{\pm}_{\mp} \varphi^{\mp}$ ,  $\varphi^{\pm} = (\varphi^{\pm}_{exp}, \varphi^{\pm}_{dec})$ . Evidently the estimates above, combined with standard arguments in the spectral theory and the explicit formulas for the eigenvalues of the complex harmonic oscillator complete the proof of both theorems.

## 3.3 Normal forms and spectral properties of multidimensional Shubin operators

We consider the operator in (3.12). Set  $A = A_1 + iA_2$ ,  $B = B_1 + iB_2$ ,  $A_j$ ,  $B_j \in M_n(\mathbb{R})$ ,  $B_j$ , j = 1, 2 are symmetric. We assume that

$$B_1 > 0,$$
 (3.82)

$$A^T = A$$
, namely,  $A_1$  and  $A_2$  are symmetric, (3.83)

$$B_1 - \frac{A_1^2}{4} > 0 \tag{3.84}$$

$$\Theta_1 := B_1 - \frac{A_1^2}{4} + \frac{A_2^2}{4}$$
 and  $\Theta_2 := B_1 + \frac{A_1A_2}{4} + \frac{A_2A_1}{4}$  are commuting. (3.85)

We note that (3.83) implies that  $\Theta_1$  and  $\Theta_2$  are symmetric. By well known classical theorems on the centralizers of finite matrices we obtain that (3.85)

is equivalent to the existence of  $S \in SO(n)$  which diagonalizes simultaneously  $\Theta_1$  and  $\Theta_2$ 

$$S^T \Theta_j S = \operatorname{diag} \{ \boldsymbol{\omega}_{j;1}, \dots, \boldsymbol{\omega}_{j;n} \}, \quad \boldsymbol{\omega}_{j;\ell} \in \mathbb{R}, \ j = 1, 2, \ell = 1, \dots, n.$$
(3.86)

One checks easily that (3.84) yields  $\omega_{1,\ell} > 0$ ,  $\ell = 1, ..., n$ . Under the hypothesis above we have

**Theorem 39.** The operator P defined by (3.12) is  $\Gamma$  elliptic and one can find  $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}^n$ ,  $r \in \mathbb{C}$  such that the transformation

$$J = e^{-\frac{i}{4} \langle S^T A S x, x \rangle + \langle \alpha, x \rangle} T_\beta$$
(3.87)

reduces P to a multidimensional complex harmonic oscillator

$$J^{-1} \circ P \circ J = -\Delta + \sum_{\ell=1}^{n} (\omega_{1,\ell} + \omega_{2;\ell} i) x_j^2 + r.$$
(3.88)

Moreover, the spectrum is discrete and we can express explicitly the eigenvalues and the eigenfunctions of P via J and the Hermite functions.

The proof follows from the fact that

$$e^{-\frac{i}{4}\langle S^{T}ASx,x\rangle} \circ P \circ e^{-\frac{i}{4}\langle S^{T}ASx,x\rangle} = -\Delta + \sum_{\ell=1}^{n} (\omega_{1,\ell} + \omega_{2;\ell}i)x_{j}^{2} + \text{ lower order terms.}$$

$$(3.89)$$

So we have separation of the variables and we apply the results for the onedimensional harmonic oscillator n times.

Finally, we outline a strategy for the study of normal forms in the multidimensional anisotropic case

$$P = -\Delta + \langle a(x), D_x \rangle + b(x), \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^n,$$
(3.90)

where

$$a(x) = (a_1(x), \dots, a_n(x)),$$
 (3.91)

with

$$a_{j} = \sum_{|\beta| \le k} a_{j,\beta} x^{\beta}, \quad a_{j,\beta} \in \mathbb{C},$$
$$b(x) = \sum_{\beta \le 2k} b_{\beta} x^{\beta} \quad b_{\beta} \in \mathbb{C}.$$

We have to require in the multidimensional case, in order to be able to cancel the mixed term by transformation of the type  $e^{-\frac{i}{2}U(x)}$  to (3.90), the existence of global polynomial potential U(x) of the linear form  $\langle a(x), dx \rangle$ , namely  $\nabla U(x) = a(x)$ , or equivalently the form

$$a_1(x)dx_1 + \ldots + a_n(x)dx_n$$
 is closed in  $\mathbb{C}^n$ . (3.92)

Under the assumption above we get

$$\tilde{P} = e^{\frac{i}{2}U(x)} \circ P \circ e^{-\frac{i}{2}U(x)} = -\Delta + \tilde{B}(x), \qquad (3.93)$$

where

$$\tilde{B}(x) = b(x) - \frac{1}{4} \langle a(x), a(x) \rangle + \frac{i}{2} \Delta U(x)$$
  
=  $\sum_{\alpha \le 2k} \tilde{b}_{\alpha} x^{\alpha}.$  (3.94)

Now we need a symmetry type condition yielding to separation of the variables: there exists  $S \in SO(n)$  and n polynomials of degree 2k

$$\tilde{b}_{\ell}(t) = \sum_{j=0}^{2k} \tilde{b}_{\ell;j} t^{2k-j}, \quad \tilde{b}_{\ell;j} \in \mathbb{C}, j = 0, 1, \dots 2k, \Re \tilde{b}_{\ell;0} > 0, \ell = 1, \dots, n, \quad (3.95)$$

such that

$$\tilde{B}(Sy) = \sum_{\ell=1}^{n} \tilde{b}_{\ell}(y_{\ell}).$$
(3.96)

So (3.93) becomes

$$\tilde{\tilde{P}} = S^T \circ \tilde{P} \circ S = -\Delta_y + \sum_{\ell=1}^n \tilde{b}_\ell(y_\ell).$$
(3.97)

Finally, we assume that for each  $\ell$  the zero imaginary part condition holds and thus translations  $y_{\ell} \to y_{\ell} + \tilde{b}_{\ell;1}/(2k\tilde{b}_{\ell;0})$  and dilations  $y_{\ell} \to \tilde{b}_{\ell;0}^{-1/(2(k+1))}y_{\ell}$ reduce to the normal form

$$P_{NF} = \sum_{\ell=1}^{n} \omega_{\ell} L_{2k,\rho^{\ell}}(y_{\ell}, D_{y_{\ell}}) + r, \quad \rho^{\ell} \in \mathbb{R}^{2k-2}, \ell = 1, \dots, n, r \in \mathbb{C}.$$
(3.98)

where  $\boldsymbol{\omega}_{\ell} = \tilde{b}_{\ell;0}^{-1/(2(k+1))}$ , and  $L_{2k,\rho}$  stands for the canonical one dimensional anisotropic NF of order 2k,  $\boldsymbol{\rho} = (\boldsymbol{\rho}_0, \dots, \boldsymbol{\rho}_{2k-3}) \in \mathbb{R}^{2k-2}$ . We recall (see in Chapter 2) the  $\lambda_1(\boldsymbol{\rho}) < \dots < \lambda_j(\boldsymbol{\rho}) < \to +\infty$  are the eigenvalues of  $L_{2k,\rho^{\ell}}$  with a basis of eigenfunctions  $\{\boldsymbol{\varphi}_j^{\boldsymbol{\rho}}(x)\}_{j=1}^{\infty} \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ .

Set T to be the composition of the maps  $e^{-\frac{i}{2}U(x)}$ , S, the translations and the dilations defined for the last reduction, Under the hypotheses (3.95), (3.98) we have

**Theorem 40.** *P* admits compact resolvent and discrete spectrum which coincides with the spectrum of

$$P_{NF} = T^{-1} \circ P \circ T,$$

and

5

$$spec\left(P_{NF}
ight) = \{\lambda_{\left(lpha
ight)} = \sum_{\ell=1}^{n} \lambda_{\ell, lpha_{\ell}} + r, lpha \in \mathbb{N}^{n}\},$$

with  $\lambda_{\ell,\alpha_{\ell}} = \omega_{\ell}\lambda_{\alpha_{\ell}}(\rho^{\ell}), \ \ell = 1, \dots, n, \ \alpha \in \mathbb{N}^{n}$ , and a complete system of eigenfunctions  $\{\Psi_{\alpha}(x) = c_{\alpha}T\Phi_{\alpha}^{\vec{\rho}}(x)\}_{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}}$  (which is not a Riesz basis), where

$$\Phi_{\alpha}^{\vec{\rho}}(y) = \varphi_{\alpha_1}(\rho^1)(y_1) \otimes \ldots \otimes \varphi_{\alpha_n}(\rho^1)(y_n),$$

 $c_{\alpha}^{-1} = \|\|T\Phi_{\alpha}\|\|_{L^{2}}, \alpha \in \mathbb{N}^{n}.$  The eigenfunctions belong to the limiting Gelfand-Shilov space  $S_{1/(k+1)}^{k/(k+1)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ 

The proof is straightforward since the compact resolvent property and the global ellipticity follow from (3.95). Furthermore, (3.95) and (3.98) imply

that  $\Psi_{\alpha} \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , while the global hypoellipticity yields  $\Psi_{\alpha} \in S_{1/(k+1)}^{k/(k+1)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ ,  $\alpha \mathbb{N}^n$ . The completeness of the system of eigenfunctions is obtained by the general results on the spectrum of unbounded operators

$$P = P_1 \oplus \ldots \oplus P_n$$

in the separable Hilbert space  $H = H_1 \otimes \ldots \otimes H_n$ , with  $P_j$  being unbounded operator on a separable Hilbert space  $H_j$  having discrete spectrum,  $j = 1, \ldots, n$ .

**Remark 13.** We are not able to construct in the multidimensional case explicit examples of globally elliptic Shubin operators whose spectrum coincides with  $\mathbb{C}$  since there are no multidimensional analogues to the complex WBK methods for linear ODE.

# 3.4 Perturbation with $S_{1/2}^{1/2}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ smoothing operator

The main goal of this section is to show that despite of the presence of quadratic exponential growth in the NFT for perturbations of complex harmonic oscillators we can conjugate classes of Shubin p.d.o. with symbols  $p(x,\xi) \in S_{1/2}^{1/2}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  provided the quadratic growth of the NFT is smaller than the quadratic exponential decay of the Schwartz kernel canceled by the quadratic decay of p.d.o. (see [63] where such symbols appear in different context).

We consider a p.d.o. P(x,D) whose symbol is defined by

$$p(x,\xi) = Q(x,\xi)e^{-ax^2 - b\xi^2}, \quad (x,\xi) \in \mathbb{R}^{2n}, a > 0, b > 0.$$
(3.99)

where

$$Q(x,\xi) = \sum_{|\alpha|+|\beta| \le m} q_{\alpha\beta} x^{\alpha} \xi^{\beta}$$

is polynomial. Let A be a non zero  $n \times n$  symmetric matrix and set

$$\varepsilon_{\pm} := \max_{x \in \mathbb{R}^n, \|x\| = 1} (\pm \langle Ax, x \rangle) > 0 \tag{3.100}$$

Then we have

Proposition 30. The conjugation

$$\tilde{P}(x,D) = e^{\langle Ax,x \rangle} \circ P(x,D) \circ e^{-\langle Ax,x \rangle}$$
(3.101)

is well defined in the Schwartz class and  $\widetilde{P}(x,D)$  is smoothing operator with Schwartz kernel  $K_{\widetilde{P}}(x,y) \in S_{1/2}^{1/2}(\mathbb{R}^{2n})$  given by

$$K_{\widetilde{P}}(x,y) = \widetilde{Q}(x,x-y)e^{-\langle Ax,x \rangle - ax^2 - \frac{1}{4b}(x-y)^2 + \langle Ay,y \rangle}$$
(3.102)

where  $\widetilde{Q}(x,z)$  is polynomial of degree *m*, provided

$$1 - (4ba - 4b\varepsilon_{-} + 1)(1 - 4b\varepsilon_{+}) =$$
  
$$-4ab + 4b\varepsilon_{-} + 16b^{2}a\varepsilon_{+} - 16b^{2}\varepsilon_{+}\varepsilon_{-} + O(\max\{|\varepsilon_{+}| + |\varepsilon_{-}|\}) < 0, \quad (3.103)$$

for  $|\varepsilon_{-}|, |\varepsilon_{+}|$  small enough. In particular, if n = 1,  $A = -\varepsilon$ , we have  $\varepsilon_{\pm} = \pm \varepsilon$ and we can find sharp estimates on the range of  $\varepsilon$ :

$$\varepsilon \in \left]\frac{2ab - \sqrt{5}ab}{4b^2}, \frac{2ab + \sqrt{5}ab}{4b^2}\right] = \left] - (\sqrt{5} - 2)\frac{a}{4b}, (2 + \sqrt{5})\frac{a}{4b}\right].$$
(3.104)

*Proof.* Recall formula for the inverse Fourier transform of  $e^{-b\xi^2}$ 

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} e^{iz\xi} e^{-b\xi^2} d\xi = \pi^{n/2} b^{-n/2} e^{-\frac{1}{4b}z^2}.$$
(3.105)

Next, we observe that we can calculate explicitly the Schwartz kernel  $K(x,y) = K_P(x,x-y) \in S_{1/2}^{1/2}(\mathbb{R}^{2n})$ . Indeed,

$$K_P(x,z) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} e^{ixz} p(x,\xi) \, \overline{d}\xi = e^{-ax^2} Q(x,D_z) \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} e^{ixz} e^{-b\xi^2} \, \overline{d}\xi$$
  
=  $\pi^{n/2} b^{-n/2} e^{-ax^2} Q(x,D_z) (e^{-\frac{1}{4b}z^2}) = \widetilde{Q}(x,z) e^{-ax^2 - \frac{1}{4b}z^2}, (3.106)$ 

where

$$\widetilde{Q}(x,z) = \pi^{n/2} b^{-n/2} \sum_{|\alpha|+|\beta| \le m} q_{\alpha\beta} x^{\alpha} (2b)^{n/2} h_{\beta}(\frac{1}{\sqrt{2b}} z) \qquad (3.107)$$

with  $h_{\beta}(t) = h_{\beta_1}(t_1) \dots h_{\beta_n}(t_n), h_k(t) = e^{t^2/2} (e^{-t^2/2})^{(k)}$  standing for the Hermite polynomial of degree k. Next, since  $e^{\langle Ax, x \rangle} \circ P(x, D) \circ e^{-\langle Ax, x \rangle} u$ 

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} e^{\langle Ax, x \rangle} K_{P}(x, x - y) \circ e^{-\langle Ay, y \rangle} u(y) dy$$
  
=  $\pi^{n/2} b^{-n/2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \widetilde{Q}(x, x - y) e^{\langle Ax, x \rangle - ax^{2} - \frac{1}{4b}(x - y)^{2} - \langle Ay, y \rangle} u(y) dy. (3.108)$ 

We estimate  $\Phi(x, y) := \langle Ax, x \rangle - ax^2 - \frac{1}{4b}(x - y)^2 - \langle Ay, y \rangle$  using (3.100).

$$\Phi(x,y) \leq (\varepsilon_{-} - a - \frac{1}{4b})x^{2} + \frac{1}{2b}||x|| ||y|| + (\varepsilon_{+} - \frac{1}{4b})y^{2}$$
  
=  $\frac{1}{4b} \left( (4b\varepsilon_{-} - 4ba - 1)x^{2} + 2||x|| ||y|| + (4b\varepsilon_{+} - 1)y^{2} \right) (3.109)$ 

Clearly the RHS of (3.109) is negative quadratic form iff  $\varepsilon_{-} < a + \frac{1}{4b}$ ,  $\varepsilon_{+} < \frac{1}{4b}$ and

$$1 - (4ab + 1 - 4b\varepsilon_{-})(1 - 4b\varepsilon_{+}) = -4ab + O(|\varepsilon_{+}| + |\varepsilon_{-}|) < 0, \qquad (3.110)$$

which yields (3.103). In the case  $\varepsilon_{\pm} = \pm \varepsilon$  we have optimal bound for  $|\varepsilon|$  since we are reduced to

$$1 - (4ab + 1 - 4b\varepsilon)(1 + 4b\varepsilon) = -4ab - 16ab^2\varepsilon + 4b^2\varepsilon^2 < 0, \qquad (3.111)$$

which is true if and only if

$$\varepsilon \in \left]\frac{2ab - \sqrt{5}ab}{4b^2}, \frac{2ab + \sqrt{5}ab}{4b^2}\right] = \left] - (\sqrt{5} - 2)\frac{a}{4b}, (2 + \sqrt{5})\frac{a}{4b}\right].$$
(3.112)

**Remark 14.** If a = b and  $\langle Ax, x \rangle = \varepsilon ||x||^2$  we get that the necessary and sufficient condition in order the conjugation (3.101) to be well defined is given by

$$\varepsilon \in ]-\frac{\sqrt{5-2}}{4}, \frac{\sqrt{5+2}}{4}[$$
 and  $|\varepsilon| < a.$  (3.113)

### Chapter 4

## Normal forms and global hypoellipticity for degenerate Shubin operator

The main goal of the present chapter is to study reduction to normal forms, the global hypoellipticity and the global solvability of classes of degenerate ( second order differential operators of Shubin type  $P = -\Delta + \langle Bx, D_x \rangle + \langle Cx, x \rangle +$  lower order terms, with non-negative principal symbol. Such operators do not fall in the classes of second order operators satisfying subelliptic estimates in Shubin spaces cf. [34], [49]. Few results on the global regularity and solvability in  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  for general classes of Shubin operators with non hypoelliptic symbols are available in the literature.

First we study the operator P when B is symmetric. The main body of new results covers the case when the zero set of the principal symbol  $p_2(x,\xi)$  is *n*-dimensional, which turns out to be equivalent to the property that the zero set is a Lagrangian linear subspace of  $\mathbb{R}^{2n}$  with respect to the canonical symplectic form  $\boldsymbol{\omega} = \sum_{j=1}^{n} d\xi_j \wedge dx_j$ . The first main result could be summarized as follows: broadly speaking, such operators are reduced to a generalized multidimensional Airy operator

$$A = -\Delta + (\rho + i\sigma)x_1, \quad \rho, \sigma \in \mathbb{R},$$

or to Fourier  $\bar{\partial}$  type normal form

$$\hat{D} = -\Delta + (
ho + i\sigma)x_1 + au x_2, \quad au \in \mathbb{R}, 
ho au 
eq 0.$$

We call the operator A a generalized Airy one, because for n = 1 we recapture a modified Airy equation  $Au(x_1) = -u''(x_1) + (\rho + \sigma i)x_1u(x_1)$ , while the use of the term Fourier  $\bar{\partial}$  normal form is motivated from the fact that  $\hat{D}u$  is Fourier transform (modulo some constants) of

$$\rho \partial_{\overline{z_1}} \hat{u}(\xi) + (|z_1|^2 + \|\xi'\|^2) \hat{u}(\xi)$$

for  $\rho = -\tau \neq 0$ ,  $\sigma = 0$ ,  $z_1 = \xi_1 + i\xi_2$ ,  $\xi' = (\xi_3, \dots, \xi_n)$ , if  $n \ge 3$ . We recall that the Airy functions were one of the fundamental tools for the mathematical study of diffraction problems and initial boundary value problems for strictly hyperbolic equations, when the smooth boundary of the domain is convex with respect to the characteristics of the hyperbolic operator cf. [62], [26] and the references therein.

We propose complete classification of the hypoellipticity and solvability in  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  for the generalized Airy NF. Moreover, outline a natural functional scale of seemingly new function spaces which are essentially a direct sum of anisotropic Shubin spaces  $Q^s_{\Lambda}(\mathbb{R}_{x_1})$ ,  $\Lambda(x_1,\xi_1) = (1+x_1^2+\xi_1^4)^{1/4}$ , with norm  $|\Lambda(x_1,D_{x_1})u|_{L^2}$ , and SG or G weighted Sobolev spaces  $H^{r_1,r_2}(\mathbb{R}^{n-1}_{x'})$  in  $x' = (x_2,\ldots,x_n)$ . We do not dwell upon generalizations in Gelfand-Shilov spaces since highly non has to use complicated functional-analytic arguments on anisotropic Gelfand-Shilov spaces. Concerning the Fourier  $\bar{\partial}$  NF, the problems become quite involved and challenging since we enter in the realm of the complex analysis and global properties of perturbations of  $\partial_{\bar{z}_1}$ . One is led to conjecture, in view of the fact that  $\bar{\partial}$  is not globally hypoelliptic in  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , the same is true for the Fourier  $\bar{\partial}$  NF. We can describe the kernel of  $\hat{D}$  in  $C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and a possible result on non hypoellipticity depends on whether or not one can find an entire function on the complex plane with suitable cubic decay properties in a half plane.

We point out to another problem here: since the spectrum of the NF is not discrete it is not possible to use the discrete approach.

The second case is when  $B_{skew} \neq 0$ . We mention as a motivating example the twisted Laplacian L on  $\mathbb{R}^2$ :

$$L = -\Delta + x_1 D_{x_2} - x_2 D_{x_1} + \frac{1}{4} (x_1^2 + x_2^2).$$
(4.1)

The twisted Laplacian appears in harmonic analysis naturally in the context of Wigner transforms and Weyl transforms [67], [13], [25] and also in physics. The transpose  $L^t$  of the twisted Laplacian L is given by

$$L = -\Delta + \frac{1}{4}(x_1^2 + x_2^2) + x_2 D_{x_1} - x_1 D_{x_2}.$$
(4.2)

In the paper [16], it is shown that L is globally hypoelliptic in the Schwartz space  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^2)$ , while global hypoellipticity and global solvability in Gelfand– Shilov spaces  $S^{\mu}_{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^2)$  has been shown in [23], [25], [22] for more general operators of the type

$$L_{\tau}(x, D_x) = -\Delta + \tau (x_2 D_{x_1} - x_1 D_{x_2}) + \frac{\tau^2}{4} (x_1^2 + x_2^2) = (D_{x_1} + \frac{\tau}{2} x_2)^2 + (D_{x_2} - \frac{\tau}{2} x_1)^2,$$
(4.3)

where  $\tau \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $\tau \neq 0$ . In our notation (4.3) corresponds to a homogeneous operator in  $\mathbb{R}^2$  with  $B = B_{skew} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -\tau \\ \tau & 0 \end{pmatrix}$  and  $C = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{\tau^2}{4} & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{\tau^2}{4} \end{pmatrix}$ .

First, we focus our attention the the case when the characteristic set is a Lagrangian set, with respect to the standard canonical form in  $T^*R^n$ , namely, when the matrix B in the mixed term  $\langle Bx, D_x \rangle$ , is symmetric, namely  $B_{skew} = 1/2(B-B^T) = 0$ . This case corresponds to (global) involutive characteristics.

We note that the characteristic set of L and  $L^{t}$  is two dimensional and has double characteristics which are symplectic.

Our main result in the skew-symmetric case could be summarized as follows: if the space dimension in even 2n and the  $rank(B_{skew})$  is maximal we reduce our operator to multidimensional twisted Laplacian perturbed by first order terms, and classify completely the spectral properties and derive sharp necessary and sufficient conditions for the global hypoellipticity and global solvability of the operator. Stability under perturbations by zero order p.d.o. is studied as well.

## 4.1 Generalized Airy and Fourier $\bar{\partial}$ type normal form

We consider the operator  $P = -\Delta + \langle Bx, D_x \rangle + \langle Cx, x \rangle + l.o.t.$ , when  $B_{skew} = 0$ . We require that the characteristic set is not empty

$$\Sigma_P = \{ (x,\xi) \in \mathbb{R}^{2n} \setminus 0; \, p_2(x,\xi) := \|\xi\|^2 + \langle Bx,\xi \rangle + \langle Cx,x \rangle = 0 \} \neq \emptyset, \quad (4.4)$$

and

$$p_2(x,\xi) \ge 0, (x,\xi) \in \mathbb{R}^{2n} \setminus 0$$
 and  $B = B_{symm}$  i.e.,  $B = B^t$ . (4.5)

**Theorem 41.** Suppose that (4.5) holds. Then the following properties are equivalent

*i*) dim  $\Sigma_P = n$ ;

- $ii) \ C = \frac{1}{4}B^2;$
- iii)  $\Sigma_P$  is Lagrangian with respect to the canonical symplectic form  $\boldsymbol{\omega} = \sum_{j=1}^n d\xi_j \wedge dx_j;$
- iv) There exists a unitary operator  $T: L^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \mapsto L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , which is a linear automorphism in  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n), Q^s(\mathbb{R}^n), S^{\mu}_{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^n), s \in \mathbb{R}, \mu > 0$ , defined, for some  $S \in SO(n), \alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{R}^n$ , by

$$Tv(x) = e^{i\frac{1}{2}\langle S^t BSx + 2\alpha, x \rangle} v(S^t x + \beta)$$
(4.6)

such that

$$T^{-1} \circ P \circ T = \tilde{P} = -\Delta + i \langle M, D_x \rangle + \rho x_1 + i \sigma x_1 + i \tau x_2 + r(\rho, \sigma, \tau) \quad (4.7)$$

for some  $M \in \mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $\rho$ ,  $\sigma$ ,  $\tau \in \mathbb{R}$ , and  $r(\rho, \sigma, \tau) \in \mathbb{C}$ . In particular, we have  $\tau = 0$  if  $\rho = 0$  or n = 1 and  $r(\rho, \sigma, \tau) = 0$  if  $\rho \tau \neq 0$ ,  $\Re r(\rho, \sigma, \tau) = 0$  if  $\tau = 0$ ,  $\rho \neq 0$ ,  $\Im r(\rho, \sigma, \tau) = 0$  if  $\rho = 0$ . Moreover,

$$\tau = 0 \quad iff \ 2S' \Re q + A \Re p \ and \ 2S' \Im q + A \Im p \ are \ linearly \ dependent.$$
(4.8)

*Proof.* First we rewrite the principal symbol, taking into account that B is symmetric:

$$p_{2}(x,\xi) = \langle \xi + \frac{1}{2}Bx, \xi + \frac{1}{2}Bx \rangle + \langle Cx, x \rangle - \frac{1}{4} \langle Bx, Bx \rangle$$
  
$$= \|\xi + \frac{1}{2}Bx\|^{2} + \langle C'x, x \rangle, \quad C' = C - \frac{1}{4}B^{2}.$$
(4.9)

Since C' is symmetric, we can diagonalized C',  $x = S_0 y$ , with  $S_0 \in SO(n)$ , such that  $S'_0C'S_0 = \text{diag} \{c_1, \ldots, c_n\}$ , with signature  $(n_+, n_-)$ ,  $0 \le n_{\pm} \le n$ ,  $n_+ + n_- \le n$ ,  $c_j = \mu_j > 0$ ,  $j = 1, \ldots, n_+$ ,  $c_j = -\nu_j < 0$ ,  $j = n_+ + 1, \ldots, n_-$ ,  $c_j = 0$ ,  $j = n_+ + n_- + 1, \ldots, n$ . Set  $\eta = \xi - \frac{1}{2}Bx$ . Hence we get

$$p_2(x,\xi) = p_2(S_0y,\eta - BS_0y) = \sum_{j=1}^n \eta_j^2 + \sum_{k=1}^{n_+} \mu_k y_k^2 - \sum_{k=n_++1}^{n_++n_-} v_j y_j^2, \quad (4.10)$$

with the convention  $\sum_{s}^{s-1} \cdot = 0$ .

We need a well known fact from the theory of the quadratic forms (see [41] for more details).

**Lemma 10.** Let  $p_2$  be the quadratic form defined by (4.9). Then

$$\dim \Sigma_P = \begin{cases} 2n - 1 & if \quad n_- > 0 \\ n - n_+ & if \quad n_- = 0 \end{cases}$$
(4.11)

In particular,

dim 
$$\Sigma_P = n$$
 iff  $n_+ = n_- = 0$ , i.e.,  $C' = C - \frac{1}{4}B^2 = 0.$  (4.12)

*Proof.* Let  $n_- > 0$ . The zero set of the quadratic form (4.9) is a union of graphs of two functions of 2n - 1 variables,

$$y_{n_{+}+1} = \pm \frac{1}{\mathbf{v}_{n_{1}+1}} \sqrt{\sum_{j=1}^{n} \eta_{j}^{2} + \sum_{k=1}^{n_{+}} \mu_{k} y_{k}^{2} - \sum_{k=n_{+}+2}^{n_{+}+n_{-}} \mathbf{v}_{j} y_{j}^{2}}$$

In the case  $n_- = 0$  the zero set is the  $n - n_+$  dimensional linear subspace defined by  $\eta_1 = \dots \eta_n = y_1 = \dots y_{n_+} = 0$ .

Since the dimension of a Lagrangian manifold in  $\mathbb{R}^{2n}$  is n, and B is symmetric, the lemma above yields the equivalence relations i)  $\Leftrightarrow$  ii)  $\Leftrightarrow$  iii), where the Lagrangian manifold is defined by  $\xi = Bx$ , B symmetric (e.g., see Hörmander, [37]).

Suppose now that C' = 0. Then we have that

$$\widetilde{P} = e^{-i\frac{1}{2}\langle Bx,x\rangle} \circ P \circ e^{i\frac{1}{2}\langle Bx,x\rangle}$$

becomes

$$\widetilde{P}u(x) = \left(-\Delta + \langle \alpha, D_x \rangle + i\langle \beta, D_x \rangle + \langle M, x \rangle + i\langle N, x \rangle + r\right)u(x), \quad (4.13)$$

where  $G = \alpha + i\beta$  and F = M + iN with  $\alpha, \beta, M, N \in \mathbb{R}^n$ .

Now we consider the transformation  $u(x) = e^{\varphi(x)}v(x)$ , where  $\varphi(x) = -i(\langle \alpha, x \rangle)/2$ so we have:

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{P}(e^{\varphi(x)}v(x)) &= e^{\varphi(x)} \Big( (\nabla \varphi(x))^2 - 2\langle \nabla \varphi(x), D_x \rangle + i\delta \varphi(x) - \Delta + \langle \alpha, D_x \rangle \\ &+ \langle \alpha, \nabla \varphi(x) \rangle + i\langle \beta, D_x \rangle + i\langle \beta, \nabla \varphi(x) \rangle + \langle M, x \rangle \\ &+ i\langle N, x \rangle + r \Big) v(x). \end{split}$$

So our operator becomes

$$e^{-\varphi(x)} \circ \widetilde{P} \circ e^{\varphi(x)} = Lv(x) = \left(-\Delta + i\langle\beta, D_x\rangle + \langle M, x\rangle + i\langle N, x\rangle + \ell\right)v(x).$$
(4.14)

We consider a matrix  $S_1 \in SO(n)$ , we apply the orthogonal transformation  $x \to S_1 x$  such that

$$M = (m_1, \ldots, m_n) \rightarrow \tilde{M} = (\rho, 0, \ldots, 0), \text{ with } \rho \in \mathbb{R}$$

which transforms L to:

$$\tilde{L}\tilde{v}(x) = \left(-\Delta + i\langle\tilde{\beta}, D_x\rangle + \rho x_1 + i\langle\tilde{N}, x\rangle + \ell\right)\tilde{v}(x), \qquad (4.15)$$

where  $\tilde{v}(x) = v(S_1x)$ ,  $\tilde{N} = S^{-1}N \tilde{\beta} = S_1^{-1}\beta$ . We consider a matrix  $S_2 \in SO(n)$ , preserving  $(1, 0, \dots, 0)$ , i.e.,  $S_2 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0_{1 \times n-1} \\ 0_{n-1 \times 1} & \widetilde{S}_2 \end{pmatrix}$ , with  $\tilde{S}_2 \in SO(n-1)$ , we apply the orthogonal transformation in  $\mathbb{R}^{n-1} x' \to S_2 x$  such that

$$\tilde{N} = (\tilde{n}_1, \tilde{n}_2, \dots, \tilde{n}_n) \to \overline{N} = (\sigma, \tau, 0, \dots, 0), \text{ where } \sigma = \tilde{n}_1, \text{ with } \sigma, \tau \in \mathbb{R},$$

so our operator L becomes:

$$L'\nu'(x) = \left(-\Delta + i\langle \beta', D_x \rangle + \rho x_1 + i\sigma x_1 + i\tau x_2 + \ell\right)\nu'(x), \qquad (4.16)$$

where  $v'(x) = \tilde{v}(S_2 x)$ ,  $\beta' = S_2^{-1}\beta$ . Setting  $S = S_1 S_2$ , we have shown that each one of i), ii),iii) implies iv). Reversing the arguments of the conjugation to the normal form, we prove that iv) leads to i), ii), iii).

**Remark 15.** We call the NF generalized Airy NF (respectively, generalized Fourier  $\bar{\partial}$ ) if (4.7) holds, namely  $\tau = 0$  (respectively,  $\rho \tau \neq 0$ ).

#### 4.2 Weighted spaces

Let  $s_1, r_1, r_2 \in \mathbb{Z}_+$  with  $s_1$  even. We define  $HSC^{s_1;r_1,r_2}(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^{n-1})$  as the spaces such that

$$HSC^{s_1:r_1,r_2}(\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{R}^{n-1}) := \Big\{ f \in S'(\mathbb{R}^n) : \|f\|_{s_1;r_1,r_2} < \infty \Big\},$$
(4.17)

where  $x = (x_1, x'), x_1 \in \mathbb{R}, x' = (x_2, ..., x_n) \in \mathbb{R}^{n-1}$ ,

$$||f||_{s_{1};r_{1},r_{2}}^{2} := \sum_{2\beta_{1}+\alpha_{1}\leq s_{1}} ||x_{1}^{\beta_{1}}D_{x_{1}}^{\alpha_{1}}f||_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{2} + \sum_{|\beta'|\leq r_{2},|\alpha'|\leq r_{1}} ||x'^{\alpha'}D_{x'}^{\beta'}f||_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{2}.$$
(4.18)

We can extend this definition for  $s_1, r_1, r_2 \in [0, +\infty)$  by interpolation and by duality arguments for arbitrary  $s_1, s_2, r_1$ .

**Proposition 31.** Let  $s_1, r_1, r_2 \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ , with  $s_1$  even. Then the following norms are equivalent to the norm (4.17)

i)

$$\sum_{\tilde{s}_1/s_1+\tilde{r}_1/r_1+\tilde{r}_2/r_2 \le 1} \sum_{2\beta_1+\alpha_1 \le \tilde{s}_1; |\beta'| \le \tilde{r}_2; |\alpha'| \le \tilde{r}_1} \|x_1^{\beta_1} D_{x_1}^{\alpha_1} x'^{\alpha'} D_{x'}^{\beta'} f\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)} \quad (4.19)$$

ii)

$$\|\langle x_1, D_{x_1}^2 \rangle^{s_1/2} f\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)} + \|\langle x' \rangle^{\tilde{r}_1} \langle D_{x'} \rangle^{\tilde{r}_2} f\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)}, \qquad (4.20)$$

where  $\tilde{s}_1 \leq s_1, \tilde{r}_1 \leq r_1, \tilde{r}_2 \leq r_2$ .

**Lemma 11.** Let  $s_1, r_1, r_2 \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ , and let  $u \in HSC^{s_1;(r_1,r_2)}$ . Then

$$\langle x_1, D_{x_1}^2 \rangle^{\tilde{s}_1/2} \langle x' \rangle^{\tilde{r}_1} \langle D_{x'} \rangle^{\tilde{r}_2} u \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^n).$$

$$(4.21)$$

We recall that  $\langle x_1, \xi_1^2 \rangle = \sqrt{1 + x_1^2 + \xi_1^4}.$ 

The proofs are based on standard arguments for  $L^2$  estimates of p.d.o.

#### 4.3 Multidimensional Airy operator

We derive the main result on hypoellipticity and solvability in  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  for degenerate second order Shubin operators P, with symmetric matrix B in the mixed term, and Lagrangian characteristic set. It is reduced to generalized Airy type normal form. We consider the operator P in the Airy form. Without loss of generality we suppose that M = 0 and so we want to study the equation

$$Pu = (-\Delta + \alpha x_1)u = f, \qquad (4.22)$$

where  $f \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

**Theorem 42.** Suppose that  $\alpha := \rho + \sigma i \neq 0$ . Then we have

- i) The symbol  $p(x,\xi) = \xi^2 + \alpha x_1$  is not hypoelliptic symbol in the sense of Shubin iff  $n \ge 2$  or n = 1 and  $\sigma = 0$ .
- ii) The operator P is globally hypoelliptic in  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  provided  $\sigma \neq 0$

We propose more precise estimates in the weighted spaces  $HSC^{s;r_1,r_2}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

**Theorem 43.** We consider the operator P, then

i) Let  $\mathfrak{Z}(\alpha) \neq 0$ , then  $spec(P) = spec(P^*) = \emptyset$  and

$$(P-\lambda)^{-1}: HSC^{s_1;r_1,r_2}(\mathbb{R}^n) \to HSC^{s_1+2;r_1,r_2+2}(\mathbb{R}^n) \quad \forall \lambda \in \mathbb{C}.$$
(4.23)

ii) Suppose now that  $\mathfrak{I}(\alpha) = 0$ . Then  $spec(P) = spec(P^*) = \mathbb{R}$  and

$$Ker(P-\lambda) \cap \mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n) = \Big\{ u \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n) | \ u = J\varkappa(\xi'), \ \varkappa \in \mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{R}^{n-1}) \Big\},$$

$$(4.24)$$

where

$$J = \int e^{ix\xi} e^{\frac{1}{i\alpha}(\xi_1^2 + \xi_1\xi'^2) - \lambda\xi_1} \overline{d}\xi = \int e^{ix'\xi'} Ai \left(\frac{x_1}{\sqrt[3]{\alpha}} + \frac{\xi'^2}{\sqrt[3]{\alpha^4}} - \frac{\lambda}{\sqrt[3]{\alpha^4}}, \xi'\right) \overline{d}\xi,$$
(4.25)

where

$$Ai(z) \simeq rac{e^{rac{-2}{3}z^{3/2}}}{2\sqrt{\pi}z^{rac{1}{4}}}$$

*Proof.* We apply the Fourier transform and the problem (4.22) becomes:

$$\hat{P}\hat{u} = (\xi^2 + i\alpha\partial_{\xi_1})\hat{u} = \hat{f}.$$
(4.26)

The problem whether (4.26) is hypoelliptic and solvable in  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is, as far as we know, open if  $n \geq 2$ . Even the one dimensional case of Airy equation seems not be covered explicitly in the works on anisotropic pseudodifferential equations.

We observe that the symbol of the operator (4.26) is not hypoelliptic in the sense of Shubin, in fact it does not satisfy the hypoellipticity condition

$$|\partial_{(x,\xi)}^{\gamma}p(x,\xi)| < C|p(x,\xi)|\langle (x,\xi)\rangle^{-|\gamma|}, \quad for|x|+|\xi| \ge R.$$
(4.27)

Moreover it doesn't fall in the class of the SG- operators.

Dividing the equation (4.26) by  $i\alpha$ , we get

$$L\hat{u} = (\partial_{\xi_1} + a(\xi_1^2 + {\xi'}^2))\hat{u} = g = \frac{\hat{f}}{i\alpha}, \qquad (4.28)$$

where  $a = \frac{1}{i\alpha}$ . We note that we have

$$\mathfrak{I}(\alpha) \neq 0 \Longleftrightarrow \mathfrak{R}(a) \neq 0.$$

Let  $\Re(a) \neq 0$ , and without loss of generality we can consider  $\Re(a) > 0$ . Formally we can write the solution of the problem (4.28)

$$v = L^{-1}g = e^{-a(\frac{\xi_1^3}{3} + \xi_1 \xi'^2)} \int_{-\infty}^{\xi_1} e^{a(\frac{t^3}{3} + t\xi'^2)} g(t, \xi') dt.$$
(4.29)

We put  $s_1 = r_1 = r_2 = 0$  and we want to prove that

$$\sum_{2\beta_1 + \alpha_1 \le 2} \|\xi_1^{\alpha_1} D_{\xi_1}^{\beta_1} v\| + \sum_{|\beta'| \le 0, |\alpha'| \le 2} \|x^{\prime \alpha'} v\| < C \|g\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)},$$
(4.30)

where v is the solution of  $(L - \lambda)v = g$ , so we have

$$\begin{aligned} |\xi'^{2}v| &\leq \int_{-\infty}^{\xi_{1}} |e^{-a[\frac{\xi_{1}^{3}-t^{3}}{3}+(\xi_{1}-t)(i\frac{\lambda}{\alpha}+\xi'^{2})]}\xi'^{2}g(t,\xi')|dt\\ &\leq \int_{-\infty}^{\xi_{1}} |e^{-a[c(\xi_{1}-t)^{3}+(\xi_{1}-t)(i\frac{\lambda}{\alpha}+\xi'^{2})]}\xi'^{2}g(t,\xi')|dt.\end{aligned}$$

So we can write the last integral like

$$\|\xi'^2 v\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)} \leq \int_{\mathbb{R}} |K_1(\xi_1,\xi',t)g(t,\xi')|dt,$$

where

$$K_1(\xi_1,\xi',t) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} H(\xi_1-t) e^{-a[\frac{\xi_1^3-t^3}{3} + (\xi_1-t)(i\frac{\lambda}{\alpha}+\xi'^2)]} \xi'^2 dt.$$

We bound the last integral, putting  $s = (\xi_1 - t)\xi'^2$ , by

$$c\int_0^\infty e^{-\Re a(\frac{s^3}{|\xi'|^6}+s)}ds, \quad c>0$$

Now we can apply the Schur lemma and we have

$$\|\xi'^2 v\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)} \le C \|g\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)}.$$

In the same way we have

$$\begin{aligned} |\xi_{1}^{2}v| &\leq |\xi_{1}^{2}e^{-a[\frac{\xi_{1}^{3}}{3} + \xi_{1}(\xi'^{2} + i\frac{\lambda}{\alpha})]} \int_{-\infty}^{\xi_{1}} e^{a[\frac{t^{3}}{3} - t\xi'^{2} - i\frac{\lambda}{\alpha}]} g(t,\xi')|dt\\ &\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}} |K_{2}(\xi_{1},\xi',t)g(t,\xi)|dt, \end{aligned}$$

where

$$K_{2}(\xi_{1},t) := \int_{\mathbb{R}} H(\xi_{1}-t) e^{-a[\frac{\xi_{1}^{3}-t^{3}}{3} + (\xi_{1}-t)(i\frac{\lambda}{\alpha}+\xi'^{2})]} \xi_{1}^{2} dt$$

We have two cases, the first when  $-N \leq \xi_1 \leq N$  and so we can apply the Schur's lemma and we found

$$\|\xi'^2 v\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)} \le C_2 \|g\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)}.$$

If  $|\xi_1|>N$  then we use de l'Hôpital theorem and the Schur lemma and we have

$$\|\xi_1^2 v\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)} \le C_3 \|g\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)}.$$

The proof of i) is complete.

Let now  $\mathfrak{I}(\alpha) = 0$ . We consider the homogeneous equation  $(P - \lambda)u = 0$ . We can apply the Fourier transform, only for the variable  $x' \in \mathbb{R}^{n-1}$ , to the problem and we obtain

$$(-\partial_{x_1}^2 + \xi'^2)\tilde{u}(x_1,\xi') + (\alpha x_1 - \lambda)\tilde{u}(x_1,\xi') = 0$$
  
-
$$\left(\tilde{u}''(x_1,\xi') - \alpha(x_1 + \frac{\xi'^2}{\alpha} - \frac{\lambda}{\alpha})\tilde{u}(x_1,\xi')\right) = 0$$
(4.31)

Now we put  $t = x_1 + \frac{\xi'^2}{\alpha} - \frac{\lambda}{\alpha}$  and we have

$$-\left(v''(t,\xi')-\alpha tv(t,\xi')\right)=0,$$

where  $v(t,\xi') = \tilde{u}(t - \frac{\xi'^2}{\alpha} + \frac{\lambda}{\alpha},\xi')$ . We put  $z = \sqrt[3]{\alpha t}$ , and our problem becomes

$$-\sqrt[3]{\alpha^2} \left( \tilde{\nu}''(z,\xi') - z\tilde{\nu}(z,\xi') \right) = 0, \qquad (4.32)$$

where  $\tilde{v}(z,\xi') = v(\frac{z}{\sqrt[3]{\alpha}},\xi').$ 

From the theory of the Airy function the solutions are given by

$$\tilde{v}(z,\xi') = C_1 A i(z) + C_2 B i(z). \tag{4.33}$$

More details shall be given in the next section.

#### 4.3.1 The one dimensional case: Airy operator

If we are in the one dimensional case we recapture the Airy type operator

$$Au = -u'' + \alpha xu, \quad x \in \mathbb{R}.$$
(4.34)

We recall that the symbol of the operator A (4.34) is hypoelliptic if

$$|\partial_{(x,\xi)}^{\gamma} p(x,\xi)| < C |p(x,\xi)| \langle (x,\xi) \rangle^{-|\gamma|}, \qquad (4.35)$$

(see [58], [3] and the references therein).

We have

**Theorem 44.** The operator A (4.34) is hypoelliptic iff the 
$$\mathfrak{I}(\alpha) \neq 0$$

*Proof.* The hypoellipticity condition is

$$|\partial_{(x,\xi)}^{\gamma}a(x,\xi)| < C |a(x,\xi)| \langle (x,\xi) \rangle^{-|\gamma|}, \quad \text{for } |x|+|\xi| \ge R, \tag{4.36}$$

where  $a(x,\xi) = \xi^2 + \alpha x$ . If  $(x,\xi) \neq (0,0)$  then  $a(x,\xi) = 0$  iff  $\Im(\alpha) = 0$ , this concludes the proof.

We consider now the following problem:

$$Au = -u''(x) + \alpha x u(x) = -(u(x)'' - \alpha x u(x)) = 0.$$
(4.37)

We put  $x = \alpha^{-\frac{1}{3}}z$ , and our problem becomes

$$-\alpha^{\frac{2}{3}}(v''(z) - zv(z)) = 0, \qquad (4.38)$$

where  $v(z) = u(\alpha^{-\frac{1}{3}}z)$ . From the theory of the Airy function the solution of (4.38) is

$$v(z) = C_1 A i(z) + C_2 B i(z), \qquad (4.39)$$

where

$$Ai(z) \simeq \frac{e^{\frac{-2}{3}z^{3/2}}}{2\sqrt{\pi}z^{\frac{1}{4}}} \quad \text{and} \ Bi(z) \simeq \frac{e^{\frac{2}{3}z^{3/2}}}{2\sqrt{\pi}z^{\frac{1}{4}}} \text{ for } z \to \infty$$
 (4.40)

$$Ai(-z) \simeq \frac{\sin(\frac{2}{3}z^{3/2} + \frac{\pi}{4})}{2\sqrt{\pi}z^{\frac{1}{4}}} \quad Bi(-z) \simeq \frac{\cos(\frac{2}{3}z^{3/2} + \frac{\pi}{4})}{2\sqrt{\pi}z^{\frac{1}{4}}} \text{ for } z \to -\infty.$$
(4.41)

For the problem (4.37) the solutions are:

$$u(x) = -\alpha^{\frac{2}{3}} \left( C_1 Ai\left(\frac{x}{\sqrt[3]{\alpha}}\right) + C_2 Bi\left(\frac{x}{\sqrt[3]{\alpha}}\right) \right).$$
(4.42)

We prove the following theorem:

**Theorem 45.** If  $\mathfrak{I}(\alpha) \neq 0$  then the spec  $(A) = \emptyset$ 

*Proof.* We apply the Fourier transform to our operator A and we obtain:

$$\hat{A} = \xi^2 + i\alpha\partial_{\xi}.$$

Dividing the last equation for  $i\alpha$  we get

$$\hat{L} = \frac{1}{i\alpha}\hat{A} = \partial_{\xi} + a\xi^2, \qquad (4.43)$$

where  $a = \frac{1}{i\alpha}$ . We note that we have

$$\mathfrak{I}(\alpha) \neq 0 \iff \mathfrak{R}(a) \neq 0.$$

So we have, if we suppose that  $\Re(a) > 0$ 

$$(\hat{L}+i\lambda)^{-1}\hat{u} = e^{-(a\frac{\xi^3}{3}+i\frac{\lambda}{\alpha}\xi)} \int_{-\infty}^{\xi} e^{-a(\frac{t^3}{3}-i\frac{\lambda}{\alpha})}g(t)dt$$
$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}} K(\xi,t)g(t)dt, \qquad (4.44)$$

where  $K(\xi,t) = H(\xi-t)e^{-\frac{a}{3}(\xi^3-t^3)-i\frac{\lambda}{\alpha}(\xi-t)} \le e^{-\frac{c\Re(a)}{3}(\xi-t)^3+\Im(\frac{\lambda}{\alpha})(\xi-t)}$ . And so if we put  $s = \xi - t$ , our problem becomes

$$K(\xi,t) \leq \int_0^\infty e^{-\frac{c\Re(a)}{3}s^3 + \Im(\frac{\lambda}{\alpha})s} ds$$

and if we put  $\sqrt[3]{\frac{c\Re(a)}{3}}s \to s$  the last integral becomes

$$\frac{c\Re(a)}{3}\int_0^\infty e^{-s^3+\mu s}ds,$$

where  $\mu = \Im(\frac{\lambda}{\alpha}) \sqrt[3]{\frac{3}{c\Re(a)}}$ . We have two cases: if  $\mu \leq 1$ , we put  $s = |\mu|^{-1}r$  and the integral becomes

$$\frac{1}{|\mu|}\int_0^\infty e^{-\frac{r^3}{|\mu|^3}+r}dr,$$

If  $\mu > 1$  we consider

$$e^{2\sqrt{\frac{\mu^3}{3^3}}}\int_0^\infty e^{-s^3+\mu s-\sqrt{\frac{\mu^3}{3^3}}}ds,$$

now we put  $\tau = s - \sqrt{\frac{\mu}{3}}$ . So we have

$$e^{2\sqrt{\frac{\mu^3}{3^3}}}\int_{-\sqrt{\frac{\mu}{3}}}^{\infty}e^{-(\tau+\sqrt{\frac{\mu}{3}})^3+\mu(\tau+\sqrt{\frac{\mu}{3}})-2\sqrt{\frac{\mu^3}{3^3}}}d\tau.$$

### 4.4 On the global $\overline{\partial}$ type normal form

In this section we dwell upon the global regularity and the solvability properties of the Fourier  $\overline{\partial}$  normal form operator

$$D_b = -\Delta + (\alpha + i\beta)x_1 + i\gamma x_2, \qquad (4.45)$$

where  $\alpha, \beta, \gamma \in \mathbb{R}$  with  $\alpha, \gamma \neq 0$ . We want to study the following equation

$$D_b u = \left(-\Delta + (\alpha + i\beta)x_1 + i\gamma x_2 + r\right)u = f, \qquad (4.46)$$

in the framework of weighted spaces like  $H^{s_1,s_2}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  (Cordes type),  $Q^s(\mathbb{R}^n)$ (Shubin type) or  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

First of all, in view of the well known properties of the action of the Fourier transform operator in the aforementioned spaces, we are reduced to study

$$\hat{D}_{b}\hat{u} = \left(\xi^{2} - (\beta - i\alpha)\partial_{\xi_{1}} - \gamma\partial_{\xi_{2}} + r\right)\hat{u} = \left(\xi^{\prime 2} + \xi^{\prime \prime 2} - (\beta - i\alpha)\partial_{\xi_{1}} - \gamma\partial_{\xi_{2}} + r\right)\hat{u} = \hat{f}_{\xi_{1}}, \quad (4.47)$$

where  $\xi' = (\xi_1, \xi_2), \ \xi'' = (\xi_3, \dots \xi_n).$ 

If  $\alpha \neq 0$ , we apply a linear transformation  $M^{-1} : \mathbb{R}^2_{\xi_1,\xi_2} \to \mathbb{R}^2_{\eta_1,\eta_2}$  such that  $(\xi_1,\xi_2) \to (\frac{1}{\alpha}\eta_1, -\frac{\beta}{\alpha\gamma}\eta_1 - \frac{1}{\gamma}\eta_2)$ , so we have

$$\tilde{P}w = \left(\xi''^2 + \langle M^t M\eta, \eta \rangle + i(\partial_{\eta_1} - i\partial_{\eta_2})\right)w = g, \qquad (4.48)$$

where  $w(\boldsymbol{\eta},\boldsymbol{\xi}) = \hat{u}(M^{-1}\boldsymbol{\xi}',\boldsymbol{\xi}'')$  and  $g(\boldsymbol{\eta},\boldsymbol{\xi}'') = \hat{f}(M^{-1}\boldsymbol{\xi}',\boldsymbol{\xi}'').$ 

Hence setting  $z = \eta_1 + i\eta_2 \in \mathbb{C}$ , we need to study a perturbation of the  $\overline{\partial}_{z^-}$  operator depending polynomially on  $\xi''^2 = \xi_3^2 + \ldots, +\xi_n^2$ . If  $n \ge 3$ , we demonstrate the following lemma.

Lemma 12. We have

$$\langle M^t M\eta, \eta \rangle = Az^2 + 2B|z|^2 + C\overline{z}^2 = \Re(Az^2) + \Im(Az^2) + 2B|z|^2,$$
 (4.49)

where  $B \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $A, C \in C$ , such that  $\overline{A} = C$  and  $z \neq 0$ .

Proof. In view of the well known fact that

$$\eta_1=\frac{z+\overline{z}}{2},\quad \eta_2=\frac{z-\overline{z}}{2i}.$$

we get

$$\begin{split} \langle M^{t}M\eta,\eta\rangle &= a\eta_{1}^{2} + 2b\eta_{1}\eta_{2} + c\eta_{2}^{2} \\ &= a\Big(\frac{z+\bar{z}}{2}\Big)^{2} + 2b\Big(\frac{z+\bar{z}}{2}\Big)\Big(\frac{z-\bar{z}}{2i}\Big) + c\Big(\frac{z-\bar{z}}{2i}\Big)^{2} \\ &= Az^{2} + 2B|z|^{2} + C\bar{z}^{2} \\ &= \Re(A)(\eta_{1}^{2} - \eta_{2}^{2} + 2i\eta_{1}\eta_{2}) - i\Im(A)(\eta_{1}^{2} - \eta_{2}^{2} + 2i\eta_{1}\eta_{2}) \\ &+ \Re(A)(\eta_{1}^{2} - \eta_{2}^{2} - 2i\eta_{1}\eta_{2}) + i\Im(A)(\eta_{1}^{2} - \eta_{2}^{2} - 2i\eta_{1}\eta_{2}) + 2B|z|^{2} \\ &= 2\Re(Az^{2}) + \Im(Az^{2}) + 2B|z|^{2}. \end{split}$$

where  $A = \frac{a}{4} - \frac{c}{4} + i\frac{b}{2}$ ,  $C = \frac{a}{4} - \frac{c}{4} - i\frac{b}{2}$  and  $B = \frac{a}{4} + \frac{c}{4}$ .

So we can write the operator (4.48) as

$$\tilde{P}w = \left(i\partial_{\bar{z}} + \xi''^2 + \Re(Az^2) + 2\Im(Az^2) + 2B|z|^2\right)w = g.$$
(4.50)

Unlike the generalized Airy normal form, apparently there is no hope for showing global hypoellipticity in  $S(\mathbb{R}^n)$  of the Fourier  $\overline{\partial}$ -operator. Indeed, it is well known that

$$\overline{\partial} u = f$$

is locally hypoelliptic and solvable for every  $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^2)$ , namely any solution is in  $C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^2)$ . One checks easily that  $\overline{\partial}$  is not globally hypoelliptic in  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^2)$ .

Let us consider the perturbed  $\partial_{\overline{z}}$ 

$$\left(\partial_{\overline{z}} + \frac{i}{2}\xi''^{2} + i(\Re(Az^{2}) + \Im(Az^{2}) + B|z|^{2})\right)w = g.$$
(4.51)

We can write (formally) the solutions

$$w(z) = e^{-(\frac{i}{4}z^2\overline{z} + \frac{i}{2}\xi''\overline{z} + i(\Re(Az^2) + \Im(Az^2)\overline{z})}\varphi(z) + \widetilde{w}(z)}$$
$$\widetilde{w}(z) = e^{-(\frac{i}{4}z^2 + \frac{i}{2}\xi''z + i(\Re(Az^2) + \Im(Az^2)z)}$$
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} e^{(\frac{i}{4}\zeta^2\overline{\zeta} + \frac{i}{2}\xi''^2\overline{\zeta} + i(\Re(A\zeta^2) + \Im(A\zeta^2)\overline{\zeta})}g(\zeta, \xi'')\frac{d\zeta \wedge d\overline{\zeta}}{z - \zeta}.$$
(4.52)

where  $\varphi$  is entire function in z and (we can choose) compactly supported in  $\xi''$  if  $n \geq 3$  and  $g \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , compactly supported in  $(\xi_1, \xi_2)$ . The main problem is whether one can find a nonzero entire function in  $z_1$  such that the first u belongs to  $\mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{R}^2)$  in  $(\xi_1, \xi_2)$  but is not in  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^2)$ .

One is led naturally to conjecture that the perturbed operator is neither globally hypoelliptic nor globally solvable in  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^2)$  but it seems that one has to overcome nontrivial technical difficulties.

## 4.5 Splitting to globally elliptic and Airy or $\bar{\partial}$ type normal forms

The main goal of the present section is to study the reduction to normal form for non globally elliptic operators with non negative principal symbol, with *B* symmetric, i.e. (4.5) holds, and the characteristic set  $\Sigma_P$  is not Lagrangian, namely its dimension is different from *n*.

**Theorem 46.** Let  $n \ge 2$  and suppose that (4.5) holds. Then the following properties are equivalent

- *i*) dim  $\Sigma_P \neq n$ ;
- *ii)* dim  $\Sigma_P < n$ ;
- iii)  $C \frac{1}{4}B^2$  is non zero and non negative;
- iv) There exists a unitary operator  $T: L^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \mapsto L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , which is a linear automorphism in  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n), Q^s(\mathbb{R}^n), s \in \mathbb{R}, S^{\mu}_{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^n), \mu \geq 1/2$  defined, for some  $S \in SO(n), \ \alpha \in \mathbb{R}^n$ , by

$$Tv(x) = e^{i\frac{1}{2}\langle S^t B S x + 2\alpha, x \rangle} v(S^t x + \beta)$$
(4.53)

and splitting  $x = (x', x''), x' \in \mathbb{R}^{\ell}, x'' \in \mathbb{R}^{n-\ell}, 1 \le \ell \le n-1$ , such that

$$T^* \circ P \circ T = \widetilde{P} = \widetilde{P}'(x', D_{x'}) + \widetilde{P}''(x'', D_{x''})$$

$$(4.54)$$

$$\widetilde{P}'(x', D_{x'}) = -\Delta' + i\langle \overline{\beta}', D_{x'} \rangle + \rho x_1 + i\sigma x_1 + i\tau x_2$$
(4.55)

$$\widetilde{P}''(x'', D_{x''}) = -\Delta'' + \langle diag \{ c_{\ell+1}, \dots, c_n \} x'', x'' \rangle + i \langle \beta'', D_{x''} \rangle$$
$$+ i \langle \widetilde{N}'', x'' \rangle + \widetilde{r}, \qquad (4.56)$$

for some  $M \in \mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $\rho, \sigma, \tau \in \mathbb{R}$ , with  $\rho, \sigma, \tau$  being as in Theorem 41.

*Proof.* The lemma on quadratic forms in Section 4.1 and the hypothesis on the principal symbol we deduce that  $C' \neq 0$ . Then we can reduce this matrix to diagonal form  $D_c = \text{diag} \{c_1, \ldots, c_n\}$ , where

$$c_1 = c_2 = \ldots = c_\ell = 0$$
 and  $0 < c_{\ell+1} \le \ldots \le c_n$ . (4.57)

by means of orthogonal transformation  $x \to Rx$ , where  $R \in SO(n)$ . Hence the operator becomes

$$e^{-i\frac{1}{4}\langle R^{t}BRx,x\rangle} \circ P \circ e^{i\frac{1}{4}\langle R^{t}BRx,x\rangle} = -\Delta + \langle D_{c}x,x\rangle + \langle \alpha,D_{x}\rangle + i\langle \beta,D_{x}\rangle + \langle M,x\rangle + i\langle N,x\rangle + \ell$$
(4.58)

Without loss of generality, we may assume that  $\alpha = 0$ , by conjugation with  $e^{i\frac{1}{2}\langle \alpha, x \rangle}$  (as in Chapter 2), so we consider the operator

$$L = -\Delta + \langle D_c x, x \rangle + i \langle \beta, D_x \rangle + \langle M, x \rangle + i \langle N, x \rangle + \ell$$
(4.59)

Next, we split the variables x as follows

$$x = \begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \\ \vdots \\ x_n \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} x' \\ x'' \end{pmatrix}, \text{ where } x' = \begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \\ \vdots \\ x_\ell \end{pmatrix} \text{ and } x'' = \begin{pmatrix} x_{\ell+1} \\ x_{\ell+2} \\ \vdots \\ x_n \end{pmatrix}.$$

We can write

$$L = L_1 + L_2 = -\Delta' + i\langle \beta', D_{x'} \rangle + \langle M', x' \rangle + i\langle N', x' \rangle$$
  
$$-\Delta'' + i\langle \beta'', D_{x''} \rangle + \langle \text{diag} \{ c_{\ell+1}, \dots, c_n \} x'', x'' \rangle + \langle M'', x'' \rangle + i\langle N'', x'' \rangle + \ell.$$
  
(4.60)

First of all we investigate the operator  $L_1$  and considering a matrix  $\tilde{S}' \in SO(\ell)$ , we apply the orthogonal transformation  $x' \to \tilde{S}'x$  such that

$$M' = (m_1, \ldots, m_\ell) \rightarrow \tilde{M}' = (\rho, 0, \ldots, 0), \text{ with } \rho = \|M'\| \ge 0,$$

so  $L_1$  becomes:

$$\tilde{L}_1 = -\Delta + i \langle \tilde{\beta}', D_{x'} \rangle + \rho x_1 + i \langle \tilde{N}', x' \rangle + r, \qquad (4.61)$$

where  $\tilde{N}' = \tilde{S}'^{-1}N$ ,  $\tilde{\beta}' = \tilde{S}^{-1}\beta'$ .

If  $\ell \geq 2$ , we consider a matrix  $\tilde{T}' \in SO(\ell - 1)$ , we apply the orthogonal transformation in  $\mathbb{R}^{\ell-1} x \to \tilde{T}' x$  such that

$$\tilde{N}' = (\tilde{n}_1, \tilde{n}_2, \dots, \tilde{n}_\ell) \to \overline{N} = (\sigma, \tau, 0, \dots, 0), \text{ where } \sigma = \tilde{n}_1, \text{ with } \sigma, \tau \in \mathbb{R},$$

which transforms  $L_1$  to

$$\overline{L}_1 = -\Delta' + i\langle \overline{\beta}', D_{x'} \rangle + \rho x_1 + i\sigma x_1 + i\tau x_2 + r, \qquad (4.62)$$

where  $\overline{\beta} = \tilde{T}'^{-1}\beta$ . Now for  $L_2$  we consider the following translation

$$x_j'' \to x_j'' + \frac{M_j''}{2c_j}$$

So we have

$$\overline{L}_2 = -\Delta'' + i\langle \beta'', D_{x''} \rangle + \langle \operatorname{diag} \{ c_{\ell+1}, \dots, c_n \} x'', x'' \rangle + i\langle \tilde{N}'', x'' \rangle + \tilde{r}.$$
(4.63)

So the operator L (4.60) becomes:

$$\overline{L} = -\Delta' + i\langle \overline{\beta}' D_{x'} \rangle + \rho x_1 + i\sigma x_1 + i\tau x_2 + r$$
  
$$-\Delta'' + i\langle \beta'', D_{x''} \rangle + \langle \operatorname{diag} \{ c_{\ell+1}, \dots, c_n \} x'', x'' \rangle + i\langle \widetilde{N}'', x'' \rangle + \widetilde{r}.$$
(4.64)

	_

**Remark 16.** We can summarize the result above as follows: we have reduced the study of the solvability and hypoellipticity of Pu = f to the study of the following decomposed equation

$$\widetilde{P}u = \widetilde{P}'(x', D_{x'})u + \widetilde{P}''(x'', D_{x''})u = f(x), \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^n,$$
(4.65)

where  $\tilde{P}'$  is an Airy type operator and  $\tilde{P}''$  is a globally elliptic operator As far as we know, such equations have not been studied in the literature on pseudodifferential operators for solvability and hypoellipticity in functional spaces on  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . Clearly one needs to combine different techniques in order to deal with the challenging problem. At least the normal form equation serves as model case to test new techniques. We leave this study for the future.

## 4.6 Multidimensional twisted Laplacian type normal form

We recall that the twisted Laplacian L on  $\mathbb{R}^2$  is the second-order partial differential operator given by

$$L = -\Delta + x_1 D_{x_2} - x_2 D_{x_1} + \frac{1}{4} (x_1^2 + x_2^2).$$
(4.66)

The twisted Laplacian appears in harmonic analysis naturally in the context of Wigner transforms and Weyl transforms [67], and also in physics. The transpose  $L^t$  of the twisted Laplacian L is given by

$$L = -\Delta + \frac{1}{4}(x_1^2 + x_2^2) + x_2 D_{x_1} - x_1 D_{x_2}.$$
(4.67)

In the paper [16], it is shown that L is globally hypoelliptic in the Schwartz space  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^2)$ , while global hypoellipticity and global solvability in Gelfand– Shilov spaces  $S^{\mu}_{\mu}$  has been shown in [23], [25], [22] for more general operators of the type

$$L_{\tau}(x, D_x) = -\Delta + \tau (x_2 D_{x_1} - x_1 D_{x_2}) + \frac{\tau^2}{4} (x_1^2 + x_2^2) = (D_{x_1} + \frac{\tau}{2} x_2)^2 + (D_{x_2} - \frac{\tau}{2} x_1)^2,$$
(4.68)

where  $\tau \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $\tau \neq 0$ . In our notation (4.67) corresponds to a homogeneous operator in  $\mathbb{R}^2$  with  $A = A_{skew} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -\tau \\ \tau & 0 \end{pmatrix}$  and  $B = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{\tau^2}{4} & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{\tau^2}{4} \end{pmatrix}$ .

We note that the characteristic set of L and  $L^{t}$  is two dimensional and has double characteristics which are symplectic.

We require in this chapter the non degeneracy condition

$$A_{skew}$$
 has a maximal rank  $n$ . (4.69)

Note that the hypothesis (4.69) holds for the twisted Laplacian and its transpose  $L^{t}$ .

Clearly this implies that n is even. So we write 2n instead of n and consider the linear operator

$$P = -\Delta + \langle Ax, D_x \rangle + \langle Bx, x \rangle + \langle M, D_x \rangle + \langle N, x \rangle + r, \qquad (4.70)$$

where  $A \in M_{2n}(\mathbb{R})$ , B is symmetric, and  $M, N \in \mathbb{C}^n$ ,  $r \in \mathbb{C}$ . We recall the definition of the characteristic set

$$\Sigma_P = \{ (x,\xi) \in \mathbb{R}^{4n} \setminus 0; \, p_2(x,\xi) := \|\xi\|^2 + \langle Ax,\xi \rangle + \langle Bx,x \rangle = 0 \}.$$
(4.71)

In view of the identity

$$\langle Qx, x \rangle = \frac{1}{2} \langle (Q + Q^T)x, x \rangle$$

for all  $Q \in M_n(\mathbb{R})$  one readily obtains that

$$\langle A_{skew}x, A_{symm}x \rangle = \langle A_{symm}A_{skew}x, x \rangle = \frac{1}{2} \langle A_{symm}A_{skew} - A_{skew}A_{symm}x, x \rangle.$$
(4.72)

We note that  $A_{symm}A_{skew} - A_{skew}A_{symm}$  is symmetric.

We recall that real skew-symmetric matrices are normal matrices (they commute with their adjoint ones). The hypothesis (4.69) and the spectral theorem on  $2n \times 2n$  real skew-symmetric matrices show that there exist n non-zero real numbers  $\tau_1 \ge \tau_2 \ge \ldots \ge \tau_n$ ,  $j = 1, \ldots, n$ , two non negative integers  $n_+, n_-$ ,  $n_+ + n_- = n$ , such that  $\tau_{n_+} > 0 > \tau_{n_++1}$  if  $n_+n_- > 0$  with the convention  $n_+ = 0$ (respectively,  $n_- = 0$ ) if  $\tau_1 < 0$  (respectively,  $\tau_n > 0$ ) and an orthogonal matrix  $S_0$  which transforms the skew-symmetric matrix to the following block diagonal form

$$S_0^T A_{skew} S_0 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -\tau_1 & 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 & 0 \\ \tau_1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & -\tau_2 & \dots & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \tau_2 & 0 & \dots & 0 & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 & -\tau_n \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \dots & \tau_n & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (4.73)

We need to recall that we can define an explicit symplectic transformation

$$\kappa: \mathbb{R}^2_y \times \mathbb{R}^2_\eta \to \mathbb{R}^2_x \times \mathbb{R}^2_\xi,$$

defined by the generating function

$$\varphi_{\boldsymbol{\omega}}(\boldsymbol{x},\boldsymbol{\eta}) = |\boldsymbol{\omega}|(\eta_1\eta_2 + (x_1x_2)/2 + x_2\eta_1 + x_1\eta_2)$$

via

$$\begin{split} \xi_j &= \partial_{x_j} \varphi_{\omega}(x, \eta), \quad j = 1, 2 \\ y_j &= \partial_{\eta_j} \varphi_{\omega}(x, \eta), \quad j = 1, 2, \end{split}$$

which leads to explicit formulas for  $\kappa$ 

$$y_1 = |\boldsymbol{\omega}| x_2 + |\boldsymbol{\omega}| \eta_2$$
  

$$y_2 = |\boldsymbol{\omega}| x_1 + |\boldsymbol{\omega}| \eta_1$$
  

$$\eta_1 = \xi_2 / |\boldsymbol{\omega}| - x_1 / 2$$
  

$$\eta_1 = \xi_1 / |\boldsymbol{\omega}| - x_2 / 2.$$

**Theorem 47.** Suppose that (4.69) holds. Then the following properties are equivalent

- *i*) dim  $\Sigma_P = 2n$ ;
- ii) the matrices B,  $A_{symm}$ ,  $A_{skew}$  satisfy the identity

$$C := B - \frac{1}{4}A_{symm}^2 + \frac{1}{4}\left(A_{symm}A_{skew} - A_{skew}A_{symm}\right) + \frac{1}{4}A_{skew}^2 = 0; \quad (4.74)$$

iii) There exists a unitary operator  $T: L^2(\mathbb{R}^{2n}) \mapsto L^2(\mathbb{R}^{2n})$ , which is a linear automorphism in  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^{2n}), Q^s(\mathbb{R}^{2n}), S^{\mu}_{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^{2n}), s \in \mathbb{R}, \ \mu \geq 1/2$ , defined by

$$Tv(x) = e^{i\frac{1}{4}\langle S^t A_{symm}Sx + 2\alpha, x \rangle} v(S^t x + \beta)$$
(4.75)

for some  $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{R}^{2n}$  and  $S \in SO(\mathbb{R}^{2n})$  in (4.73), such that

$$T^* \circ P \circ T = \tilde{P} = \sum_{j=1}^n \left( (D_{x_{2j-1}} - \frac{\tau_j}{2} x_{2j})^2 + (D_{x_{2j}} + \frac{\tau_j}{2} x_{2j-1})^2 \right)$$
  
+ $i \sum_{j=1}^n \rho_j (D_{x_{2j-1}} - \frac{\tau_j}{2} x_{2j}) + i \sum_{j=1}^n \sigma_j (D_{x_{2j}} + \frac{\tau_j}{2} x_{2j-1})$   
+ $\sum_{j=1}^n \gamma_j (D_{x_{2j-1}} + \frac{\tau_j}{2} x_{2j}) + \sum_{j=1}^n \delta_j (D_{x_{2j}} - \frac{\tau_j}{2} x_{2j-1})$   
+ $\tilde{r},$  (4.76)

for  $\rho_j, \sigma_j \in \mathbb{R}, \ \gamma_j, \delta_j \in \mathbb{C}, \ j = 1, \dots, n, \ \tilde{r} \in \mathbb{C}.$ 

There exists a unitary operator U: L<sup>2</sup>(ℝ<sup>2n</sup>) → L<sup>2</sup>(ℝ<sup>2n</sup>), which is a linear automorphism in S(ℝ<sup>2n</sup>), Q<sup>s</sup>(ℝ<sup>2n</sup>), S<sup>μ</sup><sub>μ</sub>(ℝ<sup>2n</sup>), s ∈ ℝ, μ ≥ 1/2, defined by U = Π<sup>n</sup><sub>j=1</sub> |τ<sub>j</sub>|J<sub>τ</sub> ∘ T, where τ = (τ<sub>1</sub>,...,τ<sub>n</sub>), τ<sub>j</sub> > 0, j = 1,...,n<sub>+</sub>, τ<sub>j</sub> < 0, j = n<sub>+</sub> + 1,...,n<sub>+</sub> + n<sub>-</sub>, T is as in iii) and J<sub>τ</sub> is the FIO given by

$$J_{\tau}v(x) = J_{\tau_1} \circ \ldots \circ J_{\tau_n}v(x) := \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} e^{i\sum_{j=1}^n |\tau_j|\varphi(x_{2j-1}, x_{2j}, \xi_{2j-1}, \xi_{2j})} \hat{v}(\xi) \ \overline{d}\xi$$
(4.77)

$$J_{\alpha}v(y) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} e^{i|\alpha|\varphi(y,\eta)} \hat{v}(\eta) \ \overline{d}\eta, \qquad (4.78)$$
such that

$$U^{*} \circ P \circ U = \sum_{j=1}^{n_{+}} (\tau_{j}^{2} D_{x_{2j}}^{2} + x_{2j}^{2}) + \sum_{j=n_{+}+1}^{n} (\tau_{j}^{2} D_{x_{2j-1}}^{2} + x_{2j-1}^{2}) + i \sum_{j=1}^{n_{+}} (\rho_{j} D_{x_{2j}} + i \sigma_{j} \tau_{j} x_{2j}) + \sum_{j=n_{+}+1}^{n} (\rho_{j} D_{x_{2j-1}} + \sigma_{j} \tau_{j} x_{2j-1}) + \sum_{j=1}^{n_{+}} (\gamma_{k} D_{x_{2j-1}} + \omega_{j} \tau_{j} x_{2j-1}) + \sum_{j=n_{+}+1}^{n} (\gamma_{j} D_{x_{2j}} + \omega_{j} \tau_{j} x_{2j}) (4.79)$$

for  $\rho, \sigma \in \mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $\gamma, \omega \in \mathbb{C}^n$ ,  $\tilde{r} \in \mathbb{C}$ .

Moreover,

$$P \text{ is symmetric iff } \rho, \sigma = 0, \ \gamma, \omega \in \mathbb{R}^n, \ \tilde{r} \in R$$

$$(4.80)$$

and T has a discrete spectrum iff  $\gamma = \omega = 0$ .

*Proof.* First we rewrite the principal symbol as follows, taking into account that B is symmetric, the

$$p_{2}(x,\xi) = \langle \xi + \frac{1}{2}Ax, \xi + \frac{1}{2}Ax \rangle + \langle Bx, x \rangle - \frac{1}{4} \langle Ax, Ax \rangle$$
  
$$= \|\xi + \frac{1}{2}A_{symm}x + \frac{1}{2}A_{skew}x\|^{2} + \langle \overline{C}x, x \rangle, \qquad (4.81)$$
  
$$\overline{C} = B - \frac{1}{4}A_{symm}^{2} + \frac{1}{4} (A_{symm}A_{skew} - A_{skew}A_{symm}) + \frac{1}{4}A_{skew}^{2}. \qquad (4.82)$$

Since *B* is symmetric, we can diagonalize with some matrix from with SO(2n) and by the lemma on quadratic forms (replacing *n* by 2n) we get that i) is equivalent to ii). As a by product we obtain that the characteristic set of  $p_2$  is defined as

$$p_2(x,\xi) = \{(x,\xi) \in \mathbb{R}^{4n} \setminus 0; \xi = \frac{1}{2}Ax = \frac{1}{2}A_{symm}x + \frac{1}{2}A_{skew}x\} \quad (4.83)$$

which is not Lagrangian since  $A_{skew} \neq 0$ . Now we show the equivalence of ii) with iii).

Step 1. Using the diagonalization matrix  $S_0$ , by the linear change  $x \mapsto S_0 x$  we may assume that  $A_{skew}$  is in the canonical block-diagonal form (4.73).

Step 2. Using the conjugation

$$\widetilde{P} = e^{-i\frac{1}{4}\langle A_{symm}x,x\rangle} \circ P \circ e^{i\frac{1}{4}\langle A_{symm}x,x\rangle}$$

we are reduced to the case

$$\widetilde{P} = -\Delta + \langle A_{skew}x, D_x \rangle + \langle (B - \frac{1}{2}A_{skew}A_{symm})x, x \rangle + \widetilde{P}_1$$

$$= \sum_{j=1}^n (D_{x_{2j-1}} - \frac{\tau_j}{2}x_{2j})^2 + (D_{x_{2j}} + \frac{\tau_j}{2}x_{2j-1})^2$$

$$- \sum_{j=1}^n \tau_j (x_{2j-1}^2 + x_{2j}^2) + \langle (B - \frac{1}{2}A_{skew}A_{symm})x, x \rangle + \widetilde{P}_1$$

$$= \sum_{j=1}^n (D_{x_{2j-1}} - \frac{\tau_j}{2}x_{2j})^2 + (D_{x_{2j}} + \frac{\tau_j}{2}x_{2j-1})^2 + \langle Cx, x \rangle + \widetilde{P}_1$$
(4.84)

where

$$\tilde{P}_{1} = \langle \alpha, D_{x} \rangle + i \langle \beta, D_{x} \rangle + \langle M + \frac{1}{2} \alpha A_{symm}, x \rangle + i \langle N, x \rangle + r, \quad (4.85)$$

and  $G = \alpha + i\beta$  and F = M + iN with  $\alpha, \beta, M, N \in \mathbb{R}^{2n}$ . Clearly, ii) implies C = 0.

Step 3. Using conjugation with  $e^{ipx}$  and translation we reduce to purely imaginary coefficients.

#### 4.7 Normal form transformation

The normal form transformation reduces the original operator P to the following normal form

$$P_{NF}(y, D_y)u = \sum_{j=1}^n |\tau_j| (D_{y_j}^2 + y_j^2)u + i \sum_{j=1}^n (a_j D_{y_j} + b_j y_j)u + \sum_{\ell=n+1}^{2n} (\gamma_\ell D_{y_\ell} + \delta_\ell y_\ell)u + ru = f, \qquad (4.86)$$

with  $a_j, b_j \in \mathbb{R}$  for j = 1, ..., n,  $\gamma_\ell, \delta_\ell, r \in \mathbb{C}$ , for  $\ell = n + 1, ..., 2n$ . We note that the same holds for the perturbation P(x, D) + b(x, D), with zero order Shubin p.d.o b(x, D). We study the perturbed normal form equation

$$P_{NF}(y, D_y)u + b(y, D_y)u = f.$$

We have

**Theorem 48.** The following properties are equivalent:

- i) P(x,D) is symmetric;
- ii)  $P_{NF}(y, D_y)$  is symmetric;
- *iii)*  $a_j = b_j = 0$ , for  $j = 1, \ldots, n \ \Im \gamma_j = \Im \delta_j = 0$ , for  $j = n + 1, \ldots, 2n$ ,  $r \in \mathbb{R}$ .

*Proof.* The NFT preserves the symmetry properties, i.e. i)  $\Leftrightarrow$  ii), the equivalence ii)  $\Leftrightarrow$  iii) straight forwards.

Next we derive complete description of the global hypoellipticity and the global solvability of the twisted Laplacian type operators. We prove the following theorem:

**Theorem 49.** Let P (or equivalently  $P_{NF}$ ) be symmetric. Then the following properties are equivalent:

- i)  $P_{NF}(y, D_y)$  is globally hypoelliptic in  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^{2n})$ ;
- *ii)*  $\gamma_k = \omega_k = 0, \ k = n + 1, \dots, 2n$  and

$$r \neq -\sum_{j=1}^{n} |\tau_j| (2k_j + 1);$$
 (4.87)

- iii)  $P_{NF}(y, D_y)$  is globally solvable in  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^{2n})$ ;
- iv)  $P_{NF}(y, D_y)$  is globally hypoelliptic in  $S^{\mu}_{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^{2n})$ ;
- v)  $P_{NF}(y, D_y)$  is globally solvable in  $S^{\mu}_{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^{2n})$ .

Finally, if ii) holds the operator  $P_{NF}$  (and P) is essentially self-adjoint with discrete spectrum

$$spec(P_{NF})\{\lambda_k: \lambda_k = 2\sum_{j=1}^n |\tau_j|k_j + \sum_{j=1}^n |\tau_j| + r, \ k' = (k'_1, \dots, k'_n) \in \mathbb{Z}^n_+\}, \quad (4.88)$$

and the multiplicity of each eigenvalue is infinity. More precisely

$$Ker(P - \lambda_k) \cap L^2(\mathbb{R}^{2n}) = \{H_{k'}(y')\psi(y''), \ \psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)\}.$$
(4.89)

Moreover, as for the twisted Laplacian in  $\mathbb{R}^2$ , the operator  $P_{NF}$  (and P) have no compact resolvent.

*Proof.* Suppose that ii) holds. We use the multidimensional Hermite functions expansion

$$u(y) = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}_{+}^{2n}} u_k H_k(y) = \sum_{k', k'' \in \mathbb{Z}_{+}^n} u_{k', k''} H_{k'}(y') H_{k''}(y'')$$
(4.90)

Clearly Pu = f is equivalent to

$$\left(2\sum_{j=1}^{n}|\tau_{j}|k_{j}+\sum_{j=1}^{n}|\tau_{j}|+r\right)u_{k}=f_{k},\ k=(k',k'')\in\mathbb{Z}_{+}^{2n}.$$
(4.91)

One derives, in view of (4.87),

$$\min_{k \in \mathbb{Z}_{+}^{2n}} \left( 2 \sum_{j=1}^{n} |\tau_j| k_j + \sum_{j=1}^{n} |\tau_j| + r \right) \\
= \min_{k' \in \mathbb{Z}_{+}^{n}} \left( 2 \sum_{j=1}^{n} |\tau_j| k'_j + \sum_{j=1}^{n} |\tau_j| + r \right) = \delta_0 > 0$$
(4.92)

which leads to

$$|u_k| = \left| \frac{f_k}{2\sum_{j=1}^n |\tau_j| k'_j + \sum_{j=1}^n |\tau_j| + r} \right| \le \frac{1}{\delta_0} |f_k|.$$
(4.93)

The characterization of  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^{2n})$  and  $S^{\mu}_{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^{2n})$  by the eigenfunction expansions yields that ii) implies i, iii, iv, v).

Suppose, now, that ii) is not true: Let  $\gamma_k = \omega_k = 0, \ k = n+1, \dots, 2n$  but

$$2\sum_{j=1}^{n} |\tau_j| k'_j + \sum_{j=1}^{n} |\tau_j| + r = 0.$$

Then  $ker(P_{NF})$  is infinite dimensional and as a consequence i, ii, iv, v) are not true.

Suppose, now, that  $\sum_{k=n+1}^{2n} |\gamma_k| \neq 0$ . Without loss of generality (using linear change of the variables x'') we assume  $\gamma_{n+1} \neq 0$ ,  $\gamma_j = 0$  for j = n+2,...,2n. We use the partial Hermite expansion with respect the variable y', namely

$$u(y',y'') = \sum_{k' \in \mathbb{Z}^n_+} u_{k'}(y'') H_{k'}(y').$$
(4.94)

Thus Pu = f is equivalent to

$$\sum_{k'\in\mathbb{Z}_{+}^{n}} \left( \gamma_{n+1}D_{y_{n+1}} + (\sum_{\ell=1}^{n} \omega_{\ell}y_{\ell})u_{k'}(y'') + \lambda_{k'}u_{k'}(y'') \right) H_{k'}(y') = \sum_{k'\in\mathbb{Z}_{+}^{n}} f_{k'}(y'')H_{k'}(y')$$
(4.95)

i.e.

$$\gamma_{n+1}D_{y_{n+1}}u_{k'} + (\sum_{\ell=n+1}^{2n} \omega_{\ell}y_{\ell})u_{k'} + \lambda_{k'}u_{k'} = f_{k'}.$$
(4.96)

If  $f_{k'} \equiv 0$ , we find explicit solutions (4.96), using the fact that  $D_{y_j} = \frac{1}{i} \partial_{y_j}$ , and (4.96) becomes for  $f_{k'} \equiv 0$ 

$$\gamma_{n+1}\partial_{y_{n+1}} + i(\sum_{\ell=n+1}^{2n} \omega_{\ell} y_{\ell})u_{k'} + i\lambda_{k'}u_{k'} = 0$$
(4.97)

and we write explicit solutions,

$$u_{k'}(y'') = \theta_{k'}(y''')e^{-i\frac{\omega_{\ell}}{2\gamma_{n+1}}y_{n+1}^2 - i\sum_{\ell=n+2}^{2n}\frac{\omega_{\ell}}{\gamma_{n+1}}y_{\ell}y_{n+1} - \frac{y_{n+1}}{\gamma_{n+1}}\lambda_{k'}}$$
(4.98)

where  $y''' = (y_{n+2}, \dots, y_{2n}), \ \theta_{k'}(y''') \in \mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{R}^{n-1}) \text{ and } k' \in \mathbb{Z}_+^n.$ 

Clearly (4.98) implies  $dim(KerP) = \infty$ , and we conclude as before that i, iii, iv, v) do not hold.

Finally, if  $\gamma_{\ell} = 0$ ,  $\ell = n + 1, ..., 2n$  and  $\sum_{\ell=n+1}^{2n} |\omega_{\ell}| \neq 0$ , we conclude that  $dim(KerP) = \infty$ , constructing infinite dimensional kernels. More precisely, if  $\delta_{n+1} \neq 0$  we get

$$u_{k'} = \delta(y_{n+1} + \sum_{\ell=n+2}^{2n} \frac{\omega_{\ell}}{\omega_{n+1}} y_{\ell} + \frac{\lambda_{k'}}{\gamma_{n+1}}) \theta_{k'}(y''')$$

where  $\theta_{k'}(y''') \in S'(\mathbb{R}^{n-1})$  and  $\delta(y_{n+1} - q(y'''))$  stands for the delta function on the hypersurface  $y_{n+1} = q(y''')$ . The proof is complete

We derive also perturbation result

**Proposition 32.** Suppose that ii) of the Theorem 49 holds. Then there exists a constant  $c_0 > 0$ , depending only on n, such that if the normal form  $b_{NF}(y,D_y)$  of the p.d.o b(x,D) satisfies

$$\sup_{(y,\eta)\in\mathbb{R}^{2n},|\alpha|\leq n+1,|\beta|\leq n+1}\left|\partial_{y}^{\alpha}\partial_{\eta}^{\beta}b_{NF}(y,\eta)\right|\leq c_{0}\delta_{0},\qquad(4.99)$$

where  $\delta_0$  is defined in (4.92). Then  $P_{NF} + b_{NF}$  and P + b are globally hypoelliptic and globally solvable in  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^{2n})$ .

*Proof.* We use the fact that if  $c_0 \ll 1$  then  $\|b_{NF}\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^{2n})} \ll \delta_0$ , and we have  $(P+b)^{-1} = P^{-1}(1+P^{-1}b)^{-1}$ . This completes the proof.

## Chapter 5

# Applications to global Cauchy problems

The main goal of the chapter is to investigate the well–posedness in weighted Shubin spaces  $Q^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$  and in the Gelfand–Shilov classes  $S^{\mu}_{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ of the following second order hyperbolic Cauchy problem

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t^2 u + P(x, D)u + R(x, D)u = 0, \quad t \ge 0, \ x \in \mathbb{R}^n, \\ u(0, x) = u_0 \in \mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n), \quad u_t(0, x) = u_1 \in \mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n), \end{cases}$$
(5.1)

where

$$P(x,D)u = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} e^{ix\xi} p(x,\xi)\hat{u}(\xi) \ \overline{d}\xi, \quad \overline{d}\xi = (2\pi)^{-n}d\xi$$

is a second order self-adjoint globally elliptic (namely  $\Gamma$ -elliptic) pseudodifferential operator (p.d.o.) of Shubin type (namely  $\Gamma$ -pseudodifferential operator) and semi-bounded from below, (for more details cf. M. Shubin [58] and the Chapter 1 of this thesis), where

$$R(x,D)u = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} e^{ix\xi} r(x,\xi)\hat{u}(\xi) \, d\xi$$

is a first order Shubin type p.d.o. If n = 2, we also consider a second order symmetric Shubin degenerate operator, modeled by the twisted Laplacian. We recall that the twisted Laplacian  $L_1$  and its transposed  $L_2 = L_1^{tr}$  are not globally elliptic operators in  $\mathbb{R}^2$  (see [16], [23]) and they admit rotation terms, namely

$$P = L_k = -\Delta + \frac{1}{4}(x_1^2 + x_2^2) + (-1)^k(x_2D_{x_1} - x_1D_{x_2}), \quad k = 1, 2.$$
 (5.2)

The fundamental role of the study of the global Cauchy problem for  $L_k$  and its perturbations will play the conjugation of  $L_{\tau}$  with the global Fourier integral operator

$$J_{\tau}v = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} e^{i\tau\phi(x,\eta)} \hat{v}(\eta) \ \overline{d}\eta, \qquad (5.3)$$

where  $\phi(x, \eta)$  is homogeneous quadratic function cf. [24], see also the section dedicated to the twisted Laplacian.

We also mention the paper of Popivanov [47], where another class of degenerate Shubin operators has been studied in the presence of Diophantine phenomena.

The functional frame for the Cauchy problem is given by the weighted Shubin type spaces  $Q^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$  cf. [58], [50] and the Gelfand–Shilov spaces  $S^{\mu}_{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ ,  $\mu \geq 1/2$ , see [20], [43]. We recall that the spectrum of P(x,D) is discrete

$$spec(P) = \{\lambda_1 \le \lambda_2 \dots \le \lambda_k \le \dots, \lim_{k \to \infty} \lambda_k = \infty\},$$
 (5.4)

with all eigenvalues having finite multiplicity and with orthonormal basis of associated eigenfunctions  $\{\varphi_j\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$  yielding Fourier eigenfunction expansions  $u = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} u_j \varphi_j, u \in \mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n), u_j = \langle u, \varphi_j \rangle := u(\varphi_j)$ . For more details see Theorem 24.

**Remark 17.** We note that we can write the spectrum of P as

$$spec(P) = \{\mu_j : \mu_1 < \ldots < \mu_k < \ldots, \lim_{k \to \infty} \mu_k = \infty\},\$$

where the eigenvalues  $\mu_j$  have the multiplicity  $m_j$ , with  $j = 1, \ldots, \infty$ .

#### 5.1 Previous results

More general results have been proved in the book of Boggiatto, Buzano and Rodino [3], (for more details see also [33]).

Broadly speaking, they consider more general higher order, strictly hyperbolic equations of anisotropic generalizations of Shubin operators but the solution is local in time.

The crucial ingredient is the reduction of the Cauchy problem to a first order problem

$$\begin{cases} D_t A_t = p(t, x, D_x) A_t, \\ A|_{t=0} = I, \end{cases}$$
(5.5)

where  $p(t,x,D_x)$  is a  $C^{\infty}$  map from an open interval ] - T,T[ of the real line to the  $\mathscr{L}^{2\rho}_{\mathscr{P},\rho}$ , class of pseudodifferential operators of order  $2\rho$ ,  $\rho \leq \frac{1}{2}$  and  $A_t$ is sought in the form of a family of Fourier integral operators also depending on the parameter t, like

$$Au(x) = \int e^{i\phi(t,x,\eta)} a(t,x,\eta) \, \overline{d}\eta,$$

where  $\phi(t, x, \eta)$  is the phase function, smooth real valued function, and  $a(t, x, \eta)$  stand for the amplitude. The goal is to construct a parametrix (approximate solution) of the problem (5.5) determining the phase function  $\phi(t, x, \eta)$  and the amplitude  $a(t, x, \eta)$ . The phase function satisfies the Hamilton-Jacobi equation

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t \phi(t, x, \eta) = p_{2\rho}(t, x, \nabla_x \phi(t, x, \eta)), \\ \phi(t, x, \eta) = x\eta, \end{cases}$$
(5.6)

where  $p_{2\rho}$  is the principal part of p. Typically, if n = 1,  $p_{2\rho} = (1 + \xi^2 + x^{2k})^{1/(2k)}$ , with  $\rho = 1/(2k)$  and if k = 1 we recapture the case of Shubin operators. Here the importance of the condition of at most linear growth

at infinity  $\rho \leq \frac{1}{2}$  (i.e.  $2\rho \leq 1$ ) appears, namely, it guaranties the existence of global solution of the bi-characteristic equations and the boundless of the Hessian of  $\phi_{x,\xi}$ . After that, in order to compute the symbol  $a(t,x,\eta)$  by giving an asymptotic expansion. Their results are being with a review of Hamilton–Jacobi theory in  $S^m_{\mathscr{P},\rho}$ -frame. For this reason, we recall that

$$f \in C^{\infty}(I, S^m_{\mathscr{P}, \rho}), \quad I = ] - T, T[, T > 0,$$

meaning that for any integer v and any multi-index  $\gamma$ , there exists a positive constant  $k_{v,\gamma}$  such that:

$$|\partial_t^{\nu}\partial_{\zeta}^{\gamma}f(t,\zeta)| \le k_{\nu,\gamma}\Lambda(\zeta)^{m-\rho|\gamma|},\tag{5.7}$$

for  $\zeta = (x, \xi) \in \mathbb{R}^{2n}$ ,  $t \in I$ , and  $\Lambda(\zeta)$  is anisotropic symbol of the type  $(x^{2k} + \xi^2)^{1/(2k)}$ . Let  $p_{2\rho}(t, x, \xi) \in C^{\infty}(I, S^m_{\mathscr{P}, \rho})$  be real valued and consider the Hamilton–Jacobi system

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t \xi_j = \partial_{x_j} p_{2\rho}(t, x, \xi), \\ \partial_t x_j = -\partial_{\xi_j} p_{2\rho}(t, x, \xi), \end{cases}$$
(5.8)

with j = 1, ..., n and the following initial condition

$$\begin{cases} x(0) = y, \\ \xi(0) = \eta. \end{cases}$$
(5.9)

They prove that the unique solution of this system can be expressed in terms of the class  $C^{\infty}(] - T', T'[, S^{\rho}_{\mathscr{P}, \rho})$  with  $0 < T' \leq T$ . Thanks to the symmetry of  $S^{\rho}_{\mathscr{P}, \rho}$  the system becomes:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t \zeta_j = \tilde{\partial}_j p_{2\rho}(t, \zeta), \\ \zeta(0) = \omega, \end{cases}$$
(5.10)

where  $\zeta = (x, \xi), \ \omega = (y, \eta), \ \tilde{\partial}_j = -\partial_{\xi_j}, \ j = 1, \dots, n, \ \tilde{\partial}_j = \partial_{x_j}, \ j = n+1, \dots, 2n.$ Now we recall the main theorem (for more details see Theorem 12.5 [3]). **Theorem 50.** Let  $p(t, x, \xi) = p_{2\rho}(t, x, \xi) + \tilde{p}(t, x, \xi)$ , with  $p_{2\rho} \in C^{\infty}(] - T', T'[, S^{2\rho}_{\mathscr{P},\rho})$ be real valued,  $\tilde{p} \in C^{\infty}(] - T', T'[, S^{0}_{\mathscr{P},\rho})$ . There exists a T' > 0 with  $T' \leq T$ , and a linear map  $A_t$ , depending on the parameter  $t \in ] - T', T'[$  with distribution kernel  $A(t, x, y) \in C^{\infty}(] - T', T'[, \mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{R}^{n}_{x} \times \mathbb{R}^{n}_{y}))$  such that for all  $t \in ] - T', T'[$ :

$$\begin{aligned} A_t : \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n) &\to \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n), \\ A_t : \mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n) &\to \mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n), \\ A_t : H^s_{\mathscr{P}}(\mathbb{R}^n) &\to H^s_{\mathscr{P}}(\mathbb{R}^n), \quad for \ all \ s \in \mathbb{R}. \end{aligned}$$

with continuous action, and

$$(D_t - p(t, x, D_x))A(t, x, y) = R(t, x, y)$$
$$A(0, x, y) = \delta(x - y) + \tilde{R}(x, y),$$

where  $R(t,x,y) \in C^{\infty}(] - T', T'[, \mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n_x \times \mathbb{R}^n_y), \tilde{R}(x,y) \in \mathscr{S}(R^n_x \times \mathbb{R}^n_y)$ . More precisely  $A_t$  can be expressed as a Fourier integral operator depending on the parameter  $t \in ] - T', T'[$  with phase function

$$\phi(t,x,\eta) = x\eta + \phi_0(t,x,\eta),$$

where  $\phi_0$  belongs to  $C^{\infty}(] - T', T'[, S^{2\rho}_{\mathscr{P}, \rho})$ , and amplitude  $a(t, x, \eta) \in C^{\infty}(] - T', T'[, S^{2\rho}_{\mathscr{P}, \rho}).$ 

**Remark 18.** We stress the fact that the phase function depends on the time. For this reason the results of Boggiato, Buzano and Rodino are more general but local, while with our approach we propose global results for a particular class of operators.

#### 5.2 Equivalent norms

One of the crucial ingredients of our proofs is the use of suitable new (semi)norms defined in  $Q^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$  and in  $S^{\mu}_{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^{n},)$  depending on the operator

P(x,D). We are able to define the following norm in  $Q^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ .

**Definition 29.** If P is a self-adjoint globally elliptic operator of order m > 0, with  $0 \notin spec(P)$  (i.e. P is a invertible), we define

$$\|u\|_{P;s}^{2} = \|u\|_{s}^{2} := \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} |\lambda_{j}|^{\frac{2s}{m}} |u_{j}|^{2} < \infty,$$
(5.11)

where  $spec(P) = \{\lambda_1 \leq \lambda_2 \dots \leq \lambda_k \leq \dots, \lim_{k \to \infty} \lambda_k = \infty\}$ , and  $u_j$  are the Fourier coefficients.

Now we prove that the norm  $\|\cdot\|_{P;s}$  is equivalent to the usual norm in  $Q^s(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

**Proposition 33.** Let  $s \in \mathbb{R}$ . Then  $\|\cdot\|_{P;s}$  is equivalent to  $\|\cdot\|_{Q^s(\mathbb{R}^n)}$ , defined in(1.42), for every self-adjoint invertible operator P of order m > 0.

*Proof.* It is well known (for more details we refer the reader to [58] and [50]), that  $u \in Q^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$  if and only if  $P^{\frac{s}{m}}u \in L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ . Let  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  then

$$\begin{split} \|u\|_{Q^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{2} &= \sum_{|\alpha|+|\beta| \leq s} \|x^{\beta} D_{x}^{\alpha} u\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{2} = \sum_{|\alpha|+|\beta| \leq s} \langle x^{\beta} D_{x}^{\alpha} u, x^{\beta} D_{x}^{\alpha} u \rangle \\ &= \sum_{|\alpha|+|\beta| \leq s} \langle D_{x}^{\alpha} (x^{2\beta} D_{x}^{\alpha} u), u \rangle = \langle A_{2s} u, u \rangle. \end{split}$$

Hence there exists a positive operator  $A_s := \sqrt{A_{2s}}$ . Then

$$\begin{aligned} \|u\|_{Q^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{2} = \langle A_{s}u, A_{s}u \rangle &= \langle A_{2su}, u \rangle = \langle P^{\frac{2s}{m}}P^{-\frac{2s}{m}}A_{2s}u, u \rangle \\ &= \|b(x, D)P^{\frac{s}{m}}u\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{2} \leq C \|P^{\frac{s}{m}}u\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{2}, \end{aligned}$$

where b(x,D) is a pseudodifferential operator of order zero, with C standing for the operator norm of b(x,D) in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , (see for [50], [58]). This concludes the proof. We use this equivalent norm in the second section of this chapter. In fact, let  $\delta > -\lambda_1$  ( $\lambda_1$  is the smallest eigenvalue of the operator P), then  $P + \delta$  is positive globally elliptic, invertible and  $Q^s(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is defined, independently of  $\delta > -\lambda_1$  cf. [58], as follows:  $Q^s(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is the set of all  $u \in \mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$  such that

$$\|u\|_{s}^{2} := \left\| (P+\delta)^{s/2} u \right\|_{L^{2}}^{2} = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} (\lambda_{j}+\delta)^{s} |u_{j}|^{2} < +\infty.$$
 (5.12)

Motivated by the study of the well–posedness of our Cauchy problem in the Gelfand–Shilov symmetric spaces, we introduce a new scale of Banach spaces depending on two parameters defining the Gelfand–Shilov space  $S^{\mu}_{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^n), \mu \geq 1/2$  using the operator  $P + \delta, \ \delta > -\lambda_1$ . We recall that, by Theorem 1.2 [24] on the characterization of the symmetric Gelfand–Shilov spaces  $S^{\mu}_{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , we have:  $u \in S^{\mu}_{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  iff for some  $\varepsilon > 0$ 

$$\|u\|_{\mu;\varepsilon}^{2} = \left\|e^{\varepsilon(P+\delta)^{1/(2\mu)}}u\right\|_{\mu;\varepsilon,P+\delta}^{2} = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty}|u_{j}|^{2}e^{2\varepsilon(\lambda_{j}+\delta)^{\frac{1}{2\mu}}} < +\infty.$$
(5.13)

We propose refinement of the semi-norms above, defining the Hilbert spaces  $HS^{\mu}_{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^n:s,\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}) \text{ as}$ 

**Definition 30.** We define the spaces  $HS^{\mu}_{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^n : s, \varepsilon)$  as the set of all  $u \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  such that

$$\begin{aligned} \|u\|_{\mu;s,\varepsilon}^{2} &= \left\| (P+\delta)^{s/2} e^{\varepsilon(P+\delta)^{1/(2\mu)}} u \right\|_{L^{2}}^{2} &= \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} |u_{j}|^{2} (\lambda_{j}+\delta)^{s} e^{2\varepsilon(\lambda_{j}+\delta)^{\frac{1}{2\mu}}} < +\infty, \end{aligned}$$

$$(5.14)$$
with the inner product  $\langle u, v \rangle &= \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} u_{j} \overline{v_{j}} (\lambda_{j}+\delta)^{s} e^{2\varepsilon(\lambda_{j}+\delta)^{\frac{1}{2\mu}}}.$ 

One get readily the following properties:

**Proposition 34.**  $HS^{\mu}_{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^n:s_1,\varepsilon_2) \hookrightarrow HS^{\mu}_{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^n:s_2,\varepsilon_2)$  iff  $s_1 \ge s_2$ ,  $\varepsilon_2 \ge \varepsilon_2$  and  $S^{\mu}_{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is double inductive limit of  $HS^{\mu}_{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^n:s,\varepsilon) \in \mathfrak{s} \subset 0$ ,  $s \searrow -\infty$ , i.e.,

$$\bigcup_{s\in\mathbb{R},\varepsilon>0} HS^{\mu}_{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^n:s,\varepsilon) = S^{\mu}_{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^n).$$

### 5.3 Well-posedness in $Q^s$

First we show global well–posedness for the unperturbed inhomogeneous Cauchy problem for P(x, D)

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t^2 u + P(x, D)u = f \in \bigcap_{j=0}^N C^j([0, +\infty[: Q^{s+1-j}(\mathbb{R}^n)), \quad t \ge 0, \, x \in \mathbb{R}^n, \\ u(0, x) = u_0 \in Q^{s+1}(\mathbb{R}^n), \quad u_t(0, x) = u_1 \in Q^s(\mathbb{R}^n). \end{cases}$$
(5.15)

Set  $J_P \pm := \{j \in \mathbb{N} : \pm \lambda_j > 0\}, J_P^0 := \{j \in \mathbb{N} : \pm \lambda_j = 0\}$ . Clearly  $J_P^-$  and  $J_P^0$  are finite or empty sets. We have

**Theorem 51.** There exists a unique solution  $u \in C^1([0, +\infty[: \mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)))$  of (5.15) defined by

$$u = \partial_t S(t)[u_0] + S(t)[u_1] + \int_0^t \partial_t S(t-\tau)[f(\tau,\cdot)]d\tau, \qquad (5.16)$$

where the Green function type operator  $S(t) = S^{-}(t) + S^{0}(t) + S^{+}(t)$ ,

$$S^{-}(t)[g]_{k} = \sum_{j \in J_{P}^{-}} \frac{\sinh(\sqrt{-\lambda_{j}}t)}{\sqrt{-\lambda_{j}}} g_{j} \varphi_{j}(x), \qquad (5.17)$$

$$S^{0}(t)[g]_{k} = t \sum_{j \in J_{P}^{0}} g_{j} \varphi_{j}(x), \qquad (5.18)$$

$$S^{+}(t)[g]_{k} = \sum_{j \in J_{p}^{+}} \frac{\sin(\sqrt{\lambda_{j}}t)}{\sqrt{\lambda_{j}}} g_{j} \varphi_{j}(x), \qquad (5.19)$$

with the convention  $S^-(t) = 0$  (resp.  $S^0(t) = 0$ ) if  $\lambda_1 \ge 0$  (resp.  $0 \notin spec(P)$ ). In particular, if  $u_0, u_1 \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and  $f \in C^{\infty}([0, +\infty[; \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)),$ then  $u \in C^{\infty}([0, +\infty[; \mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n))).$ 

*Proof.* We consider the Fourier expansion  $\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} u_j(t)\varphi_j$  (resp.  $\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} f_j(t)\varphi_j$ ) in x of u (resp. f). Then our problem is reduced to the following systems of ODE:

$$\begin{cases} \ddot{u}_{j}(t) + \lambda_{j} u_{j}(t) = f_{j}(t), \\ u_{j}(0) = u_{0,j}, \qquad \dot{u}(0) = u_{1,j}. \end{cases}$$
(5.20)

.

The solutions of (5.20) are written explicitly as follows:

$$u_{j}(t) = u_{0,j} \cosh\left(\sqrt{-\lambda_{j}}t\right) + u_{1,j} \frac{\sinh\left(\sqrt{-\lambda_{j}}t\right)}{\sqrt{-\lambda_{j}}} + \int_{0}^{t} \frac{\sinh\left(\sqrt{-\lambda_{j}}(t-\tau)\right)}{\sqrt{-\lambda_{j}}} f_{j}(\tau) d\tau, \qquad (5.21)$$

 $\text{if }J_P^-\neq \emptyset,\; j\in J_P^-\;(\text{i.e.},\;\lambda_j<0).$ 

$$u_j(t) = u_{0,j} + u_{1,j}t + \int_0^t (t - \tau)f_j(\tau) d\tau$$
 (5.22)

provided  $J_P^0 \neq \emptyset$ ,  $j \in J_P^0$  (i.e.,  $\lambda_j = 0$ ).

$$u_{j}(t) = u_{0,j} \cos\left(\sqrt{\lambda_{j}}t\right) + u_{1,j} \frac{\sin\left(\sqrt{\lambda_{j}}t\right)}{\sqrt{\lambda_{j}}} + \int_{0}^{t} \frac{\sin\left(\sqrt{\lambda_{j}}(t-\tau)\right)}{\sqrt{-\lambda_{j}}} f_{j}(\tau) d\tau, \qquad (5.23)$$

for  $j \in J_P^+$  (i.e.,  $\lambda_j > 0$ ). Clearly (5.21), (5.22), (5.23) yield (5.17), (5.18), (5.19).

Set  $u^{hom} = \partial_t S(t)[u_0] + S(t)[u_1]$ ,  $u^{inh} = \int_0^t \partial_t S(t-\tau)[f(\tau,\cdot)]d\tau$ , and  $U^{hom} = (u^{hom}, \partial_t u^{hom})$ ,  $U^{inh} = (u^{inh}, \partial_t u^{inh})$ .

Now we are able to enunciate the main result of this section. We note that this result recaptures a particular case of the global well-posedness results in [52] and derives new precise estimates and conservation of energy type estimates in the chosen norm for  $Q^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ , defined by the powers of  $P + \delta$ . We recall that a crucial ingredient of the following proofs is the choice of the norms (5.12).

**Theorem 52.** There exist constants  $c_0 \ge 0$ ,  $C_0 > 0$ , depending on  $\lambda_1$ ,  $\delta$  and the norm  $R_{Q^{s+1}(\mathbb{R}^n) \to Q^s(\mathbb{R}^n)}$  such that for every  $u_j \in Q^{s+1-j}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , j = 0, 1, one can find a unique solution  $u \in \bigcap_{k=0}^{1} C^{k}([0, +\infty[:Q^{s+1-k}(\mathbb{R}^{n})) \text{ of } (5.1) \text{ satisfying}$ the energy estimate

$$\|u(t,\cdot)\|_{s+1}^2 + \|u_t(t,\cdot)\|_s^2 \le C_0 e^{c_0 t} (\|u_0\|_{s+1}^2 + \|u_1\|_s^2).$$
(5.24)

Moreover,

$$u \in \bigcap_{k=0}^{\infty} C^k([0, +\infty[: Q^{s+1-k}(\mathbb{R}^n))).$$

$$(5.25)$$

which implies the well-posedness in  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . Finally, if R(x,D) = 0,  $\lambda_1 > 0$ and  $\delta = 0$ , we have the conservation of energy type phenomenon, namely

$$\|u(t,\cdot)\|_{s+1}^2 + \|u_t(t,\cdot)\|_s^2 = \|u_0\|_{s+1}^2 + \|u_1\|_s^2, \quad t \ge 0.$$
 (5.26)

The proof of this theorem is given by the following propositions. The next assertion implies the proof of the first result in the unperturbed case, R = 0.

Proposition 35. Set 
$$C_{\delta} := \sup_{j \in J_{P}^{-} \cup J_{P}^{+}} \frac{\lambda_{j} + \delta}{|\lambda_{j}|} < +\infty$$
. Then we have  
 $\left\| u^{hom}(t) \right\|_{s+1}^{2} + \left\| \partial_{t} u^{hom}(t) \right\|_{s}^{2} \leq \max\{2C_{\delta}, e^{2\sqrt{-\lambda_{1}t}}, (2+t)^{2}, C_{\delta}\}$   
 $\times (\|u_{0}\|_{s+1}^{2} + \|u_{1}\|_{s}^{2}), \quad t \geq 0.$  (5.27)

*Proof.* We note that

$$U_{j}^{hom}(t) = \begin{pmatrix} \cosh(\sqrt{-\lambda_{j}}t) & \frac{\sinh(\sqrt{-\lambda_{j}}t)}{\sqrt{-\lambda_{j}}} \\ \sqrt{-\lambda_{j}}\sinh(\sqrt{-\lambda_{j}}t) & \cosh(\sqrt{-\lambda_{j}}t) \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} u_{0,j} \\ u_{1,j} \end{pmatrix}, (5.28)$$

for  $j \in J_P^-$  when  $J_P^- \neq \emptyset$ ;

$$U_j^{hom}(t) = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & t \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} u_{0,j} \\ u_{1,j} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (5.29)$$

for  $j \in J_P^0$  if  $J_P^0 \neq \emptyset$ ; and

$$U_{j}^{hom}(t) = \begin{pmatrix} \cos(\sqrt{\lambda_{j}}t) & \frac{\sin(\sqrt{\lambda_{j}}t)}{\sqrt{\lambda_{j}}} \\ \sqrt{\lambda_{j}}\sin(\sqrt{\lambda_{j}}t) & \cos(\sqrt{\lambda_{j}}t) \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} u_{0,j} \\ u_{1,j} \end{pmatrix}, \quad (5.30)$$

for  $j \in J_P^+$ . Given  $v \in \mathbb{C}^2$ ,  $\lambda > 0$  we set

$$\|v\|_{s;\lambda}^{2} = \lambda^{s+1} |v_{1}|^{2} + \lambda^{s} |v_{2}|^{2}.$$
(5.31)

Then one observes that (5.28), (5.29), (5.30) lead to

$$\left\| U_{j}^{hom}(t) \right\|_{s;\lambda_{j}+\delta}^{2} \leq 2C_{\delta}e^{2\sqrt{-\lambda_{j}t}} \Big( (\lambda_{j}+\delta)^{s+1} |u_{0,j}|^{2} + (\lambda_{j}+\delta)^{s} |u_{1,j}|^{2} \Big),$$

$$(5.32)$$

for  $j \in J_P^-$  when  $J_P^- \neq \emptyset$ ,

$$\left\| U_{j}^{hom}(t) \right\|_{s;\delta}^{2} \leq (2+t)^{2} \left( \delta^{s+1} |u_{0,j}|^{2} + \delta^{s} |u_{1,j}|^{2} \right),$$
(5.33)

for  $j \in J_P^0$  if  $J_P^0 \neq \emptyset$ , and

$$\left\| U_j^{hom}(t) \right\|_{s;\lambda_j+\delta}^2 \leq C_{\delta}((\lambda_j+\delta)^{s+1}|u_{0,j}|^2 + (\lambda_j+\delta)^s|u_{1,j}|^2), \quad (5.34)$$

for  $j \in J_P^+$ .

In particular, taking into account that the rotation matrices preserve the Euclidean norm in  $\mathbb{R}^2$ , if  $\delta = 0$  in (5.34) we obtain the equality

$$\left\| U_{j}^{hom}(t) \right\|_{s;\lambda_{j}}^{2} = \lambda_{j}^{s+1} |u_{0,j}|^{2} + \lambda_{j}^{s} |u_{1,j}|^{2}, \ j \in J_{P}^{+}.$$
(5.35)

Summation in j completes the proof.

In order to show the global well–posedness for the perturbed operator P(x,D) + R(x,D) we need precise estimates on  $U^{inh}$ . Without loss of generality we may assume  $\lambda_1 > 0$ , and we write  $P(x,D) + R(x,D) = P(x,D) + \delta + (R(x,D) - \delta)$ . We point out the fact that  $R(x,D) - \delta$  remains first order p.d.o. perturbation.

**Proposition 36.** Suppose that  $f \in \bigcap_{j=0}^{N} ([0, +\infty[: Q^{s-j}(\mathbb{R}^n)))$  for some  $N \ge 0$ . Then  $u^{inh} \in \bigcap_{j=0}^{N+2} ([0, +\infty[: Q^{s-j}(\mathbb{R}^n)))$  and one can find  $c_1 > 0$  such that the following estimates hold

$$\left\| u^{inh}(t) \right\|_{s+1}^{2} + \left\| \partial_{t} u^{inh}(t) \right\|_{s}^{2} \leq c_{1} \int_{0}^{t} \left\| f(\tau, \cdot) \right\|_{s}^{2} d\tau, \quad t \geq 0.$$
 (5.36)

*Proof.* We use the the assumption  $\lambda - 1 > 0$  and apply the same arguments as in the previous proposition combined with the Schwartz inequality.  $\Box$ 

Now we conclude the proof for the well–posedness in the spaces  $Q^s(\mathbb{R}^n)$ for the perturbed equation. We write  $u = u^{hom} + v$ ,  $g := R(x,D)u^{hom}$ , and reduce the perturbed Cauchy problem to

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t^2 v + P(x, D)v = f := g - R(x, D)v, & t \ge 0, x \in \mathbb{R}^n, \\ v(0, x) = 0, & v_t(0, x) = 0. \end{cases}$$
(5.37)

One notes that since R(x,D) is first order Shubin p.d.o. and  $u^{hom} \in \bigcap_{k=0}^{\infty} C^k([0,+\infty[:Q^{s+1-k}(\mathbb{R}^n)))$  we obtain that the source term

$$g = R(x,D)u^{hom} \in \bigcap_{k=0}^{\infty} C^k([0,+\infty[:Q^{s-k}(\mathbb{R}^n)]).$$

Moreover, if the unknown solution v is required to be in  $\bigcap_{k=0}^{\infty} C^k ([0, +\infty[: Q^{s+1-k}(\mathbb{R}^n)])$ , then  $R(x,D)v \in \bigcap_{k=0}^{\infty} C^k([0, +\infty[: Q^{s-k}(\mathbb{R}^n)])$  as well. Now we apply the Green type function  $S(t-\tau)$  and reduce (5.37) to

$$v(t,\cdot) = \int_0^t S(t-\tau)[g(\tau,\cdot)]d\tau + \int_0^t S(t-\tau)[R(x,D)]v(\tau,\cdot)d\tau, \quad t \ge 0, \quad (5.38)$$

The first term  $h(t,x) := \int_0^t S(t-\tau)[g(\tau,\cdot)]d\tau$  belongs to  $\bigcap_{k=0}^{\infty} C^k([0,+\infty[:Q^{s+1-k}(\mathbb{R}^n)))$  while the linear operator

$$K[v](t,x) := \int_0^t S(t-\tau)[R(x,D)]v(\tau,\cdot)d\tau, \quad t \ge 0,$$
(5.39)

satisfies for some  $c_2 > 0$  depending only on the norm  $\left\| R(x,D)_{Q^{s+1}(\mathbb{R}^n) \to Q^s(\mathbb{R}^n)} \right\|$ the following estimates

$$\sum_{\ell=0}^{1} \left\| \partial_t^{\ell} K[v](t,\cdot) \right\|_{s+1-\ell} \le c_2 \sum_{\ell=0}^{1} \int_0^t \|v(\tau,\cdot)\|_{s+1-\ell} d\tau, \quad t \ge 0,$$
(5.40)

for all  $v \in \bigcap_{\ell=0}^{1} C^{\ell}([0, +\infty[: Q^{s+1-\ell}(\mathbb{R}^n)).$ 

We write the following Picard scheme

$$v_{j+1}(t,\cdot) = h(t,\cdot) + K[v_j](t,\cdot), \quad t \ge 0, \ j = 0, 1, \dots, v_0 = 0,$$
 (5.41)

In fact we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|v_{j+1} - v_j\|_{s+1,P} &= \|K[v_j](t, \cdot) - K[v_{j-1}](t, \cdot)\|_{s+1,P} \le C_{\delta} \|K[v_j - v_{j-1}]\|_{s+1,P} \\ &= C_{\delta} \|\int_0^t S(t - \tau)[R(x, D)](v_j - v_{j-1})d\tau\|_{s+1,P} \\ &\le C_0 e^{2\sqrt{-\lambda_1}t} \|\int_0^t R(x, D)(v_j - v_{j-1})d\tau\|_{s+1,P} \\ &\le C_0 e^{2\sqrt{-\lambda_1}t} \kappa_R \int_0^t \|v_j(t - \tau) - v_{j-1}(t - \tau)\|_{s+1,P} d\tau \\ &\le \dots \le \tilde{C}_0 e^{2\sqrt{-\lambda_1}t} \tilde{\kappa}_R \int_0^t \|v_1(t - \tau)\|_{s+1,P} d\tau \le C \frac{t^j}{j!} \quad (5.42) \end{aligned}$$

Moreover from the same reasons we have

$$\|\partial_{t}(v_{j+1}-v_{j})\|_{s,P} \leq C_{\delta} \|\int_{0}^{t} \partial_{t} S(t-\tau)[R(x,D)](v_{j}-v_{j-1})d\tau\|_{s,P}$$

$$C_{0}\sqrt{-\lambda_{1}}e^{\sqrt{-\lambda_{1}}t}\kappa_{R}\int_{0}^{t} \|v_{j}-v_{j-1}\|_{s+1}d\tau \leq C\frac{t^{j}}{j!} \qquad (5.43)$$

Hence we have shown the convergence of  $v_j$  in  $\bigcap_{\ell=0}^1 C^{\ell}([0, +\infty[:Q^{s+1-\ell}(\mathbb{R}^n)))$ to a solution v of the perturbed Cauchy problem, taking into account (5.40) and applying the Gronwall inequality. We obtain that  $v \in \bigcap_{\ell=0}^{\infty} C^{\ell}([0, +\infty[:Q^{s+1-\ell}(\mathbb{R}^n))))$  via standard regularity methods for second order hyperbolic equations. **Remark 19.** We point out the fact that the solution of our problem is wellposed for all t > 0, while in the book of Boggiatto, Buzano and Rodino [3], the Cauchy problem is studied only for t << 1.

**Remark 20.** We note that it is an interesting problem to study second order hyperbolic equations for Shubin type operators, depending on the time variable, and to find global analogues to local results for second order hyperbolic equations, either strictly hyperbolic but with non smooth time depending coefficients and/or weakly hyperbolic equations (e.g. see the recent paper [19] and the references therein).

## 5.4 Well-posedness in $S^{\mu}_{\mu}$

In this section we prove the global well–posedness in Gelfand–Shilov spaces.

**Theorem 53.** Let P be differential operator and R = 0. Then Cauchy problem is globally well posed in  $S^{\mu}_{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  for  $\mu \ge 1/2$ .

Actually, we demonstrate an assertion that is more general, and we establish precise estimates using suitable semi norms (5.14) in  $S^{\mu}_{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  defined by P. We have

Theorem 54. Consider the Cauchy problem

1

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t^2 u + P(x,D)u = 0, \quad t \in \mathbb{R}, \ x \in \mathbb{R}^n, \\ u(0,x) = u_0 \in HS^{\mu}_{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^n : s+1,\varepsilon), \quad u_t(0,x) = u_1 \in HS^{\mu}_{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^n : s,\varepsilon), \end{cases}$$
(5.44)

for some  $s \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $\varepsilon > 0$ . Then there exists a unique solution u of (5.44) belonging to  $\bigcap_{k=0}^{1} C^{k}([0, +\infty[:HS^{\mu}_{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^{n}:s+1-k,\varepsilon) \text{ and satisfying for some } c_{0} \geq 0,$  $C_{0} \geq 1$  the estimates

$$\|u(t,\cdot)\|_{\mu;s+1,\varepsilon}^2 + \|u_t(t,\cdot)\|_{\mu;s,\varepsilon}^2 \le C_0 e^{c_0 t} (\|u_0\|_{\mu;s+1,\varepsilon}^2 + \|u_1\|_{\mu;s,\varepsilon}^2), \quad t \ge 0. (5.45)$$

Moreover, we have the regularizing result

$$u \in \bigcap_{k=0}^{\infty} C^{k}([0, +\infty[:HS^{\mu}_{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^{n}:s+1-k,\varepsilon)) \subset C^{\infty}([0, +\infty[:S^{\mu}_{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^{n})))$$

Finally, if  $\lambda_1 > 0$  and  $\delta = 0$ , we have the conservation of energy type phenomenon, namely

$$\|u(t,\cdot)\|_{\mu;s+1,\varepsilon}^2 + \|u_t(t,\cdot)\|_{\mu;s,\varepsilon}^2 = \|u_0\|_{\mu;s+1,\varepsilon}^2 + \|u_1\|_{\mu;s,\varepsilon}^2, \quad t \ge 0.(5.46)$$

*Proof.* The choice of the Banach spaces  $HS^{\mu}_{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^n : s+1-k,\varepsilon)$ ) depending on two parameters allows a simple proof as in the  $Q^s(\mathbb{R}^n)$  framework using homogeneity arguments. Indeed, multiplying in (5.32), (5.33), (5.34) by  $e^{\varepsilon(\lambda_j+\delta)^{1/(2\mu)}}$  we obtain

$$\begin{split} \left\| U_{j}^{hom}(t) \right\|_{s;\lambda_{j}+\delta}^{2} e^{2\varepsilon(\lambda_{j}+\delta)^{1/(2\mu)}} &\leq 2C_{\delta} e^{2\sqrt{-\lambda_{j}t}} e^{2\varepsilon(\lambda_{j}+\delta)^{1/(2\mu)}} \\ &\times \left( (\lambda_{j}+\delta)^{s+1} |u_{0,j}|^{2} + (\lambda_{j}+\delta)^{s} |u_{1,j}|^{2} \right), \quad (5.47) \end{split}$$

for  $j \in J_P^-$  when  $J_P^- \neq \emptyset$ ,

$$\begin{split} \left\| U_{j}^{hom}(t) \right\|_{s;\delta}^{2} e^{2\varepsilon \delta^{1/(2\mu)}} &\leq (2+t)^{2} e^{2\varepsilon \delta^{1/(2\mu)}} \\ &\times ((\lambda_{j}+\delta)^{s+1} |u_{0,j}|^{2} + \delta^{s} |u_{1,j}|^{2}), \end{split}$$
(5.48)

for  $j \in J_P^0$  if  $J_P^0 \neq \emptyset$ ,

$$\begin{split} \left\| U_j^{hom}(t) \right\|_{s;\lambda_j+\delta}^2 e^{2\varepsilon(\lambda_j+\delta)^{1/(2\mu)}} &\leq C_{\delta} e^{2\varepsilon(\lambda_j+\delta)^{1/(2\mu)}} \\ &\times \left( (\lambda_j+\delta)^{s+1} |u_{0,j}|^2 + (\lambda_j+\delta)^s |u_{1,j}|^2 \right), \quad (5.49) \end{split}$$

for  $j \in J_P^+$  and similarly with the conservation of energy if  $\lambda_1 > 0$ ,  $\delta = 0$ .

$$\left\| U_{j}^{hom}(t) \right\|_{s;\lambda_{j}}^{2} e^{2\varepsilon(\lambda_{j})^{1/(2\mu)}} = (\lambda_{j})^{s+1} |u_{0,j}|^{2} + (\lambda_{j})^{s} |u_{1,j}|^{2} e^{2\varepsilon(\lambda_{j})^{1/(2\mu)}},$$

$$(5.50)$$

for  $j \in N$ . Summation in j leads to the end of the proof.

#### 5.5 The twisted Laplacian case

We recall that both  $L_1$  and  $L_2$  are essentially self-adjoint, their spectrum is given by a sequence of eigenvalues, which are odd natural numbers. It should be noted, however, that each eigenvalue has infinite multiplicity. Moreover,  $L_1$  and  $L_2$  are globally hypoelliptic in  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^2)$  and  $S^{\mu}_{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^2)$ ,  $\mu \geq 1/2$ , cf. [16], [23]. On the other hand, it was shown in [23] that there exists a Fourier integral operator (FIO) J, associated to linear symplectic transformation in  $\mathbb{R}^4$ ,

$$J(x) = (2\pi)^{-2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} e^{i|\omega|\Phi(x,\xi)} \hat{v}(\xi) d\xi, \qquad (5.51)$$

where

$$\Phi(x,\xi) = \xi_1 \xi_2 + \frac{x_1 x_2}{2} + x_2 \xi_1 + x_1 \xi_2,$$

and J reduces  $L_k$  to simple normal form, the one dimensional harmonic oscillator in  $\mathbb{R}^2$ , namely

$$J^{-1} \circ L_k \circ J v(y) = (\omega^2 D_{y_k}^2 + y_k^2) v(y), \quad y = (y_1, y_2) \in \mathbb{R}^2, \ k = 1, 2, \quad (5.52)$$

with k = 1 if  $\boldsymbol{\omega} > 0$  and with k = 2 if  $\boldsymbol{\omega} < 0$ , as in [23]. Moreover, KJ is an automorphism of  $S(\mathbb{R}^2)$  and  $S^{\mu}_{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^2)$ ,  $\mu \ge 1/2$ . Applying the same arguments, as in [23], one shows that J preserves  $Q^s(\mathbb{R}^2)$ ,  $s \in \mathbb{R}$  as well. Therefore, we are reduced to the Cauchy problem for

$$(-\omega^2 \partial_{y_1}^2 + y_1^2) \otimes 1_{y_2}$$
, if  $\omega > 0$  or  $1_{y_1} \otimes (-\omega^2 \partial_{y_2}^2 + y_2^2)$ , if  $\omega < 0$ .

As in [24], we choose as orthonormal basis of eigenfunctions of  $(-\partial_{y_1}^2 + y_1^2) \times 1_{y_2}$  the Hermite functions in  $\mathbb{R}^2$ :

$$H_k(y) := H_{k_1}(y_1)H_{k_2}(y_2), \text{ with } (-\partial_{y_1}^2 + y_1^2)H_k(y) = (2k_1 + 1)H_k(y), \ k \in \mathbb{Z}_+^2.$$

Now we are able to reduce the study of our Cauchy problem to the study of tensor type Cauchy problem, by using the reduction to global normal form. **Proposition 37.** Let  $\omega > 0$  and set

$$L = (D_{x_1} + \frac{\omega}{2}x_2)^2 + (D_{x_2} - \frac{\omega}{2}x_1)^2 + \alpha_1(D_{x_1} + \frac{\omega}{2}x_2) + \alpha_2(D_{x_2} - \frac{\omega}{2}x_1) + r,$$

with  $\alpha_1, \alpha_2, r \in \mathbb{R}$ . Then

i) there exists a transformation

$$J = T_{\alpha_1/2} \circ E_{i\alpha_2/(2\omega)} \circ J,$$
  

$$T_{\alpha_1/2}v(x) = v\left(x + \frac{\alpha_1}{2}\right)$$
  

$$E_{i\alpha_2/(2\omega)} = e^{-i\frac{\alpha_2\omega}{2}x},$$

with J is the transformation (5.51), such that

$$L = \tilde{J}^{-1} \circ \tilde{L} \circ \tilde{J},$$

where

$$\tilde{L} = \omega^2 D_{x_1}^2 + y_1^2 + \tilde{r}.$$

ii) The transformation  $\tilde{J}$  is an isomorphism in  $Q^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$  and in  $S^{\mu}_{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ .

*Proof.* i) We consider only the case with  $\omega > 0$ , the other case is similar.

$$L_1 = J \circ L = \omega^2 D_{y_1}^2 + y_1^2 + \alpha_1 y_1 + \alpha_2 D_{y_1} + r.$$
 (5.53)

ii)  $\tilde{J}$  is an isomorphism because is a composition of isomorphisms in  $Q^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ and in  $S^{\mu}_{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ .

We introduce scale of anisotropic Hilbert spaces defining  $S^{\mu}_{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^2)$  with Shubin space index with respect to  $y_1$ , namely  $AHS^{\mu}_{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^2:s_1,\varepsilon)$ . **Definition 31.** We define the spaces  $AHS^{\mu}_{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^2 : s_1, \varepsilon)$  as the set of all  $u \in S(\mathbb{R}^2)$ ,  $u = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^2_+} u_k H_k(x)$  such that

$$|\boldsymbol{\mu}_{\mu;s_{1},\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}}^{2} := \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}_{+}^{2}}^{\infty} |\boldsymbol{u}_{k}|^{2} (2k_{1}+1)^{s_{1}} e^{2\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}|k|^{\frac{1}{2\mu}}} < +\infty.$$
(5.54)

These spaces satisfy the following properties:

**Proposition 38.**  $AHS^{\mu}_{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^n : s_1, \varepsilon_2) \hookrightarrow AHS^{\mu}_{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^n : r_1, \varepsilon_2)$  if and only if  $s_1 \ge r_1$ ,  $\varepsilon_1 \ge \varepsilon_2$  and  $S^{\mu}_{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is double inductive limit of  $AHS^{\mu}_{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^n : s_1, \varepsilon)$ ,  $\varepsilon \searrow 0$ ,  $s_1 \searrow -\infty$ , *i.e.*,

$$\bigcup_{s_1\in\mathbb{R},\varepsilon>0}AHS^{\mu}_{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^n:s_1,\varepsilon)=S^{\mu}_{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^n).$$

Without loss of generality, we may assume that  $\omega = 1$ , indeed using a dilation transformation. We are able to show the main result

**Theorem 55.** Consider the Cauchy problem

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t^2 v(t,y) + (-\partial_{y_1}^2 + y_1^2 + r)v(t,y) = 0 & t \in \mathbb{R}, \ y \in \mathbb{R}^2, \\ v(0,y) = v_0 \in AHS^{\mu}_{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^2 : s_1 + 1, \varepsilon), \quad u_t(0,y) = v_1 \in AHS^{\mu}_{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^2 : s_1, \varepsilon), \end{cases}$$
(5.55)

for some  $s_1 \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $\varepsilon > 0$ . Then there exists a unique solution

$$v \in \bigcap_{k=0}^{1} C^{k}([0, +\infty[:AHS^{\mu}_{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^{2}:s_{1}+1-k, \varepsilon)$$

of (5.55) satisfying for some  $c_0 \ge 0, C_0 \ge 1$  the energy estimate

$$|\mathbf{v}(t,\cdot)|^{2}_{\mu;s_{1}+1,\varepsilon} + |\mathbf{v}_{t}(t,\cdot)|^{2}_{\mu;s_{1},\varepsilon} \le C_{0}e^{c_{0}t}(|\mathbf{v}_{0}|^{2}_{\mu;s_{1}+1,\varepsilon} + |\mathbf{v}_{1}|^{2}_{\mu;s_{1},\varepsilon}).$$
(5.56)

Moreover  $v \in \bigcap_{k=0}^{\infty} C^k([0, +\infty[:AHS^{\mu}_{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^2:s_1+1-k,\varepsilon)) \subset C^{\infty}([0, +\infty[:S^{\mu}_{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^2))).$ Next, if  $\lambda > -1$  and  $\delta = 0$ , we have the conservation of energy type phenomenon, namely

$$|v(t,\cdot)|^{2}_{\mu;s_{1}+1,\varepsilon} + |v_{t}(t,\cdot)|^{2}_{\mu;s_{1},\varepsilon} = |v_{0}|^{2}_{\mu;s_{1}+1,\varepsilon} + |v_{1}|^{2}_{\mu;s_{1},\varepsilon}, \quad t \ge 0.$$
(5.57)

Finally, the Cauchy problem is not well posed in  $Q^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{2})$ .

*Proof.* We use exactly the same arguments as in the proof of Theorem 54 replacing the Fourier expansion  $\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} u_j(t)\varphi_j(x)$  with the double indexed Fourier expansion

$$v(t,y) = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^2_+} v_k(t) H_k(y),$$

and obtaining the following system of ODE

$$\begin{cases} \ddot{v}_k(t) + (2k_1 + 1 + r)v_k(t) = 0\\ v_k(0) = v_{0,k}, \qquad \dot{v}_k(0) = v_{1,k}. \end{cases}$$
(5.58)

For the sake of simplicity, we consider the case  $r \ge 0$ . Hence the solutions are written explicitly

$$v_k(t) = \cos(\sqrt{2k_1 + 1 + rt})v_{0,k} + \frac{\sin(\sqrt{2k_1 + 1 + rt})}{\sqrt{2k_1 + 1 + r}}v_{1,k},$$
 (5.59)

for  $t \ge 0$ ,  $k = (k_1, k_2) \in \mathbb{Z}_+^2$ . Straightforward computations lead to the proof of the positive result.

As it concerns the non well–posedness in the scales  $Q^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ , in contrast to the globally elliptic case, we choose  $v_{0} = 0$  and  $v_{1} \in Q^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{2})$  in the following way:  $v_{1,k} = 0$ , for  $k_{1} \geq N + 1$ ,  $N \in \mathbb{N}$  and

$$v_{1,k} = (2(k_1 + k_2) + 1)^{-s/2 - 1/2} \frac{1}{(\ln(2(k_1 + k_2) + 2))^{1/2 + \delta_0}}, \quad k = (k_1, k_2) \in \mathbb{Z}_+^2,$$
(5.60)

 $k_1 = 0, 1, \dots n$  and  $\delta_0 > 0$ . It is easy to check that  $v_1$  is in  $Q^s(\mathbb{R}^n)$ 

$$\begin{aligned} \|v_1\|_s^2 &= \sum_{k_1=0}^N \sum_{k_2=0}^\infty (2(k_1+k_2)+1)^{-1} \frac{1}{(\ln(2(k_1+k_2)+2))^{1+2\delta_0}} \\ &\leq (N+1) \sum_{k_2=0}^\infty \frac{1}{(2k_2+1)(\ln(2k_2+2))^{1+2\delta_0}} < \infty. \end{aligned}$$

Next, we show that the solution v(t,y) defined by :  $v_k(t)=0,$  for  $k_1\geq N+1$ 

and

$$v_k(t) = (2k_1 + 1 + r)^{-1/2} (2(k_1 + k_2) + 1)^{-(s+1)/2} \frac{\sin((\sqrt{2k_1 + 1} + r)t)}{(\ln(2(k_1 + k_2) + 2))^{1/2 + \delta_0}},$$
(5.61)

 $t \in \mathbb{R}, k = (k_1, k_2) \in \mathbb{Z}^2_+, k_1 = 0, 1, \dots, N$ , does not belong to  $Q^{s+\eta}(\mathbb{R}^2), (\eta > 0)$ for  $0 < |t| < \frac{\pi}{2\sqrt{2N+1+r}}$ In fact

$$\begin{aligned} \|v\|_{s+\eta}^2 &= \sum_{k_1=0}^N \sum_{k_2=0}^\infty \|v_k\|^2 (2(k_1+k_2)+1)^{s+\eta} \\ &= \sum_{k_1=0}^N \frac{\sin^2((\sqrt{2k_1+1+r})t)}{2k_1+1+r} \sum_{k_2=0}^\infty \frac{(2(k_1+k_2)+1)^{s+\eta}}{(2(k_1+k_2)+1)^{s+1}(\ln(2(k_1+k_2)+2))^{1+2\delta_0}} \end{aligned}$$

Since for  $0 < |t| < \frac{\pi}{2\sqrt{2N+1+r}}$  one has

$$\sin^2((\sqrt{2k_1+1+r})t) \ge (2k_1+1)t^2\cos^2((\sqrt{2k_1+1+r})t) \ge \cos^2(\sqrt{2N+r+1})t)t^2 > 0,$$

we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|v\|_{s+\eta}^2 &\geq \cos^2((\sqrt{2N+1+r})t)t^2 \sum_{k_1=0}^N \sum_{k_2}^\infty \frac{1}{(2(k_1+k_2)+1)^{1-\eta}} \frac{1}{(\ln(2(k_1+k_2)+2))^{1+2\delta_0}} \\ &\geq (N+1)\cos^2((\sqrt{2N+1+r})t)t^2 \sum_{k_2}^\infty \frac{1}{(2(N+k_2)+1)^{1-\eta}} \frac{1}{(\ln(2(N+k_2)+2))^{1+2\delta_0}} \\ &\geq (N+1)\cos^2((\sqrt{2N+r+1})t)t^2 c_{\varepsilon,N} \sum_{\ell=0}^\infty \frac{1}{(2\ell+2N+1)^{1-\eta+\varepsilon}} = \infty \end{aligned}$$
  
if  $\eta > \varepsilon > 0$  and  $c_{\varepsilon,N} = inf_{\ell > 0} \left( \frac{(2\ell+2N+1)^{\varepsilon}}{(1+(2\ell+2N+1)^{1+2\delta_0}} \right) > 0.$ 

If  $\eta > \varepsilon > 0$  and  $c_{\varepsilon,N} = inf_{\ell \ge 0} \left( \frac{(2\ell+2N+2\ell)}{(\ln(2\ell+2N+2\ell))^{1+2\delta_0}} \right) > 0.$ So  $v(t) \notin Q^{s+\eta}(\mathbb{R}^2)$ , for  $0 < |t| < \frac{\pi}{2\sqrt{2N+1+r}}$ , in fact the arguments of the proof imply that  $v(t) \notin Q^{s+\eta}(\mathbb{R}^2)$  for all  $t \neq 0$ .

# Bibliography

- J. Adduci, P. Djakov and B. Mityagin, Convergence radii for eigenvalues of tri-diagonal matrices. Lett. Marh. Phys. **91** (2010), 45-60.
- [2] D. Bambusi, S. Graffi, T. Paul, Long time semiclassical approximation of quantum flows: a proof of the Ehrenfest time. arXiv:math-ph/9805018 (1998).
- [3] P. Boggiatto, E. Buzano and L. Rodino, Global hypoellipticity and spectral theory. Math. Res 92, Akademie Vergag, Berlin, 1996.
- [4] E. Caliceti, Emanuela,S. Graffi, M. Hitrik, and J. Sjöstrand, Quadratic PT-symmetric operators with real spectrum and similarity to self-adjoint operators. J. Phys. A 45, 44, (2012).
- [5] M. Cappiello, T. Gramchev, and L. Rodino, Super-exponential decay and holomorphic extensions for semilinear equations with polynomial coefficients. J. Funct. Anal. 237 (2006), 634–654.
- [6] M. Cappiello, T. Gramchev and L. Rodino, Entire extensions and exponential decay for semilinear elliptic equations. J. Anal. Math. 111 (2010), 339–367.
- [7] M. Cappiello and F. Nicola, Regularity and decay of solutions of nonlinear harmonic oscillators. Adv. Math. 229, no. 2, (2012) 1266-1299.

- [8] M. Cappiello and F. Nicola, On the holomorphic extension of solutions of elliptic pseudodifferential equations. Pliska Stud. Math. Bulgar. 21, (2012) 113-126.
- [9] M. Cappiello, L. Rodino and J. Toft, On the inverse to the harmonic oscillator. arXiv:1306.6866 (2013).
- [10] O. Chodosh, Infinite matrix representations of isotropic pseudodifferential operators. Methods Appl. Anal. 18 (2011), no. 4, 351-371
- [11] G. Cicogna and G. Gaeta, Symmetry and perturbation theory in nonlinear dynamics. Lecture Notes in Physics. New Series m: Monographs, 57. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1999.
- [12] S. Coriasco, K. Johansson, and J. Toft, Global wave-front sets of Banach, Fréchet and modulation space types, and pseudodifferential operators.
  J. Differential Equations 254, no. 8, (2013) 3228-3258.
- [13] A. Dasgupta and M. W. Wong, Essential self-adjointness and global hypoellipticity of the twisted Laplacian, *Rend. Sem. Mat. Univ. Pol. Torino* 66 (2008), 75–85.
- [14] E.B. Davies, Pseudo-spectra, the harmonic oscillator and complex resonances. R. Soc. Lond. Proc. Ser. A Math. Phys. Eng. Sci. 455 (1999), 585-599.
- [15] E.B. Davies and A.B.J. Kuijlaars, Spectral asymptotics of the nonself adjoint harmonic oscillator oscillators. Bull. London Math. Soc. 70 (2004), 420-426.

- [16] X. Duan, M.W. Wong, The Dirichlet divisor problem, traces and determinants for complex powers of the twisted bi-Laplacian. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 410, (2014) 151-157.
- [17] V. Fischer and M. Ruzhansky, A pseudodifferential calculus on the Heisenberg group. C. R. Math. Acad. Sci. Paris 352, no. 3, (2014).
- [18] C.Garetto, Notes on PDO and function spaces, http://homepages.lboro.ac.uk/ macg4/PDOs.
- [19] C. Garetto and M. Ruzhansky, Weakly hyperbolic equations with nonanalytic coefficients and lower order terms. Math. Ann. 357 (2013), no. 2, 401-440
- [20] I.M. Gel'fand and G.E. Shilov, *Generalized functions II*, Academic Press, New York, 1968.
- [21] I.C. Gohberg and M.G. Krein, Introduction to the theory of linear non selfadjoint operators. Transl. Am. Math. Soc. vol. 18, 1969.
- [22] T. Gramchev, S. Pilipović, L. Rodino, Classes of degenerate elliptic operators in Gelfand-Shilov spaces. New developments in pseudodifferential operators, Oper. Theory Adv. Appl., 189, Birkhüser, Basel, (2009) 15-31.
- [23] T. Gramchev, S. Pilipović and L. Rodino, Global regularity and stability in S-spaces for classes of degnenerate Shubin operators. In: Complex analysis and partial differential equations, Oper. Theory Adv. Appl. vol. 205, p. 81–90, Birkhäuser, 2010.
- [24] T. Gramchev, S. Pilipović and L. Rodino, Eigenfunction expansion in ℝ<sup>n</sup>. Proc. Am. Math. Soc., **139**, n. 12 (2011), 4361-4368.

- [25] T. Gramchev, S. Pilipović, L. Rodino, M.W. Wong, Spectral properties of the twisted bi-Laplacian. Arch. Math. (Basel) 93, n. 6, (2009) 565-575.
- [26] T. Gramchev and P.R. Popivanov, Partial differential equations. Approximate solutions in scales of functional spaces, Mathematical Research, 108. Wiley-VCH Verlag Berlin GmbH, Berlin, 2000.
- [27] T. Gramchev and G. Tranquilli, Global normal forms of perturbations of the harmonic oscillator, Proc. BGSIAM'12 - Seventh Annual Meeting of the Bulgarian Section of SIAM December 19-20, 2012, Sofia, Bulgaria, pp. 1-6, @BGSIAM'12 ISSN:1314-7145.
- [28] T. Gramchev and G. Tranquilli, Cauchy Problem for Second Order Hyperbolic Equations for Shubin Pseudodifferential Operators, submitted (2013).
- [29] T. Gramchev and G. Tranquilli, Hypoellipticity and solvability in Gelfand-Shilov spaces for twisted Laplacian type operators, to appear
- [30] S.J. Greenfield and N.R. Wallach, Remarks on global hypoellipticity. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 183 (1973), 153-164.
- [31] K. Gröchenig, J. Toft, Isomorphism properties of Toeplitz operators and pseudodifferential operators between modulation spaces. J. Anal. Math. 114 (2011), 255-283.
- [32] K. Gröchenig, J. Toft, The range of localization operators and lifting theorems for modulation and Bargmann-Fock spaces. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 365, no. 8, (2013) 4475-4496.

- [33] B. Helffer and D. Robert, Comportement semi-classique du spectre des hamiltoniens quantiques hypoelliptiques. (French) Ann. Scuola Norm. Sup. Pisa Cl. Sci. (4) 9, n. 3 (1982), 405–431.
- [34] F. Haraux and K. Pravda-Starov, Anisotropic hypoelliptic estimates for Landau-type operators. J. Math. Pures Appl. 9 95 no. 5, (2011), 513-552.
- [35] E. Hille, Ordinary differential equations in the complex domain. Reprint of the 1976 original. Dover Publications, Inc., Mineola, NY, 1997.
- [36] M. Hitrik, J. Sjoestrand, Non-selfadjoint perturbations of selfadjoint operators in 2 dimensions IIIa. One branching point, arXiv:math/0506244 (2005).
- [37] L. Hörmander, The analysis of linear partial differential operators III, Springer-Verlag, 1985.
- [38] L. Hörmander, Symplectic classification of quadratic forms, and general Mehler formulas. Math. Z. 219, (1995) 413-449.
- [39] T. Kato, Perturbation theory of linear operators, 1st edn. Berlin: Springer 1966.
- [40] E. Lombardi, L. Stolovith, Normal forms of analytic perturbations of quasihomogeneous vector fields: Rigidity, invariant analytic sets and exponentially small approximation. Ann. Scient. Ec. Norm. Sup. (2010), 659-718.
- [41] J. Milnor and D. Husemoller, Symmetric bilinear forms, Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete, Band 73. Springer-Verlag, New York-Heidelberg, 1973.

- [42] T.Mitev, G.Popov. Gevrey normal form and effective stability of Lagrangian tori. Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst. Ser. S 3, no. 4, (2010) 643-666.
- [43] B.S. Mityagin, Nuclearity and other properties of spaces of type S, Amer. Math. Soc. Transl., Ser. 2 93 (1970), 45–59.
- [44] B.S.Mityagin, P. Siegl and J. Viola, Differential operators admitting various rates of spectral projection growth, arXiv:1309.3751v1 (2013).
- [45] A. Parmeggiani, On the spectrum of certain non-commutative harmonic oscillators and semiclassical analysis. Comm. Math. Phys. 279, (2008), no. 2, 285-308.
- [46] A. Parmeggiani, Spectral Theory of Non-Commutative Harmonic Oscillators: An Introduction, Springer-Verlag Berlin, 2010.
- [47] P. R. Popivanov, A link between small divisors and smoothness of the solutions of a class of partial differential operators. Ann. Global Anal. Geom. 1 (1983), no. 3, 77-92.
- [48] G. Popov, KAM theorem and quasimodes for Gevrey Hamiltonians. Mat. Contemp. 26 (2004), 87-107.
- [49] K. Pravda-Starov, Subelliptic estimates for quadratic differential operators. Amer. J. Math. 133 1, (2010), 35-89.
- [50] F. Nicola, and L. Rodino, Global pseudodifferential calculus on Euclidean spaces, Birkhauser, Basel, 2010.
- [51] F. Nicola, L. Rodino, Global regularity for ordinary differential operators with polynomial coefficients. J. Diff. Equations, 255 9 (2013), 2871-2890.

- [52] L. Rodino, Linear partial differential equations in Gevrey spaces, World Scientific Pubblishing Co., Singapore, 1993.
- [53] M. Ruzhansky and J. Smith, Dispersive and Strichartz estimates for hyperbolic equations with constant coefficients. MSJ Memoirs, 22. Mathematical Society of Japan, Tokyo, 2010
- [54] M. Ruzhansky and M. Sugimoto, Smoothing estimates of evolution equations via canonical transforms and comparison. Proc. London Math. Soc. 105 (2012), 393–423.
- [55] M. Ruzhansky and V. Turunen, Pseudodifferential Operators and Symmetries. Background Analysis and Advanced Topics. Birkhäuser, Basel 2010.
- [56] M. Ruzhansky and V. Turunen, Quantization of pseudodifferential operators on the torus. J. Fourier Anal. Appl. 16, no. 6, (2010) 943-982.
- [57] X. Saint Raymond, Elementary Introduction to the Theory of Pseudodifferential operators, Studies in Advanced Mathematics, 1991.
- [58] M. Shubin, Pseudodifferential operators and spectral theory, Springer Series in Soviet Mathematics, Springer Verlag, Berlin 1987.
- [59] J. Sjöstrand, Parametrices for pseudodifferential operators with multiple characteristics. Ark. Mat. 12, (1974) 85-130.
- [60] L. Stolovitich, Smooth Gevrey normal forms of vector fields near a fixed point. Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble) 63 (2013), 241-267
- [61] G. Szegö, Orthogonal polynomials. American Mathematical Society Colloquium Pubblications, vol 23. R.I (1959), 585-599.

- [62] M. E. Taylor, *Pseudodifferential operators*, Princeton Mathematical Series, 34. Princeton University Press, Princeton, N.J., 1981
- [63] J. Toft, The Bargmann transform on modulation and Gelfand-Shilov spaces, with applications to Toeplitz and pseudodifferential operators.J. Pseudo-Differ. Oper. Appl. 3, no. 2, (2012) 145-227.
- [64] J. Toft, A. Khrennikov, B. Nilsson, S. Nordebo. Decompositions of Gelfand-Shilov kernels into kernels of similar class. J. Math. An. and App., **396**, (2012) Pages 315-322.
- [65] F. Tréves, A new method of proof of the subelliptic estimates. Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 24 (1971) 71-115.
- [66] W. Wasow, Asymptotic expansions for ordinary differential equations, Dover Publications Inc., 1987, reprint of the 1976 edition.
- [67] M. W. Wong, Weyl transforms, the heat kernel and Green function of a degenerate elliptic operator. Ann. Global Anal. Geom. 28 no. 3, (2005), 271-283.